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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This report is the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021 of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which was formerly known as Akers Biosciences, Inc.
prior to the consummation on April 16, 2021 of the merger described below.

On April 16, 2021, pursuant to the previously announced Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated November 11, 2020 (the “Original Merger Agreement”), as
amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated March 16, 2021 (the Original Merger Agreement, as amended by Amendment No. 1, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among
MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New Jersey corporation previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”), XYZ Merger Sub Inc., a Florida corporation and a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc., a Florida corporation previously known as MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(“MyMD Florida”), Merger Sub was merged with and into MyMD Florida, with MyMD Florida continuing after the merger as the surviving entity and a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). At the effective time of the Merger, without any action on the part of any stockholder, each issued and outstanding share of pre-
Merger MyMD Florida’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “MyMD Florida Common Stock™), including shares underlying pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s
outstanding equity awards, was converted into the right to receive (x) 0.7718 shares (the “Exchange Ratio”) of the Company’s common stock, no par value per share (the
“Company Common Stock™), (y) an amount in cash, on a pro rata basis, equal to the aggregate cash proceeds received by the Company from the exercise of any options to
purchase shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock outstanding at the effective time of the Merger assumed by the Company upon closing of the Merger prior to the second-year
anniversary of the closing of the Merger (the “Option Exercise Period”), such payment (the “Additional Consideration”), and (z) potential milestone payments in shares of



Company Common Stock up to the aggregate number of shares issued by the Company to pre-merger MyMD Florida stockholders at the closing of the Merger payable upon
the achievement of certain market capitalization milestone events during the 36-month period immediately following the closing of the Merger. Immediately following the
effective time of the Merger, the Company effected a 1-for-2 reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding Company Common Stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). Upon
completion of the Merger and the transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement, (i) the former MyMD Florida equity holders owned approximately 77.05% of the
outstanding equity of the Company on a fully diluted basis, assuming the exercise in full of the pre-funded warrants to purchase 986,486 shares of Company Common stock and
including 4,188,315 shares of Company Common Stock underlying options to purchase shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock assumed by the company at closing and after
adjustments based on the Company’s net cash at closing; and (ii) former Akers Biosciences, Inc. stockholders owned approximately 22.95% of the outstanding equity of the

Company.

The Merger is expected to be treated as a reverse recapitalization effected by a share exchange for financial accounting and reporting purposes since substantially all of Akers
Biosciences, Inc.’s operations were disposed of as part of the consummation of the Merger and therefore no goodwill or other intangible assets were recorded by the Company as
a result of the Merger. MyMD Florida is expected to be treated as the accounting acquirer, as its stockholders control the Company after the Merger, even though Akers

Biosciences, Inc. was the legal acquirer.

See Note 1 of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
I tem 1. Financial Statements.
MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc.)
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
As of
March 31, December 31,
2021 2020
(unaudited) (audited)
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 569,366 18,617,955
Marketable Securities 30,480,537 16,718,452
Other Receivables 3,026,137 1,200,009
Prepaid expenses 214,111 294,343
Current assets of discontinued operations 7,700 12,002
Total Current Assets 34,297,851 36,842,761
Non-Current Assets
Other Assets 1,500,000 -
Total Non-Current Assets 1,500,000 -
Total Assets $ 35,797,851 36,842,761




LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables $
Current liabilities of discontinued operations

Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities $

Commitments and Contingencies

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred Stock, no par value, 50,000,000 total preferred shares authorized
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, 10,000,000 shares designated, $0.001 par value and a stated value of
$0.0725 per share, 0 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, 1,990,000 shares designated, no par value and a stated value of $4.00
per share, 0 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, 211,353 shares designated, no par value and a stated value of $0.01
per share, 72,992 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Series E Junior Participating Preferred Stock, 100,000 shares designated, no par value and a stated value of
$0.001 per share, 0 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020

Common stock, no par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized 8,326,730 and 8,792,946 issued and outstanding

as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020

Accumulated Deficit

2,335,751 $ 2,203,902
38,308 59,393
2,374,059 2,263,295
2,374,059 $ 2,263,295
144,524 144,524
171,925,670 171,598,681

(138,646,402)

(137,163,739)

Total Shareholders’ Equity

33,423,792

34,579,466

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $

35,797,851 $

36,842,761

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc.)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021 2020

Product Revenue $ - $ -
Product Cost of Sales - -
Gross Income - -
Research and Development Expenses (19,365) 2,483,057
Administrative Expenses 1,508,336 1,055,148
Sales and Marketing Expenses - 6,250
Loss from Operations (1,488,971) (3,544,455)
Other (Income) Expenses

(Gain)/Loss on Investments (12,649) 36,714

Loss on Fair Market Value of Equity Investments 14,402 -

Interest and Dividend Income (43,453) (46,703)
Total Other Income (41,700) (9,989)

(1,447,271) (3,534,466)
Loss from Continuing Operations Before Income Tax
Income Tax Benefit = =
Loss from Continuing Operations (1,447,271) (3,534,466)
Loss from Discontinued Operations Before Income Tax (35,392) (4,070)
Income Tax - -
Loss from Discontinued Operations (35,392) (4,070)
Net Loss (1,482,663) (3,538,536)
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Net Unrealized Loss on Marketable Securities - (240,937)
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) - (240,937)
Comprehensive Loss $ (1,482,663) § (3,779,473)
Basic and Diluted loss per common share from continuing operations $ 0.17) $ (3.18)




Basic and Diluted loss per common share from discontinued operations $ (0.00) $ (0.00)
Basic and Diluted loss per common share $ (0.17) $ (3.18)
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 8,544,298 1,113,737
See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc.)
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020
Series D Convertible Accumulated
Preferred Stock Common Stock Other
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Total
Shares Series D Shares Stock Deficit Income/(Loss) Equity
Balance at December 31, 2019 (audited) - 8 - 869,732  $128,920,414  $(119,583,130) $ 17,886 $ 9,355,170
Net loss - - - - (3,538,536) - (3,538,536)
Stock-based compensation — acquisition of license
for series D convertible preferred stock 211,353 418,479 - - - - 418,479
Stock-based compensation — acquisition of license
for common stock - - 205,702 814,578 - - 814,578
Exercise of prepaid equity forward contracts for
common stock - - 382,500 77 - - 77
Stock-based compensation — restricted stock units - - 8,620 - - 8,620
Net unrealized loss on marketable securities - - - - - (240,937) (240,937)
Balance at March 31, 2020 (unaudited) 211,353  $ 418,479 1,457,934  $129,743,689  $(123,121,666) $ (223,051)  $ 6,817,451
Series D Convertible Accumulated
Preferred Stock Common Stock Other
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Total
Shares Series D Shares Stock Deficit Income/(Loss) Equity
Balance at December 31, 2020 (audited) 72,992 $ 144,524 8,792,946  $171,598,681 $(137,163,739) $ - $34,579,466
Net loss - - (1,482,663) - (1,482,663)
Common stock cancelled for prepaid equity
forward contract for common stock - - (466,216) - - - -
Stock-based compensation — restricted stock units - 326,989 - - 326,989
Balance at March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 72,992 $ 144,524 8,326,730  $171,925,670  $(138,646,402) § - $33,423,792
See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc.)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020
(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss from continuing operations $ (1,447,271)  $ (3,534,466)
Net loss from discontinued operations (35,392) (4,070)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Loss/(gain) on sale of securities (12,649) 36,714
Loss on fair market value of equity investments 14,402 -
Accrued interest/dividends (24,324) (4,713)
Depreciation and amortization - -
Impairment of intangible assets
Share based compensation to directors - restricted stock units 326,989 1,302
Share based compensation - shares issued to vendors - 7,318
Share based compensation - shares issued for Cystron - 1,233,057
Changes in assets and liabilities
Decrease in prepaid expenses 80,232 89,897
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (1,368,151) 531,819
Increase in right-of-use liabilities - 1,128
Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations (16,783) (324,969)
Net cash used in operating activities (2,482,947) (1,966,983)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Short-term note receivable (1,800,000)



Purchases of marketable securities (15,269,129) (41,989)
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 1,503,487 2,303,890
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (15,565,642) 2,261,901

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from the exercise of prepaid equity forward contracts for the purchase of common stock - 77
Net cash provided by financing activities - 77
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and restricted cash (18,048,589) 294,995
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of period 18,617,955 632,538
Cash and restricted cash at end of period $ 569,366 $ 927,533

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid for:
Interest $ - $ -
Income Taxes $ - $ -

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

Net unrealized losses on marketable securities $ - $ (240,937)
Operating lease right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for lease obligation $ = $ 306,706
Other assets - Investment in Oravax included in trade and other payables $ 1,500,000 $ -

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc.)
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Note 1 — Organization and Description of Business

MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc., is a New Jersey corporation. These consolidated financial statements include four wholly owned
subsidiaries as of March 31, 2021, XYZ Merger Sub, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), Cystron Biotech, LLC (“Cystron”), Akers Acquisition Sub, Inc. and Bout Time Marketing
Corporation, (together, the “Company”). All material intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company was historically a developer of rapid health information technologies and between March 2020 and April 2021, was primarily focused on the development of a
vaccine candidate against SARS-CoV-2, a coronavirus currently causing a pandemic throughout the world (“COVID-19”). Following closing of the Merger and the
Contribution Transaction described below that occurred on April 16, 2021, the Company is focused on developing and commercializing two therapeutic platforms based on
well-defined therapeutic targets, MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD.

On July 7, 2020, the Company immediately ceased the production and sale of its rapid, point of care screening and testing products. The Company will continue to provide
support for these testing products that remain in the market through respective product expiration dates. For a more detailed description of the Company’s cessation of its
screening and testing products (Note 5).

On April 16, 2021, pursuant to the previously announced Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated November 11, 2020 (the “Original Merger Agreement”), as
amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated March 16, 2021 (the Original Merger Agreement, as amended by Amendment No. 1, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among
MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New Jersey corporation previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”), Merger Sub, and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida),
Inc., a Florida corporation previously known as MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“MyMD Florida™), Merger Sub was merged with and into MyMD Florida, with MyMD Florida
continuing after the merger as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). At the effective time of the Merger, without any action on the
part of any stockholder, each issued and outstanding share of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “MyMD Florida Common Stock™),
including shares underlying pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s outstanding equity awards, was converted into the right to receive (x) 0.7718 shares (the “Exchange Ratio”) of the
Company’s common stock, no par value per share (the “Company Common Stock”), (y) an amount in cash, on a pro rata basis, equal to the aggregate cash proceeds received by
the Company from the exercise of any options to purchase shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock outstanding at the effective time of the Merger assumed by the Company
upon closing of the Merger prior to the second-year anniversary of the closing of the Merger (the “Option Exercise Period”), such payment (the “Additional Consideration”),
and (z) potential milestone payment in shares of Company Common Stock up to the aggregate number of shares issued by the Company to pre-Merger MyMD Florida
stockholders at the closing of the Merger (the “Milestone Payments™) payable upon the achievement of certain market capitalization milestone events during the 36-month
period immediately following the closing of the Merger (the “Milestone Period”). Immediately following the effective time of the Merger, the Company effected a 1-for-2
reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding Company Common Stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). Upon completion of the Merger and the transactions contemplated in the
Merger Agreement, (i) the former MyMD Florida equity holders owned approximately 77.05% of the outstanding equity of the Company on a fully diluted basis, assuming the
exercise in full of the pre-funded warrants to purchase 986,486 shares of Company Common stock and including 4,188,315 shares of Company Common Stock underlying
options to purchase shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock assumed by the Company at closing and after adjustments based on the Company’s net cash at closing; and (ii)
former Akers Biosciences, Inc. stockholders own approximately 22.95% of the outstanding equity of the Company.
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The Company acquired 100% of the membership interests of Cystron pursuant to a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated March 23, 2020 (as amended by
Amendment No. 1 on May 14, 2020, the “MIPA”) from certain selling parties (the “Cystron Sellers”). Cystron is a party to a License and Development Agreement (as amended
and restated on March 19, 2020, in connection with our entry into the MIPA, the “License Agreement”) with Premas Biotech PVT Ltd. (“Premas”) whereby Premas granted
Cystron, amongst other things, an exclusive license with respect to Premas’ vaccine platform for the development of a vaccine against COVID-19. On April 16, 2021, pursuant
to the Contribution and Assignment Agreement, dated March 18, 2021 (the “Contribution Agreement”) by and among the Company, Cystron, Oravax Medical, Inc. (“Oravax”)
and, for the limited purpose set forth therein, Premas, the parties consummated the transactions contemplated therein. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, among other
things, the Company caused Cystron to contribute substantially all of the assets associated with its business of developing and manufacturing Cystron’s COVID-19 vaccine
candidate to Oravax (the “Contribution Transaction”) (Note 3).

Effective as of 4:05 pm Eastern Time on April 16, 2021, the Company filed an amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to affect the Reverse Stock
Split. As a result of the Reverse Stock Split, immediately following the effective time of the Merger, every two shares of the Company Common Stock held by a stockholder
immediately prior to the Reverse Stock Split were combined and reclassified into one share of the Company’s Common Stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection



with the Reverse Stock Split. Each stockholder who did not have a number of shares evenly divisible pursuant to the Reverse Stock Split ratio and who would otherwise be
entitled to receive a fractional share of Company Common Stock was entitled to receive an additional share of Company Common Stock. The number of shares on equity
related disclosures included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, were retrospectively
adjusted to reflect the effects of the Reverse Stock Split.

In connection with the closing of the Merger, the Company changed its name to MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its NASDAQ trading symbol to MYMD (Note 3).
Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are prepared in U.S. Dollars and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (US GAAP).

Certain information and note disclosures normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP have been condensed. As such, the information
included in these financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 included in
the Company’s 2020 Form 10-K, as filed on March 1, 2021. In the opinion of the Company’s management, these condensed consolidated financial statements include all
adjustments, which are only of a normal and recurring nature, necessary for a fair statement of the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2021 and its results of
operations and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected for the full fiscal year ending December 31, 2021.

(b) Use of Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes for revenue recognition, recording research and development expenses, allowances for doubtful
accounts, inventory and prepaid asset write-downs, impairment of equipment and intangible assets and valuation of share-based payments.

(c¢) Functional and Presentation Currency
These condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information has been rounded to the

nearest dollar. Foreign Currency Transaction Gains or Losses, resulting from cash balances denominated in Foreign Currencies, are recorded in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

(d) Comprehensive Loss

The Company follows Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (“FASB ASC”) 220 in reporting comprehensive loss. Comprehensive income
is a more inclusive financial reporting methodology that includes disclosure of certain financial information that historically has not been recognized in the calculation of net
income.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments, which include short-term bank deposits (up to three months from date of deposit) that are not restricted as to withdrawal
date or use, to be cash equivalents.

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, receivables and trade and other payables. The carrying value of cash and cash
equivalents, receivables and trade and other payables approximate their fair value because of their short maturities.

The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels
of the fair value hierarchy under FASB ASC 820 are described as follows:
Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the ability to access.
Level 2 Inputs to the valuation methodology include:

e quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;

e quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets;

e inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability;

e inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
Valuation techniques maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
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(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments, continued



The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Marketable Securities: Valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

Quoted Prices in Quoted Prices for
Active Similar Assets or Significant
Markets for Identical Assets Liabilities in Active Unobservable
or Liabilities Markets Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Marketable securities at March 31, 2021 $ 30,480,537 $ - $ -
Marketable securities at December 31, 2020 $ 16,718,452 $ - $ -

Marketable securities are classified as available for sale and are valued at fair market value. Maturities of the securities are less than one year.

As of March 31, 2021, the Company held certain mutual funds, which, under FASB ASC 321-10, were considered equity investments. As such, the change in fair value in the
three months ended March 31, 2021 was a loss of $14,402.

Gains and losses resulting from the sales of marketable securities were gains (losses) of $12,649 and $(36,714) for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Proceeds from the sales of marketable securities in the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 were $1,503,487 and $2,303,890, respectively.

(g) Other Receivables

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company advanced MyMD Florida $1,200,000 under a secured promissory note (the “Bridge Loan Note™). During the three
months ended March 31, 2021, the Company advanced additional draws of $1,800,000 to MyMD Florida under the Bridge Loan Note (see Note 3). The Company accrued
interest of $26,137 during the three months ended March 31, 2021, which is included in interest and dividend income on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Loss. As MyMD Florida is the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company after the consummation of the Merger on April 16, 2021, the
promissory note was eliminated in the consolidated financial statements of the Company after the Merger. (Note 3).

(h) Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses represent expenses paid prior to the date that the related services are rendered or used are recorded as prepaid expenses. Prepaid expenses are comprised
principally of prepaid insurance.

(i) Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash on deposit with financial institutions and accounts
receivable. At times, the Company’s cash in banks is in excess of the FDIC insurance limit. The Company has not experienced any loss as a result of these cash deposits. These
cash balances are maintained with two banks.

(j) Risk Management of Cash and Investments

It is the Company’s policy to minimize the Company’s capital resources to investment risks, prioritizing the preservation of capital over investment returns. Investments are
maintained in securities, primarily publicly traded, short-term money market funds based on highly rated federal, state and corporate bonds, that minimize the risk to the
Company’s capital resources and provide ready access to funds.

The Company’s investment portfolios are regularly monitored for risk and are held with two brokerage firms.
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(k) Investments
In accordance with FASB ASC 323, the Company recognizes investments in joint ventures based upon the Company’s ability to significantly influence the operational or
financial policies of the joint venture. An objective judgment of the level of influence is made at the time of the investment based upon several factors including, but not limited
to the following:

a) Representation on the Board of Directors

b) Participation in policy-making processes

¢) Material intra-entity transactions

d) Interchange of management personnel

e) Technological dependencies

f) Extent of ownership and the ability to influence decision making based upon the makeup of other owners when the shareholder group is small.

The Company follows the equity method for recording investments in joint ventures when the existence of significant influence over operational and financial policy has been
established, as determined by management; otherwise, the Company will record these investments using the cost method.

Investments recorded using the cost method will be assessed for any decrease in value that has occurred that is other than temporary and the other than temporary decrease in
value shall be recognized. As and when circumstances and facts change, the Company will evaluate the Company’s ability to significantly influence operational and financial
policy to establish a basis for converting the investment accounted for using the cost method to the equity method of valuation.

(1) Research and Development Costs

In accordance with FASB ASC 730, research and development costs are expensed as incurred and consist of fees paid to third parties that conduct certain research and
development activities on the Company’s behalf. These costs included costs incurred to acquire and develop the license for the COVID-19 vaccine project (See Note 3).



(m) Income Taxes

The Company utilizes an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting for income taxes. The provision for income taxes is based upon income or loss after
adjustment for those permanent items that are not considered in the determination of taxable income. Deferred income taxes represent the tax effects of differences between the
financial reporting and tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities at the enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets and establishes a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. Management makes judgments as to the interpretation of the tax laws that might be challenged upon an audit and cause changes to previous estimates
of tax liability. In management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income taxes have been made. If actual taxable income by tax jurisdiction varies from estimates, additional
allowances or reversals of reserves may be necessary.

Tax benefits are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the
largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon settlement. A liability for “unrecognized tax benefits” is recorded for any tax benefits claimed
in the Company’s tax returns that do not meet these recognition and measurement standards. As of March 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, no liability for unrecognized tax
benefits was required to be reported.
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There is no income tax benefit for the losses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 since management has determined that the realization of the net deferred
assets is not assured and has created a valuation allowance for the entire amount of such tax benefits.

The Company’s policy for recording interest and penalties associated with tax audits is to record such items as a component of general and administrative expense. There were
no amounts accrued for penalties and interest for the three months ended March 30, 2021 and 2020. The Company does not expect its uncertain tax position to change during the
next twelve months. Management is currently unaware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviations from its position.

(n) Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share of Common Stock

Basic earnings per common share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the periods presented. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the
weighted average number of common shares plus dilutive common share equivalents outstanding during the period. Potential common shares that would have the effect of
increasing diluted earnings per share are considered anti-dilutive.

Diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common and dilutive potential common stock outstanding during the period.

As the Company reported a net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, common stock equivalents were anti-dilutive.

The following securities are excluded from the calculation of weighted average dilutive common shares because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2021 2020
Stock Options - 20
RSUs 394,680 -
Warrants to purchase common stock 5,463,032 123,645
Pre-funded Warrants to purchase common stock 986,486 15,000
Series D Preferred Convertible Stock 36,496 105,677
Warrants to purchase Series C Preferred stock 27,500 995,000
Total potentially dilutive shares 6,908,194 1,239,342

(0) Stock-based Payments

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 718,

“Compensation - Stock Compensation”, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to employees and directors
based on estimated fair values on the grant date. The Company estimates the fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. The value of
the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods using the straight-line method. In June 2018, the FASB
issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting (the “2018 Update”). The

amendments in the 2018 Update expand the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. Prior to the
2018 Update, Topic 718 applied only to share-based transactions to employees. Consistent with the accounting requirement for employee share-based payment awards,
nonemployee share-based payment awards within the scope of Topic 718 are measured at grant-date fair value of the equity instruments that an entity is obligated to issue when
the good has been delivered or the service has been rendered and any other conditions necessary to earn the right to benefit from the instruments have been satisfied.
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The Company has elected to account for forfeiture of stock-based awards as they occur.

(p) Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(q) Discontinued Operations

In accordance with FASB ASC 205, results of operations of a component of an entity that has either been disposed of or is held for sale is to be reported as discontinued
operations in the condensed consolidated financial statements if the disposition or sale represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s operations
and financial results (Note 5).

(r) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity s

Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity (the “2020 Update”). The amendments in the 2020 Update
affect entities that issue convertible instruments and/or contracts in an entity’s own equity. For convertible instruments, the instruments primarily affected are those issued with



beneficial conversion features or cash conversion features because the accounting models for those specific features are removed. However, all entities that issue convertible
instruments are affected by the amendments to the disclosure requirements in the 2020 Update. For contracts in an entity’s own equity, the contracts primarily affected are
freestanding instruments and embedded features that are accounted for as derivatives under the current guidance because of failure to meet the settlement conditions of the
derivatives scope exception related to certain requirements of the settlement assessment. The settlement assessment was simplified by removing the requirements (1) to consider
whether the contract would be settled in registered shares, (2) to consider whether collateral is required to be posted, and (3) to assess shareholder rights. Those amendments
also affect the assessment of whether an embedded conversion feature in a convertible instrument qualifies for the derivatives scope exception. Additionally, the amendments in
this Update affect the diluted EPS calculation for instruments that may be settled in cash or shares and for convertible instruments. The amendments in the 2020 Update are
effective for public business entities that meet the definition of a Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filer, excluding entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies
as defined by the SEC, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. For all other entities, the amendments are
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. An entity should adopt the guidance as of the beginning of its annual fiscal year.
Entities are allowed to adopt the guidance through either a modified retrospective method of transition or a fully retrospective method of transition. The Company adopted this
standard as of January 1, 2021 and the adoption did not have a material impact on its financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU-2016-
13”). ASU 2016-13 affects loans, debt securities, trade receivables, and any other financial assets that have the contractual right to receive cash. The ASU requires an entity to
recognize expected credit losses rather than incurred losses for financial assets. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2022, including
interim periods within that fiscal year. The Company expects that there would be no material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements upon the
adoption of this ASU.
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Note 3 — Recent Developments, Liquidity and Management’s Plans
Acquisition and Disposition of Cystron

On March 23, 2020, the Company acquired Cystron pursuant to the MIPA. Cystron was incorporated on March 10, 2020. Upon the Company’s purchase of Cystron, Cystron’s
sole asset consisted of an exclusive license with respect to Premas’ vaccine platform for the development of a vaccine against COVID-19 and other coronavirus infections.
Since its formation and through the date of its acquisition by the Company, Cystron did not have any employees. The acquisition of Cystron was accounted for as the purchase
of an asset.

On March 18, 2021, the Company and the Cystron Sellers, which are also shareholders of Oravax, entered into a Termination and Release Agreement terminating the MIPA
effective upon consummation of the Contribution Agreement. In addition, the Cystron Sellers agreed to waive any change of control payment triggered under the MIPA as a
result of the Merger.

On April 16, 2021, the parties consummated the Contribution Transaction. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, effective upon the closing of the Merger, the Company
agreed (i) to contribute an amount in cash equal to $1,500,000 to Oravax and (ii) cause Cystron to contribute substantially all of the assets associated with its business or
developing and manufacturing Cystron’s COVID-19 vaccine candidate to Oravax. In consideration for the Company’s commitment to consummate the Contribution
Transaction, Oravax issued to the Company 390,000 shares of its capital stock (equivalent to 13% of Oravax’s outstanding capital stock on a fully diluted basis) and assumed
all of the obligations or liabilities in respect of the assets of Cystron (excluding certain amounts due to Premas), including the obligations under the license agreement with
Premas. In addition, Oravax agreed to pay future royalties to the Company equal to 2.5% of all net sales of products (or combination products) manufactured, tested, distributed
and/or marketed by Oravax or its subsidiaries.

As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, $300,000 and $1,510,290, respectively, is included in Trade and Other Payables for amounts due to Premas’ under the MIPA.
During March 2021, the Company paid Premas a total of $1,200,000, deferred $300,000 to a future date to be determined by Premas. The remaining balance of $10,290 was
waived per the terms of the Contribution Agreement and was credited to Research and Development Expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, $(19,365) and $2,483,057, respectively, is included in Research and Development Expense within the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Loss.

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization

On November 11, 2020, the Company, Merger Sub, and MyMD Florida entered into the Merger Agreement. In addition, in connection with the execution of the Merger
Agreement, the Company agreed to advance a bridge loan of up to $3,000,000 to MYMD Florida pursuant to the Bridge Loan Note.

On April 16, 2021, the parties consummated the transactions contemplated pursuant to the Merger Agreement, including the Merger, and Merger Sub was merged with and into
MyMD Florida, with MyMD Florida continuing after the Merger as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. At the effective time of the Merger,
without any action on the part of any stockholder, each issued and outstanding share of pre-Merger MyMD Florida Common Stock, including shares underlying MyMD
Florida’s outstanding equity awards, was converted into the right to receive (x) 0.7718 shares of Company Common Stock, (y) the Additional Consideration, and (z) potential
Milestone Payments (up to 28,553,307 shares, the aggregate number of shares issued by the Company to pre-Merger MyMD Florida stockholders at the closing of the Merger),
payable upon the achievement of certain market capitalization milestone events during the Milestone Period. Immediately following the effective time of the Merger, the
Company effected the Reverse Stock Split. In connection with the closing of the Merger, the Company changed its name to MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Company
Common Stock listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market, previously trading through the close of business on April 16, 2021 under the trading symbol “AKER”, commenced trading
on The Nasdaq Capital Market, on a post-Reverse Stock Split adjusted basis, under the trading symbol “MYMD?” on April 19, 2021.
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Upon completion of the Merger and the transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement, the Company issued 28,553,307 post reverse stock split shares of Company
Common Stock to the former stakeholders of pre-Merger MyMD Florida at the Exchange Ratio. Upon completion of the Merger and the transactions contemplated in the
Merger Agreement, the former stakeholders of pre-Merger MyMD Florida held approximately 77.05% of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding on a fully diluted basis,
assuming the exercise in full of the pre-funded warrants to purchase 986,486 shares of Company Common Stock and including 4,188,315 shares of Company Common Stock
underlying options to purchase shares of pre-Merger MyMD Florida Common Stock assumed by the company at closing and after adjustments based on the Company’s net cash
at closing. Holders of pre-Merger common stock of the Company held approximately 22.95% of the outstanding equity of the Company. Also upon completion of the Merger
and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the Company assumed 4,188,315 MyMD Florida stock options subject to certain terms contained in the Merger
Agreement (including, but not limited to, the amendment of such stock option to extend the term of such stock option for a period expiring on April 16, 2024, the second-year
anniversary of the Merger (the “Option Exercise Period”).

The holders of approximately 49.68% of outstanding shares of Company Common Stock are subject to lockup agreements pursuant to which such stockholders have agreed,



except in limited circumstances, not to transfer, grant an option with respect to, sell, exchange, pledge or otherwise dispose of, or encumber, any shares of Company capital
stock for 180 days following the effective time of the Merger. For the subsequent 180 days after the initial 180-day lock-up period, any disposal of Company Common Stock
must be only in accordance with the volume limitations set forth in paragraph (2) of Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”).

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, not later than 30 days after the Option Exercise Period, the Company will pay stockholders of MyMD Florida the
Additional Consideration from the exercise of any MyMD Florida options assumed by the Company prior to the second-year anniversary of the Merger; provided, however, the
amount of such payment will not exceed the maximum amount of cash consideration that may be received by stockholders of MyMD Florida without affecting the intended tax
consequences of the Merger.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay contingent consideration to MyMD Florida stockholders in the form of the Milestone Payments. The
Milestone Payments are payable in the dollar amounts set forth in the chart below upon the achievement of the milestone events set forth opposite such dollar amount during the

Milestone Period as follows:

Milestone Event Milestone Payment

Market capitalization of the Company for at least 10 trading days during any 20  $20 million.
consecutive trading day period during the Milestone Period is equal to or greater than
$500 million (the “First Milestone Event”).

For every $250 million incremental increase in market capitalization of the Company  $10 million per each incremental increase (it being understood, however, that, if such
after the First Milestone Event to the extent such incremental increase occurs for at  incremental increase results in market capitalization equal to $1 billion, such $20
least 10 trading days during any 20 consecutive trading day period during the Milestone  million payment in respect of such incremental increase shall be payable without
Period, up to a $1 billion market capitalization of the Company. duplication of any amount payable in respect of a Second Milestone Event).

Market Capitalization of the Company for at least 10 trading days during any 20  $25 million.
consecutive trading day period is equal to or greater than $1 billion (the “Second
Milestone Event”).

For every $1 billion incremental increase in market capitalization of the Company after ~ $25 million per each incremental increase.
the Second Milestone Event to the extent such incremental increase occurs for at least

10 trading days during any 20 consecutive trading day period during the Milestone

Period.
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Each milestone payment will be payable in shares of Company Common Stock (the “Milestone Shares”), with the number of Milestone Shares to be issued determined by
dividing the applicable Milestone Payment amount by the volume-weighted average price of a share of the Company’s common stock during the 10 trading days immediately
preceding the achievement of the milestone event; provided, however, that in no event shall the price of a share of Company Common Stock used to determine the number of
Milestone Shares to be issued be deemed to be less than $5.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reverse stock splits, and the like occurring after the
closing date). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the number of Milestone Shares payable by the Company shall not exceed 28,553,307 shares of Company Common Stock issued
to MyMD Florida stockholders at the closing in connection with the Merger.

Secured Promissory Note

On November 11, 2020, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, the Company agreed to provide a bridge loan up to an aggregate principal amount of
$3,000,000 to pre-Merger MyMD Florida pursuant to the Bridge Loan Note. Advances under the Bridge Loan Note (“Bridge Loan Advances”) were made in the amounts and at
the times as needed to fund MyMD Florida’s operating expenses. Bridge Loan Advances accrue interest at 5% per annum, which may be increased to 8% per annum upon
occurrence of any event of default, from the date of such default. The principal and the accrued interest thereon are to be repaid on the earliest of (a) April 15, 2022; (b); if the
Merger was consummated, then upon demand of the Company following the consummation of the Merger; or (c) the date on which the obligations under the Bridge Loan Note
are accelerated upon event of default as set forth in the Bridge Loan Note. The payment and performance of all obligations under the Note are secured by a first priority security
interest in all of MyMD Florida’s right, title and interest in and to its assets as collateral. The outstanding principal amount and the accrued interest of the Bridge Loan Note
were convertible into shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement.

As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had advanced MyMD Florida $3,000,000 and $1,200,000, respectively, under the Bridge Loan Note, which is
classified as Other Receivables on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021, give effect to the merger of Merger Sub with
and into MyMD Florida and have been prepared in accordance with the guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (“FASB
ASC”) 805: Business Combinations. This transaction is accounted for as a reverse acquisition involving only the exchange of equity; whereby, the fair value of the equity of the
accounting acquiree (the Company) is used to measure consideration transferred since the value of the Company’s equity interests are more reliably measurable than the value
of the accounting acquirer’s (pre-Merger MyMD Florida) equity interest. Pre-Merger MyMD Florida is the accounting acquirer based upon the terms of the merger and other
factors, such as the number of shares issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida stockholders under the Merger Agreement upon closing of the Merger, relative voting rights and the
composition of the combined company’s board and senior management. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements also give effect to the purchase of
substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Florida corporation (“Supera”), pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement, dated
November 11, 2020, by and between pre-Merger MyMD Florida and Supera (the “Supera Purchase”) and the Contribution Transaction. Certain fair values of the acquired assets
and assumed liabilities may be estimated at the acquisition date pending confirmation or completion of the valuation process. Where provisional values are used in accounting
for a business combination, they may be adjusted retrospectively in subsequent periods within the measurement period when it reflects new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that were in existence at the acquisition date. The measurement period cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date. The following selected unaudited pro
forma financial data does not give effect to the potential issuance of the Milestone Shares, which is contingent upon achievement of certain market capitalization milestone
events during the Milestone Period, or the potential payment of Additional Consideration, which is contingent upon exercise of the options to purchase pre-Merger MyMD
Florida common stock assumed by the Company upon closing of the Merger during the Option Exercise Period.
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The following should be read with the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements presented below:

e  The accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements;
e The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the notes relating thereto in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on March 1, 2021.



e The Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating thereto of this
quarterly report;

o Pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s unaudited financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating thereto, contained in Exhibit
99.2; and

e Supera’s unaudited financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating thereto, contained in Exhibit 99.1.

The Company is providing the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information to aid in the analysis of the financial aspects of the
transactions.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 combines the historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of
March 31, 2021 with the historical unaudited balance sheet of pre-Merger MyMD Florida as of March 31, 2021, giving pro forma effect to the Supera Purchase, the
Contribution Transaction, and the proposed merger as if they had consummated on March 31, 2021.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021 combines the historical unaudited
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss of the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2021 with the historical unaudited statement of operations of pre-Merger
MyMD Florida for the three months ended March 31, 2021, giving pro forma effect to the Supera Purchase, the Contribution Transaction, and the proposed merger as if they
had consummated as of January 1, 2021.

The historical financial information has been adjusted in the respective unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to pro forma
events that are (1) directly attributable to the Supera Purchase, the Contribution Transaction or the proposed merger, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the
statements of comprehensive loss, expected to have a continuing impact on the combined company.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements presented are based on the assumptions and adjustments described in the accompanying notes. The
pro forma condensed combined financial statements are presented for illustrative purposes only and do not purport to represent what the financial position or results of
operations would have been if the Supera Purchase, the Contribution Transaction or the proposed merger had been completed as of the dates indicated in the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial statements or that will be realized upon the consummation of the proposed transactions.

The historical unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of the Company and pre-Merger MyMD Florida included herein have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP. The application of the acquisition method of accounting is dependent upon certain valuations and other studies that have yet to be completed or have
not progressed to a stage where there is sufficient information for a definitive measurement. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary, subject to further revision
as additional information becomes available and additional analyses are performed and have been made solely for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial statements. Upon consummation of the Merger, final valuations and studies will be performed. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the
final acquisition accounting may occur and these differences could have a material impact on the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements
and the combined company’s future financial position and results of operations. Fair values determined as of the assumed acquisition dates are based on the most recently
available information. To the extent there are significant changes to the Company’s or pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s business, or as new information becomes available, the
assumptions and estimates herein could change significantly.

Because pre-Merger MyMD Florida will be treated as the accounting acquirer, pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s assets and liabilities will be recorded at their pre-
combination carrying amounts and the historical operations that are reflected in the financial statements will be those of pre-Merger MyMD Florida. The Company’s assets and
liabilities will be measured and recognized at their fair values as of the date of the Merger, and consolidated with the assets, liabilities and results of operations of pre-Merger
MyMD Florida after the consummation of the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss includes certain acquisition accounting
adjustments described therein.
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The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss does not include (a) the impacts of any revenue, cost or other operating synergies that
may result from the Merger or any related restructuring costs; (b) certain amounts resulting from the Merger that were determined to be of a non-recurring nature.

The Supera Purchase and the merger have been consummated as of the date of the preparation of these pro forma financial statements.

MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheets

March 31, 2021
(unaudited)
Accounting
Acquirer Cystron
Pre-Merger Biotech
Legal Acquirer MyMD Spin-off Pro Forma
Company Florida Adjustments AJE # Adjustments AJE # Combined

Current assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 569,366 $ 437,178  $ - $ - $ 1,006,544

Marketable Securities 30,480,537 - (1,500,000) a (3,379,614) 1 25,600,923

Other Receivables 3,026,137 - - (3,026,137) 4 -

Prepaid Expenses 223,029 1,218 - - 223,029
Total current assets 34,297,851 438,396 (1,500,000) (6,405,751) 26,830,496
Non-Current Assets

Investment in Oravax 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000

Goodwill - - - 18,467,102 8 18,467,102
Total Non-Current Assets 1,500,000 - - 18,467,102 19,967,102
Total Assets $ 35,797,851  $ 438,396 $ 1,500,000 $ 12,061,351 $ 46,797,598
Current Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables $ 2,374,059 $ 2,204,805 $ (1,500,000) a $ 688,913 6 $ 3,767,777

Bridge Loan Payable - Related Party - 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) 2,4 -

Accrued Interest - 257,411 - (257,411) 1 -

Due to Related Party Starwood Trust
and Jonnie Williams, Sr and Supera - 185,577 - (185,577) 1 -



Line of Credit, Related Party, net

unamortized Debt Discount

Payroll Protection Program Loan
Total current liabilities

Total Liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’/Members’ Deficit
Preferred Stock, no par value,
50,000,000 total preferred shares
authorized
Series C Convertible Preferred
Stock, 1,990,000 shares designated,
no par value and a stated value of
$4.00 per share, 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of March 31, 2021
Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock, 211,353 shares designated,
no par value and a stated value of
$0.01 per share, 72,992 shares
issued and outstanding as of March
31,2021
Series E Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, 100,000 shares
designated, no par value and a
stated value of $0.001 per share, 0
shares issued and outstanding as of
March 31, 2021

Common stock, no par value,

100,000,000 shares authorized

8,326,730 issued and outstanding as

of March 31, 2021

Common Stock $0.0001 par value,

90,000,000 shares authorized

40,043,504 outstanding as of March

31,2021

Additional Paid-in-Capital

Accumulated Deficit

Total Stockholders’/Members’ Deficit

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’
Equity

2,936,626
70,600

- (2,936,626)

2,374,059

8,655,019

(1,500,000) (5,690,701)

2,374,059

$ 8,655,019

$ (1,500,000) $ (5,690,701)

144,524

171,925,670

(138,646,402)

4,004
43,411,488
(51,632,115)

10,290 b (40,451,041)

- (4,004)
] (43,411,488)
(10,290) b 101,618,585

33,423,792

(8,216,623)

- 17,752,052

35,797,851

$ 438,396

$ (1,500,000) $ 12,061,351
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1

3,5,6,7,8

3
3

1,2,5,6,7,8

70,600

3,838,377

S 3838377

144,524

131,484,919

(88,670,222)
42,959,221

5 46797.59%

Product Revenue
Product Cost of Sales

Gross Income

Operating Expenses:
Administrative Expenses
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Research and Development Expenses

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other (Income) Expense:
Loss on Disposal of Property and
Equipment

Foreign Currency Transaction Loss
Gain on Investments
Loss on fair market value of Equity
Investments
Interest and Dividend
(Income)/Expense

Total Other (Income)/Loss

MyMD Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Subsidiaries

Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
(unaudited)

Legal
Acquirer
Company

Accounting
Acquirer
Pre-Merger
MyMD
Florida

Cystron
Biotech
Spin-off AJE
Adjustments # Adjustments

AJE

Pro Forma
Combined

1,508,336

(19,365)

1,247,248

1,052,001

10,290 bb - -

1,488,971

2,299,249

10,290 -

(1,488,971)

(12,649)
14,402

(43,453)

(2,299,249)

660,564

(10,290) -

- 26,137

(41,700)

660,564

- 26,137

aa

2,755,584

1,042,926
3,798,510

(3,798,510)

(12,649)
14,402

643,248
645,01



Loss from Continuing Operations

Before Income Tax (1,447,271) (2,959,813) (10,290) (26,137) (4.443,511)

Income Tax Benefit = - - - _

Net Loss from Continuing Operations (1,447,271) (2,959,813) (10,290) (26,137) (4,443,511)

Basic and Diluted loss per common

share from continuing operations $ (0.1 7) $ 0.12)

Weighted average basic common shares

outstanding 8,544,298 28,955,790 37,500,088
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Notes to Unaudited Pro forma condensed combined Financial Statements
1. Description of the Transaction and Basis of the Pro Forma Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared in U.S. Dollars and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (US GAAP) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of SEC Regulation S-X, and present the pro forma financial position and results of
operations of the combined companies based upon the historical data of the Company and pre-Merger MyMD Florida, after giving effect to the Supera Purchase, the
Contribution Transaction and the Merger.

In accordance with the guidance under FASB ASC 805: Business Combinations, this transaction is accounted for as a reverse acquisition involving only the exchange
of equity; whereby, the fair value of the equity of the accounting acquiree (the Company) is used to measure consideration transferred since the value of the Company’s equity
interests are more reliably measurable than the value of the accounting acquirer’s (pre-Merger MyMD Florida) equity interest. Pre-Merger MyMD Florida is the accounting
acquirer based upon the terms of the Merger.

Merger Agreement

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into pre-Merger MyMD Florida, with pre-Merger MyMD Florida continuing after the Merger as the
surviving corporation on April 16, 2021. Based on the Exchange Ratio of 0.7718, the Company issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s shareholders 0.7718 shares of the
Company’s common stock per share of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s common stock, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. On a pro forma basis, based upon the
number of shares of the Company’s common stock issued in the Merger (including shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon certain outstanding Company options
and warrants), pre-Merger Company shareholders own approximately 22.95% of the combined company and pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders own approximately
77.05% of the combined company.

The Company issued 28,553,307 shares of common stock and 4,188,315 stock options to the pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders on a post reverse split basis.
Treatment of the MyMD and Supera Merger

The merger of Supera into pre-Merger MyMD Florida was treated as a merger under common control. The financial statements were combined, and intercompany
transactions were eliminated. Intercompany eliminations consisted of $444,000 related to the use and reimbursement of expenses for a private aircraft as recorded in the
Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s shareholders owned 60% and Supera shareholders owned 40% of the combined entity. Based upon an exchange ratio of 1.3575 shares of
pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s common stock per share of Supera common stock, pre-Merger MyMD Florida issued 33,937,909 common shares to the shareholders of Supera
upon the closing of the merger. Pre-Merger MyMD Florida had approximately 73,991,413 of common shares issued and outstanding and 10,853,360 stock options outstanding
upon completion of the Merger.

The pro forma condensed combined financial statements present the pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s combined entity as of and for the three months ended March 31,
2021.

Treatment of the Contribution and Assignment Agreement in the Merger

On March 18, 2021, the Company entered into the Contribution Agreement by and among the Company, Cystron, and Oravax, pursuant to which the Company agreed
to contribute (i) an amount in cash equal to $1,500,000 to Oravax, (ii) cause Cystron to contribute substantially all of the assets associated with its business of developing and
manufacturing a COVID-19 Vaccine Candidate to Oravax, and deliver to Premas on behalf of Cystron $1,200,000 in satisfaction of all current accrued and unpaid milestone
payments due pursuant to the License Agreement between Cystron and Premas (such transaction, the “Contribution Transaction”). The aggregate purchase price for the
contribution consisted of 390,000 shares of capital stock of Oravax, or 13% of the projected outstanding shares of Oravax and the assumption of all obligations or liabilities in
respect of the assets of Cystron, including the License Agreement. In addition, Oravax agreed to pay future royalties to the Company equal to 2.5% of all net sales of products
(or combination products) manufactured, tested, distributed and/or marketed by Oravax or its subsidiaries. In addition to the cash amount equal to $1,200,000, the Company will
hold for payment and delivery, an additional amount equal to $300,000 and 67,286 shares of the Company’s common stock and 72,922 shares of the Company’s Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock, due to Premas, to be paid and delivered at a future date upon Premas obtaining the requisite permissions from Indian Authorities and making a
demand on the Company for payment and delivery of the same. For the avoidance of doubt, the 134,572 shares of the Company’s common stock and 72,992 shares of the
Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock referred to in the preceding sentence were previously issued and are outstanding in the stock books of the Company registered
in the name of Premas. (Note 3)

The Company will not have significant influence on the operating and financing decisions of Oravax. The Company treated the transaction under the cost method of
accounting per the guidance contained in FASB ASC 325 Investments - Other which is included in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2021.
(Adjustments a,b)

Treatment of the Starwood Line of Credit in the Merger

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, in connection with the Merger, all amounts due and owing with respect to the line of credit established between pre-Merger MyMD
Florida and The Starwood Trust were paid in full upon the closing of the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet is adjusted to reclassify the line
of credit plus its accrued interest to marketable securities to reflect the disbursement of funds (Adjustment 1). Any amounts to be used to pay off The Starwood Trust to repay in
full the line of credit established between pre-Merger MyMD Florida and The Starwood Trust immediately following the closing is being treated as a reduction to the
Company’s $25,000,000 minimum cash contribution merger condition. (Adjustment 1)
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Treatment of the Bridge Loan Note in the Merger

The Bridge Loan Note pursuant to which the Company was able to loan to pre-Merger MyMD Florida up to $3.0 million became an intercompany transaction upon the
closing of the Merger and as such is eliminated in the pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 (Adjustment 2, 4). The outstanding loan amount,
plus accumulated interest, are being treated as a reduction to the Company’s $25,000,000 minimum cash contribution merger condition. As of March 31, 2021, the Company
had advanced pre-Merger MyMD Florida a total of $3,000,000 under the Bridge Loan Note.

Treatment of Stock Options, Restricted Stock Units and Warrants in the Merger

All pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options granted under the pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock option plan that are outstanding prior to the effective date of the
Merger were cancelled and re-issued under the Company’s stock option plan based upon the original terms, as adjusted for the share exchange ratio, vested immediately and will
expire two years from the effective date of the transaction. The fair market value of the options was calculated utilizing the Black-Scholes methodology using the Company’s
closing share price of $4.94 per share on April 16, 2020. The pro forma condensed combined balance sheet has been adjusted to reflect the compensation expense associated
with the modification of the outstanding options, net of the previously amortized costs.

The cash exercise price received by the combined company upon exercise of the pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options prior to expiration was accumulated and
distributed to pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders of record as of the effective date of the Merger. Due to the significant uncertainties related to the exercise of the pre-
Merger MyMD Florida stock options, the fair market value of such potential exercise is not measurable as of the pro forma date and is being treated as an undefined contingent
liability.

Per the Merger Agreement, there is no requirement for pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options to be exercised as of the effective date of the Merger and are therefore
being treated as unissued shares for the pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

All of the Company’s restricted stock units granted under the Company’s incentive stock option plan that are outstanding prior to the effective date of the Merger
vested upon the completion of the transaction. The vested RSUs are to be settled in shares of common stock of the Company to be issued upon closing of the Merger and with
giving effect to any shares that would be withheld for tax liability. The pro forma condensed combined balance sheet has been adjusted for the effect of the unamortized
compensation expense (Adjustment 6).

The Company’s outstanding warrants are un-affected by the Merger and their pre-Merger terms and conditions will remain in effect until the expiration.
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Treatment of the Excess Cash Contribution

Pursuant to Amendment No. 1 tothe Merger Agreement, a contribution of Parent Net Cash in excess of the Minimum Parent Net Cash, as adjusted for the Bridge Loan
and the Starwood Line of Credit, reduced the number of available Merger Shares. The following table provides details of the adjustment:

Excess Parent Cash Calculation

Parent Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities as of December 31, 2020 $ 35,336,407
Less

Net change year-to-date (4,279,566)

Liabilities, less non-cash items (495,306)

Estimated operating and other expenses (1,000,000)

Available funds under the Bridge Loan S

Contribution and Assignment Agreement (1,500,000)

Starwood Line-of-Credit Retirement (3,192,119)
Parent Net Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities as of April 16, 2021 $ 24,869,416
Minimum Parent Net Cash, per Merger Agreement $ 25,000,000
Less

Bridge Loan, actual (3,000,000)

Available funds under the Bridge Loan -

Starwood Line-of-Credit Retirement (3,192,119)
Adjusted Minimum Parent Net Cash, per Merger Agreement $ 18,807,881
Excess Parent Net Cash Contribution $ 6,061,535
Excess Cash Factor Calculation

Excess Parent Net Cash $ 6,061,535
Divided by Valuation Peg 206,000,000

Excess Cash Factor 2.95%

Merger Share Calculation, per Merger Agreement

Adjusted outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as of April 16, 2021 9,752,195
Divided by 20% plus the Excess Cash Factor 22.95%

Merger Shares of common stock of the combined company 42,493,817
Multiplied by 80% less the Excess Cash Factor 77.05%

Estimated shares of the Company’s common stock issued to MyMD upon closing of the Merger 32,741,622

Treatment of the Market Capitalization Milestones

The ability of the combined company to meet the market capitalization milestones is subject to the combined company’s future performance and other market
conditions that are out of the company’s control. As such, the fair market value of the Milestone Shares is not measurable as of the pro forma date and is being treated as an
undefined contingent liability.

Treatment of the Transaction Costs

Transaction costs primarily consist of printing, stock exchange, accounting and legal fees which are estimated to range from $750,000 to $1,500,000. There can be no
assurance that these estimates will not change. Due to the expected volatility of the anticipated transaction costs, they are being treated as a contingent liability and have been
excluded from the pro forma condensed combined financial statements. These transactions and related costs are one-time events and are not expected to have a continuing
impact on the combined entity and as such would not impact the pro forma earnings per share.



2. Preliminary Purchase Price

The Company issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders and their designees a number of shares of its common stock (including in respect of outstanding pre-
Merger MyMD Florida options), which represented approximately 80% of the combined company. The estimated preliminary purchase price, which represented the
consideration transferred to the pre-Merger MyMD Florida stockholders in the reverse merger, was calculated based on the number of shares of the combined company that the
Company’s shareholders owned as of the closing of the Merger. The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements reflect an estimated purchase
price of approximately $48.18 million, which consists of the following:

Estimated number of shares of the combined company owned by the Company’s shareholders™) 9,752,195
Multiplied by the price per share of the Company’s common stock® $ 4.94
Estimated purchase price $ 48,175,844
1) Represents the number of shares of the combined company that the Company’s shareholders owned as of the closing of the Merger pursuant to the Merger Agreement,

which, for purposes of these pro forma financial statements, is calculated as the sum of a) 8,326,730 the Company’s shares outstanding as of March 3, 2021, b) 36,496
shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, c¢) 402,483 shares of the Company’s
common stock issued upon settlement of the Company’s restricted stock units that vested upon the completion of the Merger, and d) 986,486 shares of the Company’s
common stock underlying outstanding the Company’s pre-funded warrants.

22

?2) $4.94 was the closing trading price of the Company’s common stock on April 16, 2021.

The number of shares of common stock the Company issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders (including in respect of outstanding pre-Merger MyMD
Florida options), for purposes of these pro forma financial statements, is calculated pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement as follows:

Shares of Company common stock outstanding as of April 16, 2021 8,326,730
Shares of Company common stock subject to Series D Convertible Preferred stock 36,496
Shares of Company common stock subject to outstanding restricted stock units 402,483
Shares of Company common stock subject to outstanding pre-funded warrants() 986,486
Adjusted outstanding shares of Company common stock 9,752,195
Divided by the assumed percentage of Company ownership of the combined company 22.95%
Estimated adjusted total shares of common stock of the combined company 42,493,817
Multiplied by the assumed percentage of pre-Merger MyMD Florida ownership of the combined company 77.05%
Estimated shares of Company common stock issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida upon closing of the Merger(z) 32,741,622
@) 986,486 shares of Company common stock underlying outstanding the Company’s pre-funded warrants are included in the calculation of the estimated total number of

shares to be issued upon the completion of the Merger. An additional 5,463,032 shares issuable upon exercise of the outstanding the Company’s warrants with a strike
price in excess of $3.44 were excluded per the Merger Agreement.

2) The common stock issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida upon closing includes 4,188,315 shares allocated to fully vested stock options of pre-Merger MyMD Florida
assumed by the Company upon closing, which will expire two years from the effective date of the Merger. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, shares have
been allocated to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s outstanding stock options, however, there is no requirement for these options to be exercised as of the effective date of
the Merger.

The allocation of the preliminary purchase price to the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of March 31, 2021, (Adjustment 8) is as

follows:

Based on Historical

Balance Sheet of the

Company as of March 31, Pro Forma Purchase Price Allocation
2021 Adjustments(l)(z) — Pro Forma

Total Consideration $ 48,175,844 $ - $ 48,175,844
Cash and Cash Equivalents 569,366 - 569,366
Marketable Securities 30,480,537 (1,500,000) 28,980,537
Other Receivables 3,026,137 (3,026,137) -
Prepaid Expenses 221,811 - 221,811
Investment in Oravax 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
Trade and Other Payables (2,374,059) 811,087 (1,562,972)
Net Tangible Assets Acquired 33,423,792 (3,715,050) 29,708,742
Excess of Purchase Price Over Net Assets Acquired to be Allocated to Goodwill $ 14,752,052 $ (3,715,050) $ 18,467,102
@) Transaction costs primarily consist of printing, stock exchange, accounting and legal fees which are estimated to range from $750,000 to $1,500,000. There can be no

assurance that these estimates will not change. Due to the expected volatility of the anticipated transaction costs, they are being treated as a contingent liability and have
been excluded from the pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

?2) The adjustments reflect the effect of the Contribution and Assignment Agreement, the elimination of the MyMD Bridge Loan and an adjustment for withholding taxes on
the issuance of shares to settle the RSUs.
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The purchase price allocation will remain preliminary until the Company completes a final valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date that
the Merger was consummated. The excess of consideration transferred over the estimated fair value of the net identifiable assets will be allocated to goodwill. The final
determination of the allocation consideration transferred is expected to be completed as soon as practicable after the consummation of the Merger but will in no event exceed one
year from the acquisition date. The final amounts allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed could differ significantly from the amounts presented in the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial statements. For acquired working capital accounts such as prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and certain accrued
expenses, the Company determined that no preliminary fair value adjustments were required due to the short timeframe until settlement for these assets and liabilities.

3. Accounting Policies and Merger Pro Forma Adjustments



Based on the Company’s review of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s financial
statements, the nature and amount of any adjustments to the historical financial statements of pre-Merger MyMD Florida to conform its accounting policies to those of the
Company are not expected to be significant. Upon consummation of the Merger, further review of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s accounting policies and financial statements
may result in required revisions to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s policies and classifications to conform to the Company’s accounting policies.

The adjustments included in the pro forma condensed combined balance sheet are as follows:

(a) To record the disbursement of the $1,500,000 investment in Oravax under the Contribution and Assignment Agreement to be paid by the Company.

Description Debit Credit
Trade and Other Payables $ 1,500,000
Marketable Securities $ 1,500,000

(b) To record the effect on the Consolidated Balance Sheets from the reduction of research and development expense incurred during the three months ended March 31,
2021 that are non-recurring as the result of the Contribution Transaction.

Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 10,290
Common Stock $ 10,290

(1) To record the payoff of the Starwood Line of Credit plus accumulated interest upon close of the Merger.

Description Debit Credit

Starwood Line of Credit $ 2,936,626

Due to Related Party 185,577

Starwood Line of Credit — Accrued Interest 257,411

Marketable Securities $ 3,379,614
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(2) To record interest expense on the Company/pre-Merger MyMD Florida Bridge Loan.

Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 26,137
Other Receivables $ 26,137

(3) To reclassify the pre-Merger MyMD Florida Common Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital

Description Debit Credit
Pre-Merger MyMD Florida Common Stock $ 4,004

Pre-Merger MyMD Florida Additional Paid-In Capital 43,411,488

Common Stock $ 43,415,492

(4) To eliminate the Company/pre-Merger MyMD Florida Bridge Loan.

Description Debit Credit
Bridge Loan — Related Party $ 3,026,137
Other Receivables $ 3,026,137
(5) To record the expenses related to the modification of the outstanding pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options’ expiration dates to comply with the Merger
Agreement.
Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 37,373,172
Common Stock $ 37,373,172

(6) To record the expenses related to the accelerated vesting of the outstanding unvested Restricted Stock Units pursuant to the terms of the restricted stock unit
agreements and record the federal and state withholding liability.

Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 979,757

Trade and Other Payables $ 688,913
Common Stock 290,844

(7) To reclassify the Company’s deficit account.

Description Debit Credit
Common Stock $ 139,662,586
Accumulated Deficit $ 139,662,449

(8) To record the acquisition value of the Merger in excess of tangible assets acquired.

Description Debit Credit
Goodwill $ 18,467,102
Common Stock $ 18,467,102

The adjustment included in the pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss is as follows:
(aa) To record the interest on the Company/pre-Merger MyMD Florida Bridge Loan for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Description Debit Credit




Interest and Dividend Expense $ 26,137
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(bb) To record the elimination of a credit balance in research and development expense incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2021 that are non-recurring as
the result of the Contribution Transaction. (Note 3)

Description Debit Credit
Research and Development Expense $ 10,290 $

The pro forma condensed combined basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations have been adjusted to reflect the pro forma condensed combined
net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021. In addition, the numbers of shares used in calculating the pro forma condensed combined basic and diluted net loss per
share have been adjusted to reflect the estimated total number of shares of common stock of the combined company outstanding as of the closing of the Merger. The estimated
total numbers of shares of common stock of the combined company outstanding as of the closing of the Merger was calculated as the estimated adjusted total shares of common
stock issued and outstanding of the combined company of 37,282,520, plus 4,188,315 shares reserved for pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options assumed by the Company at
closing, 986,486 shares reserved for pre-funded warrants of the Company, and 36,496 shares reserved for the Series D Convertible Preferred stock as described in Note 2,
“Preliminary Purchase Price.” The following table sets forth the calculation of the pro forma weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic and diluted:

Pro Forma
Weighted Average Shares
Pro Forma Weighted
All Shares Average Shares for the
Issued/Issuable Year Ended
upon Merger March 31, 2021
Pre-Merger MyMD Florida:
Common shares issued and outstanding 73,991,413 -
Stock options outstanding 10,853,360 -
Total pre-Merger MyMD Florida share basis 84,844,773 -
Post conversion basis at the Exchange Ratio of 0.7718 65,479,931
Effect of 1-for-2 reverse stock split (32,738.,309)
Post reverse split basis at the Exchange Ratio of 0.7718 32,741,622 -
Recapitalization/Conversion of pre-Merger MyMD Florida common shares into Company common
shares based on the Exchange Ratio: 28,553,307 28,553,307
Recapitalization/Conversion of pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options into Company common
shares based on the Exchange Ratio®) 4,188,315 -
32,741,622 28,553,307
The Company pre-Merger:
Common shares: issued and outstanding(z) 8,326,730 8,544,298
Post-merger:
Series D Convertible Preferred stock converted to common stock 36,496 -
Restricted Stock Units converted to common stock; vesting accelerated to the effective date 402,483 402,483
Pre-funded warrants convertible to common stock 986,486 -
9,752,195 8,946,781
Estimated adjusted total shares of common stock for the combined entity 42,493,817 37,500,088
1) Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, shares have been allocated to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s outstanding stock options, however, there is no requirement

for these options to be exercised as of the effective date of the Merger and are therefore being treated as unissued shares for the purposes of calculating the weighted-
shares outstanding.
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?2) The Company’s pre-Merger common shares issued and outstanding of 8,326,730 was the actual number of common shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021.
3) All outstanding stock options, Series D convertible preferred stock and pre-funded warrants exercisable for the combined company’s common stock are anti-dilutive and

therefore excluded from the weighted-average shares calculation for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as referenced in the pro forma condensed combined
Statement of Comprehensive Loss.

Liquidity

As of March 31, 2021, the Company’s cash on hand was $569,366 and marketable securities were $30,480,537. The Company has incurred a net loss from continuing
operations of $1,447,271 and a net loss from discontinued operations of $35,392 for the three months ended March 31, 2021. As of March 31, 2021, the Company had working
capital of $31,923,792, stockholders’ equity of $33,423,792 and an accumulated deficit of $138,646,402. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, cash flows used in
operating activities were $2,482,947, consisting primarily of a net loss of $1,482,663 and a decrease in trade and other payables of $1,368,151 offset by non-cash share-based
compensation of $326,989. Since its inception, the Company has met its liquidity requirements principally through the sale of its common stock in public and private
placements.

The Company evaluated the current cash requirements for operations in conjunction with management’s strategic plan and believes that the Company’s current financial
resources as of the date of the issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements, are sufficient to fund its current operating budget and contractual obligations as of

March 31, 2021 as they fall due within the next twelve-month period, alleviating any substantial doubt raised by the Company’s historical operating results and satisfying its
estimated liquidity needs for twelve months from the issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Note 4 - Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables consist of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2021 2020




Accounts Payable — Trade $ 1,960,284 $ 569,999

Accrued Expenses 75,467 123,613
Accounts Payable — Other (Note 3) 300,000 1,510,290
$ 2,335,751 $ 2,203,902

See also Note 9 for related party information.
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Note 5 — Discontinued Operations
The Company conducted a strategic review of the screening and testing products business. Following such review, in early July 2020, the Company ceased the production and
sale of its rapid, point-of-care screening and testing products. The Company had been experiencing declining sales revenue and production backlogs for these products and, as it

previously reported, had eliminated its sales force for such products.

The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations have been reflected in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 and consist of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2021 2020
Current Assets:

Prepaid Expenses $ 7,700 $ 12,002
Total Assets $ 7,700 $ 12,002
Current Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables $ 38,308 $ 59,393
Total Liabilities $ 38,308 $ 59,393

The results from the discontinued operations have been reflected in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and consist
of the following:

For the
Three Months
Ended
March 31,
2021

Product Revenue $ -
Product Cost of Sales 2,340
Gross Loss (2,340)
Administrative Expenses 30,942
Regulatory and Compliance Expenses 2,110
Loss from Discontinued Operations $ (35,392)

As a result of the discontinued operations, the previously presented 2020 financial statements have been revised to present the consolidated financial statements of the
continuing operations separate from the discontinued operations.

28

The effects on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the three months ended March 31, 2020 were as follows:

For the Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

As Previously

Reported Adjusted As Revised
Product Revenue $ 363,515 $ 363,515 $ -
Product Cost of Sales (172,871) (172,871) -
Gross Income 190,644 190,644 -
Research and Development Expenses 2,483,057 - 2,483,057
Administrative Expenses 1,157,732 102,584 1,055,148
Sales and Marketing Expenses 14,463 8,213 6,250
Compliance and Regulatory Expenses 72,091 72,091 -
Amortization of Non-Current Assets 8,874 8,874 -
I i t of Intangible Asset:
mpairment of Intangible Assets 2.952 2.952 i

Loss from Operations (3,548,525) (4,070) (3,544,455)
Other (Income) Expense

Gain on Investments 36,714 - 36,714

Interest and Dividend Income (46,703) - (46,703)
Total Other Income (9,989) - (9,989)

Loss from Continuing Operations (3,538,536) - (3,534,466)



Loss from Discontinued Operations - (4,070) (4,070)

Loss Before Income Taxes (3,538,536) - (3,538,536)

Income Tax Benefit - - -

Net Loss (3,538,536) - (3,538,536)
Other Comprehensive Loss

Net Unrealized Loss on Marketable Securities (240,937) - (240,937)
Total Other Comprehensive Loss (240,937) - (240,937)
Comprehensive Loss $ (3,779.473) $ - 8 (3.779.473)

The Company did not incur any depreciation, amortization or other significant operating non-cash items related to discontinued operations during the three months ended March
31,2021.

Note 6 - Share-based Payments

Equity Incentive Plans

2013 Stock Incentive Plan

On January 23, 2014, the Company adopted the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (2013 Plan”). The 2013 Plan was amended by the Board on January 9, 2015 and September 30,
2016, and such amendments were ratified by shareholders on December 7, 2018. The 2013 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 2,162 shares of the Company’s common
stock. As of March 31, 2021, grants of restricted stock and options to purchase 1,407 shares of common stock have been issued pursuant to the 2013 Plan, and 755 shares of

common stock remain available for issuance.
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2017 Stock Incentive Plan

On August 7, 2017, the shareholders approved, and the Company adopted, the 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (“2017 Plan”). The 2017 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 3,516
shares of the Company’s common stock. As of March 31, 2021, grants of restricted stock and options to purchase 1,532 shares of common stock have been issued pursuant to
the 2017 Plan, and 1,984 shares of common stock remain available for issuance.

2018 Stock Incentive Plan

On December 7, 2018, the shareholders approved, and the Company adopted the 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (“2018 Plan”). The 2018 Plan initially provided for the issuance of
up to 39,063 shares of the Company’s common stock. On August 27, 2020, the stockholders approved an amendment to the 2018 Plan increasing the number of shares available
for issuance by an additional 521,000 shares to a total of 560,063 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of March 31, 2021, grants of RSUs to purchase 402,483 shares of
common stock have been issued pursuant to the 2018 Plan, and 157,580 shares of common stock remain available for issuance.

Stock Options

The Company did not have any outstanding stock options as of March 31, 2021 and did not incur any stock option expense during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and
2020.

Restricted Stock Units

On March 29, 2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved grants totaling 7,803 Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) to three of the Company’s then-
current directors. Each RSU had a grant date fair value of $46.56 which shall be amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period into administrative expenses within
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. Such RSUs were granted under the 2018 Plan and vested on January 1, 2020. Upon vesting, such RSUs shall be settled
with the issuance of common stock. The Company Common Stock underlying these RSUs is subject to a lock-up/leak-out agreement for a period of 180 days from the
effective date of the Merger with MyMD Florida (Note 3).

On September 11, 2020, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved grants totaling 394,680 RSUs to the Company’s four then-current directors. Each
RSU had a grant date fair value of $4.48 which shall be amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period into administrative expenses within the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Loss. Such RSUs were granted under the 2018 Plan, as amended. Fifty percent (50%) of each RSU was to vest on the first anniversary date of the grant and
the remaining fifty percent (50%) was to vest on the second anniversary date; provided that the RSUs shall vest immediately upon the occurrence of (i) a change in control,
provided that the director is employed by or providing services to the Company and its affiliates on the closing date of such change of control, or (ii) the director’s termination
of employment of service by the Company was without cause. Upon closing of the Merger, all of the unvested RSUs were vested (Notes 3 and 11).

At March 31, 2021, the unamortized value of the RSUs was $1,037,890. A summary of activity related to RSUs for the three months ended March 31, 2021 is presented below:

Weighted
Average

Number of Grant Date

RSUs Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2020 394,680 $ 448
Granted - -
Exercised - -
Vested - -
Forfeited - :
Canceled/Expired - -
Balance at March 31, 2021 394,680 $ 4.48
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The Company incurred RSU expense of $326,989 and $1,302 during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Note 7 - Equity

On February 11, 2021, 468,216 shares of common stock issued pursuant to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated November 11, 2020, by and between the
Company and certain institutional and accredited investors were cancelled and 468,216 prefunded warrants (as defined therein) were issued at the request of a shareholder.

On April 16, 2021, the Company effectuated the Reverse Stock Split of the shares on common stock whereby every two (2) pre-split shares of Company Common Stock were
exchanged for one (1) post-split share of Company Common Stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the Reverse Split and the remaining fractions were
rounded up to the next whole share. Shareholders who would otherwise have held a fractional share were given one additional share of Company Common Stock. Share
amounts presented in these condensed consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect the Reverse Split.

Common Stock Warrants

The table below summarizes the warrant activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021:

Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Price Term (years) Value
Balance at December 31, 2020 5,463,032 5.57 5.31 -
Granted - - -
Exercised - - -
Forfeited - - - -
Canceled/Expired = = - -
Balance at March 31, 2021 5,463,032 $ 5.57 5.06 $ 12,094,858
Exercisable as of March 31, 2021 5,463,032 $ 5.57 5.06 $ 12,094,858

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the closing stock price of $6.44 for the Company’s
Common Stock on March 31, 2021. All warrants were vested on date of grant.

The warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2021 represent underlying shares of Company Common Stock of 5,463,032.
Pre-funded Common Stock Warrants

The table below summarizes the pre-funded warrant activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021:

Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Price Term (years) Value
Balance at December 31, 2020 520,270 0.002 - -
Granted 468,216 0.002 - -
Exercised - - - -
Forfeited - - - -
Canceled/Expired = = - -
Balance at March 31, 2021 986,486 $ 0.002 - $ 6,350,997
Exercisable as of March 31, 2021 986,486 $ 0.002 - $ 6,350,997
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The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the closing stock price of $6.44 for the Company’s
Common Stock on March 31, 2021. All pre-funded warrants were vested on the date of grant and are exercisable at any time.

The pre-funded warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2021 represent underlying shares of Company Common Stock of 986,486.
Warrants for the purchase of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock

The table below summarizes the activity during the three months period ended March 31, 2021 for warrants issued in December 2019 for the purchase of Series C Convertible
Preferred Stock:

Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Price Term (years) Value
Balance at December 31, 2020 27,500 8.00 3.94 -
Granted - - - -
Exercised - - - -
Forfeited - - - -
Canceled/Expired = = - -
Balance at March 31, 2021 27,500 8.00 3.70 -
Exercisable as of December 31, 2020 27,500 8.00 3.70 -

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the closing stock price of $6.44 for the Company’s
Common Stock on March 31, 2021. All warrants to purchase Series C Convertible Preferred Stock were vested on the date of grant.

The warrants for the of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding as of March 31, 2021 represent underlying shares of Company Common Stock of 27,500.

Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies



COVID-19

The ultimate impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and subject to future developments. These include but are not limited to
the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, new information which may emerge concerning the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, and any additional preventative and
protective actions that regulators, or the Company’s Board of Directors or management of the Company, may determine are needed. We do not yet know the full extent of
potential delays or impacts on the Company’s business, vaccine development efforts, healthcare systems or the global economy as a whole. The Company will continue to
monitor the COVID-19 situation closely.

In response to public health directives and orders, the Company has implemented work-from-home policies for many of the Company’s employees and temporarily modified
the Company’s operations to comply with applicable social distancing recommendations. The effects of the orders and the Company’s related adjustments in its business are
likely to negatively impact productivity, disrupt its business and delay the Company’s timelines, the magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the
restrictions and other limitations on its ability to conduct its business in the ordinary course. Similar health directives and orders are affecting third parties with whom we do
business. Further, restrictions on the Company’s ability to travel, stay-at-home orders and other similar restrictions on its business have limited its ability to support its
operations.

Severe and/or long-term disruptions in the Company’s operations will negatively impact its business, operating results and financial condition in other ways, as well.
Specifically, the Company anticipates that the stress of COVID-19 on healthcare systems generally around the globe will negatively impact regulatory authorities and the third
parties that the Company may engage in connection with the development and testing of the Company’s COVID-19 Vaccine Candidate.

In addition, while the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, COVID-19 may be difficult to assess or predict, it has significantly disrupted global financial
markets, and may limit the Company’s ability to access capital, which could in the future negatively affect its liquidity. A recession or market correction resulting from the

continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic could materially affect the Company’s business and the value of its common stock.
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Litigation Related to the Merger with MYMD Florida

Between January 22, 2021 and March 18, 2021, nine alleged Akers Biosciences, Inc. stockholders filed separate actions in the state and federal courts of New York, New
Jersey, and Pennsylvania against Akers Biosciences, Inc. and the members of its board of directors, respectively captioned as follows: (i) Douglas McClain v. Akers
Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. 650497/2021 (Sup. Ct., N.Y. Cty.); (i) Owen Murphy v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. 650545/2021 (Sup. Ct., N.Y. Cty.); (iii) Sue Gee Cheng
v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. 1:21-cv-01110 (S.D.N.Y.); (iv) Danny Lui v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. GLO-C-000006-21 (N.J. Super. Ct., Ch. Div.); (v) Alan
Misenheimer v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. 1:21-cv-02310 (D.N.].); (vi) Robert Wilhelm v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al, No. 1:21-cv-04616 (D.N.J.); (vii)Adam
Franchi v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. 1:21-cv-04696 (D.N.1.); (viii) Cody McBeath v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al, No. 2:21-cv-01151 (E.D. Pa.); and (ix) Ray Craven
v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. 1:21-cv-05762 (D.N.J.) (collectively, the “MYMD Merger Complaints”). The Lui action is styled as a putative class action brought on
behalf of the plaintiff and other similarly situated stockholders, while the other eight actions are brought solely on behalf of the individual stockholders. The MYMD Merger
Complaints generally assert that Akers Biosciences, Inc. and its board of directors failed to disclose allegedly material information in the joint proxy and consent solicitation
statement/prospectus and seek an order enjoining or unwinding the consummation of the Merger Agreement and awarding damages.

As reflected on page 61 of the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4, Registration No. 333-252181, filed on March 19, 2021 (the ‘Amended S-4”), each of the nine
MYMD Merger Complaints sought an order enjoining or unwinding consummation of the Merger Agreement on the basis of alleged material omissions in the Company’s
preliminary S-4 filed on January 15, 2021. The Amended S-4 contains, among other things, supplemental disclosures addressing these purported material omissions. Prior to
the April 15, 2021 special meeting of Akers Biosciences, Inc.’s stockholders to approve the proposed merger, none of the plaintiffs sought to enjoin the transaction, which was
approved at the special meeting. As of May 17, 2021, eight of the nine MYMD Merger Complaints have been voluntarily dismissed (the remaining pending case is Ray Craven
v. Akers Biosciences, Inc., et al., No. 1:21-cv-05762 (D.N.J.)).

The defendants believe that the claims asserted in the remaining MYMD Merger Complaint are without merit and intend to appropriately defend themselves against them.
Accordingly, the Company does not expect that these claims will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations. All legal fees incurred were
expensed as and when incurred.

Raymond Akers Action

On April 14, 2021, Raymond F. Akers, Jr., Ph.D. filed a lawsuit against Akers Biosciences, Inc. in the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, Gloucester County (the
“Raymond Akers Action”). Mr. Akers asserts one common law whistleblower retaliation claim against the Company. The Company has not yet been served with the Complaint

in the Raymond Akers Action and, therefore, has not yet responded to the Complaint. The Company intends to defend the Raymond Akers Action. Accordingly, the Company

does not expect that this claim will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

All legal fees incurred were expensed as and when incurred.

Note 9 — Related Parties

Taglich Brothers, Inc.

On November 23, 2020, the Company retained Taglich Brothers, Inc. (“Taglich Brothers™) on a non-exclusive basis as a consultant to render consulting services, assist with
review, and analysis of, financial planning and budgeting matters of the Company for a term of 12 months. Pursuant to the Consulting Agreement with Taglich Brothers, the
Company agreed to pay Taglich Brothers $10,000 per month. The Company recorded $40,000 for these services during the three months ended March 31, 2021, which is
included in administrative expenses on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. There were no amounts owing to Taglich Brothers as of March 31, 2021

and December 31, 2020.

Mr. Schreiber is the managing director of capital markets at Taglich Brothers and the Secretary of the Company, and Mr. Schroeder is the vice president of investment banking
at Taglich Brothers and a Director of the Company.
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Note 10 — Employee Benefit Plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution benefit plan under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering substantially all qualified employees of the Company
(the “401(k) Plan”). Under the 401(k) Plan, the Company matches 100% up to a 3% contribution, and 50% over a 3% contribution, up to a maximum of 5%.

The Company made matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 of $4,066 and $17,827, respectively.

Note 11 — Subsequent Events



Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization

On April 16, 2021, the parties consummated the previously announced transactions contemplated pursuant to the Merger Agreement, including the Merger, and Merger Sub was
merged with and into MyMD Florida, with MyMD Florida continuing after the Merger as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. For additional
information concerning the Merger, please see Note 3.

RSU Vesting

On April 16, 2021, concurrently with the closing of the Merger, pursuant to the terms of the Restricted Stock Unit Agreements between the Company and each of Mr.
Schreiber, Mr. Schroeder, Mr. Silverman and Mr. White, respectively, the 394,680 RSUs granted on September 11, 2020 under the 2018 Plan, as amended, accelerated and
vested in full. At the election of the Company, the vested RSUs may be settled for cash.

Adoption of 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger, the Company adopted the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which was approved by the
Company’s stockholders on April 15, 2021. The 2021 Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, and other awards which may be granted singly, in combination or in tandem, and which may be paid in cash or shares of
Company Common Stock. At the effective time of the Merger, the number of shares of Company Common Stock that are reserved for issuance pursuant to awards under the
2021 Plan is 7,228,184 shares (post-Reverse Stock Split), 100% of which may be delivered as incentive stock options.

The 2021 Plan will terminate on April 16, 2031, the tenth anniversary of its effective date. No award may be made under the 2021 Plan after its expiration date. In connection
with the 2021 Plan, the Board adopted forms of (i) a Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, (ii) an Incentive Stock Option Agreement and (iii) a Restricted Stock Award
Agreement.

Pursuant to the Incentive Stock Option Agreement, participants will be granted options to purchase shares of Company Common Stock at a price equal to the fair market value
per share of the Company Common Stock on the date of grant or 110% of such fair market value, in the case of a ten percent (10%) or more stockholder as provided in Section
422 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”). Options granted pursuant to the Incentive Stock Option Agreement will expire on the date immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary of the date of grant (or the date immediately preceding the fifth anniversary of the date of grant, in the case of a ten percent (10%) or more
stockholder, as provided in Section 422 of the Code), unless terminated earlier.

Pursuant to the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, participants will be granted options to purchase shares of Company Common Stock at a price equal to the fair market
value per share of the Company Common Stock on the date of grant. The options issued pursuant to the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement will expire on the date

immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of the date of grant, unless terminated earlier.
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Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Award Agreement, participants will be granted restricted stock subject to such restrictions, price and vesting requirements set forth at the
discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors or such other committee appointed or designated by the Company’s Board of Directors to
administer the 2021 Plan (the “Committee”). Restricted stock granted to participants pursuant to the Restricted Stock Award Agreement may be converted into the number of
shares of Company Common Stock equal to the number of restricted stock units at such time as such units are no longer subject to restrictions as established by the Committee.

Assumption of MyMD Florida Stock Options

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, effective as of the effective time of the Merger, the Company assumed pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s Second Amendment to Amended and
Restated 2016 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), assuming all of pre-Merger MYMD Florida’s rights and obligations with respect to the options issued thereunder.

In addition, under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company assumed all of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s rights and obligations under pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s
stock options that were outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, and each such stock option, whether or not vested, was converted into a stock option
representing the right to purchase shares of Company Common Stock, on terms substantially the same as those in effect immediately prior to the effective time, except that the
number of shares of Company Common Stock issuable and the exercise price per share of such stock options was adjusted by the Exchange Ratio. Additionally, the number of
shares and exercise price per share of Company Common Stock under the assumed pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options was further adjusted by the Reverse Stock Split.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on April 16, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the “A&R Charter”) with the Secretary of State of the
State of New Jersey, which was approved by the Company’s stockholders on April 15, 2021. Among other things, the A&R Charter (i) changed the Company’s name to MyMD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., (ii) increased the number of shares of Company Common Stock available from 100,000,000 shares to a total of 500,000,000 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock, (iii) changed the structure of the board of directors from a classified board of three classes to a non-classified board of a single class, and (iv) simplified and
consolidated various provisions.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations.

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q and other reports filed by MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“MyMD,” “we” or the “Company”) from time to time with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC” and such reports, collectively, the “Filings™) contain or may contain forward-looking statements and information that are based upon beliefs
of, and information currently available to, the Company’s management as well as estimates and assumptions made by Company’s management. Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which are only predictions and speak only as of the date hereof. When used in the Filings, the words “anticipate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” or the negative of these terms and similar expressions as they relate to the Company or the Company’s management
identify forward-looking statements. Such statements reflect the current view of the Company with respect to future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties, assumptions,
and other factors, including the risks relating to the Company’s business, industry, and the Company’s operations and results of operations. Should one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ significantly from those anticipated, believed, estimated, expected,
intended, or planned.

2 <

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, the Company cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity,
performance, or achievements. Except as required by applicable law, including the securities laws of the United States, the Company does not intend to update any of the
forward-looking statements to conform these statements to actual results.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results and events anticipated or implied by such forward-looking statements include, but are not
limited to:



fluctuation and volatility in market price of our common stock due to market and industry factors, as well as general economic, political and market conditions;

the impact of dilution on our shareholders;

our ability to realize the intended benefits of the Merger (as defined below) and the Contribution Transaction (as defined below);

the impact of our ability to realize the anticipated tax impact of the Merger;

the outcome of litigation or other proceedings we may become subject to in the future;

delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq;

our availability and ability to continue to obtain sufficient funding to conduct planned research and development efforts and realize potential profits;

our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates, including MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and other future product candidates;

the impact of the complexity of the regulatory landscape on our ability to seek and obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, both within and outside of the

US.;

the required investment of substantial time, resources and effort for successful clinical development and marketization of our product candidates;

challenges we may face with maintaining regulatory approval, if achieved;

the potential impact of changes in the legal and regulatory landscape, both within and outside of the U.S.;

the impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on the administration, funding and policies of regulatory authorities, both within and outside of the U.S.;

our dependence on third parties to conduct pre-clinical and clinical trials and manufacture its product candidates;

the impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on our results of operations, business plan and the global economy;

challenges we may face with respect to its product candidates achieving market acceptance by providers, patients, patient advocacy groups, third party payors and the

general medical community;

the impact of pricing, insurance coverage and reimbursement status of our product candidates;

emerging competition and rapidly advancing technology in our industry;

e our ability to obtain, maintain and protect its trade secrets or other proprietary rights, operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others and prevent others
from infringing on its proprietary rights;

e  our ability to maintain adequate cyber security and information systems;

e  our ability to achieve the expected benefits and costs of the transactions related to the acquisition of Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Supera”);
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our ability to effectively execute and deliver our plans related to commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy;
emerging competition and rapidly advancing technology in our industry;

our ability to obtain adequate financing in the future on reasonable terms, as and when we need it;

challenges we may face in identifying, acquiring and operating new business opportunities;

our ability to retain and attract senior management and other key employees;

our ability to quickly and effectively respond to new technological developments;

changes in political, economic or regulatory conditions generally and in the markets in which we operate; and

our compliance with all laws, rules, and regulations applicable to our business.

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). These accounting principles require us to
make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information
available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. Our financial statements would be
affected to the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual results. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically
dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative
would not produce a materially different result. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in
this report.

Overview

We were historically a developer of rapid health information technologies but since March 2020, have been primarily focused on the development of a vaccine candidate
against SARS-CoV-2, a coronavirus currently causing a pandemic throughout the world (“COVID-19”). Following closing of the Merger and the Contribution Transaction
described below that occurred on April 16, 2021, we have been focused on developing and commercializing two therapeutic platforms based on well-defined therapeutic
targets, MyMD-1 and SUPERA-CBD:

e MyMD-1 is a clinical stage small molecule that regulates the immunometabolic system to treat autoimmune disease, including (but not limited to) multiple sclerosis,
diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, and inflammatory bowel disease. MyMD-1 is being developed to treat age-related illnesses such as frailty and sarcopenia. MyMD-1 works
by regulating the release of numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF-a, interleukin 6 (“IL-6) and interleukin 17 (“IL-17""). MyMD-1 will be evaluated in
patients with depression due to COVID-19 related to the release of cytokines. The company has significant intellectual property coverage to protect these autoimmune
indications, as well as therapy as an anti-aging product;

o  Supera-CBD is a synthetic derivative of CBD being developed to treat various conditions, including, but not limited to, epilepsy, pain, and anxiety/depression, through
its effects on the CB2 receptor, and a monoamine oxidase enzyme (“MAO”) type B. Supera-CBD has shown tremendous promise in treating neuroinflammatory and
neurodegenerative diseases, and will be a major focus as the Company moves forward.

The rights to Supera-CBD were previously owned by Supera and were acquired by MyMD Florida (as defined below) immediately prior to the closing of the Merger.
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Recent Developments
Closing of the Merger and Reverse Stock Split

On April 16, 2021, pursuant to the previously announced Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated November 11, 2020 (the “Original Merger Agreement”), as
amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated March 16, 2021 (the Original Merger Agreement, as amended by Amendment No. 1, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among
MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New Jersey corporation previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”), Merger Sub, and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida),
Inc., a Florida corporation previously known as MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“MyMD Florida™), Merger Sub was merged with and into MyMD Florida, with MyMD Florida
continuing after the merger as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). At the effective time of the Merger, without any action on the
part of any stockholder, each issued and outstanding share of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “MyMD Florida Common Stock™),
including shares underlying pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s outstanding equity awards, was converted into the right to receive (x) 0.7718 shares (the “Exchange Ratio”) of the
Company’s common stock, no par value per share (the “Company Common Stock”), (y) an amount in cash, on a pro rata basis, equal to the aggregate cash proceeds received by
the Company from the exercise of any options to purchase shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock outstanding at the effective time of the Merger assumed by the Company
upon closing of the Merger prior to the second-year anniversary of the closing of the Merger (the “Option Exercise Period”), such payment (the “Additional Consideration”),



and (z) potential milestone payment in shares of Company Common Stock up to the aggregate number of shares issued by the Company to pre-Merger MyMD Florida
stockholders at the closing of the Merger (the “Milestone Payments™) payable upon the achievement of certain market capitalization milestone events during the 36-month
period immediately following the closing of the Merger (the “Milestone Period”). Immediately following the effective time of the Merger, the Company effected a 1-for-2
reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding Company Common Stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). Upon completion of the Merger and the transactions contemplated in the
Merger Agreement, (i) the former MyMD Florida equity holders owned approximately 77.05% of the outstanding equity of the Company on a fully diluted basis, assuming the
exercise in full of the pre-funded warrants to purchase 986,486 shares of Company Common stock and including 4,188,315 shares of Company Common Stock underlying
options to purchase shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock assumed by the company at closing and after adjustments based on the Company’s net cash at closing; and (ii)
former Akers Biosciences, Inc. stockholders own approximately 22.95% of the outstanding equity of the Company.

Effective as of 4:05 pm Eastern Time on April 16, 2021, the Company filed an amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect the Reverse Stock
Split. As a result of the Reverse Stock Split, immediately following the effective time of the Merger, every two shares of the Company Common Stock held by a stockholder
immediately prior to the Reverse Stock Split were combined and reclassified into one share of the Company’s Common Stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection
with the Reverse Stock Split. Each stockholder who did not have a number of shares evenly divisible pursuant to the Reverse Stock Split ratio and who would otherwise be
entitled to receive a fractional share of Company Common Stock was entitled to receive an additional share of Company Common Stock.

In connection with the closing of the Merger, the Company changed its name to MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its NASDAQ trading symbol to MYMD. For additional
information concerning the Merger, please see Note 3 to the Company’s Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Closing of Contribution and Assignment Agreement

The Company acquired 100% of the membership interests of Cystron pursuant to a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated March 23, 2020 (as amended by
Amendment No. 1 on May 14, 2020, the “MIPA”) from certain selling parties. Cystron is a party to a License and Development Agreement (as amended and restated on March
19, 2020, in connection with our entry into the MIPA, the “License Agreement”) with Premas Biotech PVT Ltd. (“Premas”) whereby Premas granted Cystron, amongst other
things, an exclusive license with respect to Premas’ genetically engineered yeast (S. cerevisiae)-based vaccine platform, D-Crypt™, for the development of a vaccine against
COVID-19 and other coronavirus infections. We had partnered with Premas on this initiative as we sought to advance this COVID-19 vaccine candidate through the regulatory
process, both with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and the office of the drug controller in India. Premas was primarily responsible for the development of the
COVID-19 vaccine candidate through proof of concept and was entitled to receive milestone payments upon achievement of certain development milestones through proof of
concept.

As of May 14, 2020, Premas had successfully completed its vaccine prototype and obtained transmission electron microscopic (TEM) images of the recombinant virus like
particle (VLP) assembled in yeast. In July 2020, animal studies for the COVID-19 vaccine candidate were initiated in India. In addition, we announced that Premas had
successfully completed the manufacturing process for the VLP vaccine candidate. On August 27, 2020, we announced with Premas positive proof of concept results from the
animal studies conducted during a four-week test of the COVID-19 vaccine candidate in mice. On March 18, 2021, the Company and the Cystron Sellers, which are also
shareholders of Oravax Medical, Inc. (“Oravax”), entered into a Termination and Release Agreement terminating the MIPA effective upon consummation of the Contribution
Agreement. In addition, the Cystron Sellers agreed to waive any change of control payment triggered under the MIPA as a result of the Merger.
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On April 16, 2021, pursuant to the Contribution and Assignment Agreement, dated March 18, 2021 (the “Contribution Agreement”) by and among the Company, Cystron,
Oravax and, for the limited purpose set forth therein, Premas, the parties consummated the transactions contemplated therein. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, effective
upon the closing of the Merger, the Company agreed (i) to contribute an amount in cash equal to $1,500,000 to Oravax and (ii) cause Cystron to contribute substantially all of
the assets associated with its business or developing and manufacturing Cystron’s COVID-19 vaccine candidate to Oravax (the “Contribution Transaction”). In consideration for
the Company’s commitment to consummate the Contribution Transaction, Oravax issued to the Company 390,000 shares of its capital stock (equivalent to 13% of Oravax’s
outstanding capital stock on a fully diluted basis) and assumed all of the obligations or liabilities in respect of the assets of Cystron (excluding certain amounts due to Premas),
including the obligations under the license agreement with Premas. In addition, Oravax agreed to pay future royalties to the Company equal to 2.5% of all net sales of products
(or combination products) manufactured, tested, distributed and/or marketed by Oravax or its subsidiaries. For additional information concerning the Contribution Transaction,
please see Note 3 to the Company’s Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Our Business

The ultimate impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and subject to future developments. These include but are not limited to
the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, new information which may emerge concerning the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, and any additional preventative and
protective actions that regulators, or our board of directors or management of the Company, may determine are needed. We do not yet know the full extent of potential delays or
impacts on our business, our vaccine development efforts, healthcare systems or the global economy as a whole. We will continue to monitor the COVID-19 situation closely.

In response to public health directives and orders, we have implemented work-from-home policies for many of our employees and temporarily modified our operations to
comply with applicable social distancing recommendations. The effects of the orders and our related adjustments in our business are likely to negatively impact productivity,
disrupt our business and delay our timelines, the magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on our ability to
conduct our business in the ordinary course. Similar health directives and orders are affecting third parties with whom we do business. Further, restrictions on our ability to
travel, stay-at-home orders and other similar restrictions on our business have limited our ability to support our operations.

Severe and/or long-term disruptions in our operations will negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition in other ways, as well. Specifically, we
anticipate that the stress of COVID-19 on healthcare systems generally around the globe will negatively impact regulatory authorities and the third parties that we may engage
in connection with the development and testing of our therapeutic targets.

In addition, while the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, COVID-19 may be difficult to assess or predict, it has significantly disrupted global financial
markets, and may limit our ability to access capital, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity. A recession or market correction resulting from the continuation of
the COVID-19 pandemic could materially affect our business and the value of our common stock.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As discussed in Note 3 and Note 5 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the results of operations presented below exclude our screening and
testing products business due to its classification as discontinued operations.
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Summary of Statements of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

As previously disclosed, in light of the unfavorable factors persistent in our rapid, point-of-care screening and testing product business and the progress the Company had made
in its partnership with Premas, the Company conducted a strategic review of the screening and testing products business. Following such review, in early July 2020, the
Company ceased the production and sale of its rapid, point-of-care screening and testing products. The Company will continue to provide support for these testing products that



remain in the market through their respective product expiration dates. The Company had been experiencing declining sales revenue and production backlogs for these products
and, as it previously reported, had eliminated its sales force for such products. The Company determined that the discontinuation of the production and distribution of the
Company’s screening and testing products constituted a strategic shift in the Company’s business and as a result the elimination of the product lines should be presented as
discontinued operations under FASB ASC 205-20 Presentation of Financial Statements, Discontinued Operations.

Following closing of the Merger and the Contribution Transaction that occurred on April 16, 2021, the Company is focused on developing and commercializing two therapeutic
platforms based on well-defined therapeutic targets, MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD.

Revenue

We had no revenue from continuing operations during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 totaled $(19,365) as compared to $2,483,057 for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
The table below summarizes our research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 as well as the percentage of change year-over-year:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
Description 2021 2020 Percent Change
Professional Service Costs $ 9,075) $ - -%
Vaccine License and Development Costs (10,290) 2,483,057 (100)%
Total Research and Development Expenses $ (19,365) $ 2,483,057 (101)%

We reversed an accrual of $9,075 for future stock awards for members of the advisory board formed by the Company in December 2019 to assist the Board of Directors in its
strategic review including, potentially, the extraction, testing, purification and formulation of safe cannabinoids within the hemp industry in connection with its partnership with
Premas, due to the elimination of the advisory board prior to the first anniversary of its creation. As a result, professional services costs was a credit of $9,075 for the three
months ended March 31, 2021.

Vaccine license and development costs was a credit of $10,290, due to a waiver of $10,290 due Premas under the MIPA pursuant to the terms of the Contribution Agreement
that was executed on March 18, 2021.

Pursuant to the MIPA and the License Agreement, vaccine license and development expenses during the three months ended March 31, 2020 totaled $2,483,057 consisting of
the acquisition costs totaling $2,233,057 for Cystron under the MIPA and a milestone achievement of $250,000 under the Licensing Agreement.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2021, totaled $1,508,336, as compared to $1,055,148 for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
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The table below summarizes our administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 as well as the percentage of change year-over-year:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
Description 2021 2020 Percent Change
Personnel Costs $ 147,273 $ 283,507 (48)%
Professional Service Costs 698,209 512,191 36%
Stock Market & Investor Relations Costs 90,958 47,882 90%
Other Administrative Costs 571,896 211,568 170%
Total Administrative Expense $ 1,508,336 $ 1,055,148 43%

Personnel costs decreased 48% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as compared to the same period of 2020 due to the reduction in headcount.

Professional service costs increased 36% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as compared to the same period of 2020, principally due to increased accounting and legal
fees.

Stock market and investor relations costs increased 90% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as compared to the same period of 2020. The increase in these costs was
principally associated with increases in regulatory, stock exchange and transfer agent fees.

Other administrative costs increased by 170% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as compared to the same period of 2020, primarily due to an increase in restricted
stock unit expenses.

Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 totaled $0 as compared to $6,250 for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Other Income and Expense

Other income, net of expenses, for the three months ended March 31, 2021, totaled $41,700. Other income, net of expense, for the three months ended March 31, 2020 totaled
$9,989.

The table below summarizes our other income and expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, as well as the percentage of change year-over-year:

For the Three Months Ended
March 31,

Description 2021 2020

Percent Change




Realized (Gains)/Loss on Investments $ (12,649) $ 36,714 134%

Equity Investments Losses 14,402 - -%
Interest and Dividend Income (43,453) (46,703) (7%
Total Other Income, Net of Expenses $ (41,700) $ (9,989) 317%

Realized gains on investments increased by 134% for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020. The increase is principally due a general
recovery in the financial markets.

Equity investment losses were $14,402 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as compared $0 for the same period in 2020. The losses were due to a decrease in the fair
market value of the equity investments.

Interest and dividend income decreased to $43,453 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to $46,703 for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2021, our cash on hand totaled $569,366 and marketable securities totaling $30,480,537. We incurred a net loss from continuing operations of $1,447,271 and
a net loss from discontinued operations of $35,392 for the three months ended March 31, 2021. As of March 31, 2021, we had working capital of $31,923,792, shareholders’
equity of $33,423,792 and an accumulated deficit of $138,646,402. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, cash flows used in operating activities were $2,482,947,
consisting primarily of a net loss of $1,482,663 and an decrease in trade and other payables of $1,368,151 offset by non-cash share based compensation of $326,989. Since the
Company’s inception, we have met our liquidity requirements principally through the sale of our common stock in public offerings and private placements.

On November 11, 2020, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, we agreed to provide a bridge loan up to an aggregate principal amount of $3,000,000 to pre-
Merger MyMD Florida pursuant to a secured promissory note (the “Bridge Loan Note”). Advances under the Bridge Loan Note (“Bridge Loan Advances”) were made in the
amounts and at the times as needed to fund pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s operating expenses. Bridge Loan Advances accrue interest at 5% per annum, which may be increased
to 8% per annum upon occurrence of any event of default, from the date of such default. The principal and the accrued interest thereon are to be repaid on the earliest of (a)
April 15, 2022; (b); if the merger was consummated, then upon demand of the Company following the consummation of the Merger; or (c) the date on which the obligations
under the Bridge Loan Note are accelerated upon event of default as set forth in the Bridge Loan Note. The payment and performance of all obligations under the Note are were
secured by a first priority security interest in all of MyMD Florida’s right, title and interest in and to its assets as collateral. The outstanding principal amount and the accrued
interest of the Bridge Loan Note were convertible into shares of MyMD Florida Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement.

In connection with the consummation of the Merger, the line of credit evidenced by the First Amended Line of Credit Agreement and Note, dated May 30, 2019, between pre-
Merger MyMD Florida and the Starwood Trust (the “Starwood Line of Credit” was paid in full. The $3,740,386.92 needed for the payoff of the Starwood Line of Credit was
included in the Company’s minimum net cash amount for the closing of the Merger.

Concurrently with the Merger Agreement, on November 11, 2020, the Company entered into the Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Company and certain
institutional and accredited investors (the “SPA Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to the SPA Purchasers in a private placement (i) an
aggregate of 4,882,980 shares of Company Common Stock, at an offering price of $3.70 per share or, at the election of each investor, Prefunded Warrants (as defined therein),
and (ii) for each share of Company Common Stock (or for each Prefunded Warrant, as applicable) purchased in the private placement, a common warrant to purchase one share
of Company Common Stock, for gross proceeds of approximately $18.1 million before the deduction of placement agent fees and expenses and estimated offering expenses.

In connection with the consummation of the Contribution Transaction, on March 18, 2021 the Company recognized an obligation of $1,500,000 to Oravax.

We believe that that our current financial resources as of the date of the issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements are sufficient to fund our current twelve-
month operating budget, and satisfying our estimated liquidity needs for twelve months from the issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Operating Activities
Our net cash used by operating activities totaled $2,482,947 during the three months ended March 31, 2021. Net cash used consisted principally of the net losses from
continuing and discontinued operations of $1,482,663 and an increase in trade and other payables of $1,368,153, partially offset by non-cash share-based compensation of

$326,989.

Our net cash used by operating activities totaled $1,966,983 during the three months ended March 31, 2020. Net cash used consisted principally of the net loss from continuing
operations of $3,534,466 and partially offset by non-cash share-based compensation of $1,233,057 and an increase in trade and other payables of $531,819.
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Investing Activities

Our net cash used in investing activities totaled $15,565,642 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, as compared to cash provided by investing activities total $2,261,901
during the three months ended March 31, 2020. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, we purchased securities totaling $15,269,129 (2020: $41,989), advanced pre-
Merger MyMD Florida $1,800,000 (2020: $0) under the bridge loan and sold securities totaling $1,503,487 (2020: $2,303,890).

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $0 as compared to $77 during the three months ended March 31, 2020.

Critical Accounting Policies

See accounting policies in Note 2 of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this report.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no significant known off balance sheet arrangements.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not applicable.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, have concluded that,
based on such evaluation, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

44

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves and our
customers by determining the scope, enforceability, and validity of third-party proprietary rights or to establish our proprietary rights. For a description of certain legal
proceedings, please read Note 8 to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following description of risk factors includes any material changes to, and supersedes the description of, risk factors associated with our business, financial condition and
results of operations previously disclosed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our 2020 10-K, as filed with the SEC on March 1, 2021. Our business, financial condition and operating
results can be affected by a number of factors, whether currently known or unknown, including but not limited to those described below, any one or more of which could,
directly or indirectly, cause our actual financial condition and operating results to vary materially from past, or from anticipated future, financial condition and operating results.
Any of these factors, in whole or in part, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and stock price.

The following discussion of risk factors contains forward-looking statements. These risk factors may be important to understanding other statements in this Form 10-Q. The
following information should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes in Part I, Item 1, “Financial Statements” and Part I,
Item 2, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-Q.

Risk Factory Summary

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address all of the risk factors that we
face. Additional discussion of risks summarized in this risk factory summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below under the heading “Risk Factors” and should be
carefully considered, together with other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020,
and our other filings with the SEC before making investment decisions regarding our common stock.

Risks Related to the Company Following the Merger

e  Our stockholders may not realize a benefit from the Merger commensurate with the ownership dilution they experienced in connection with the Merger.

e  The market price of our common stock may be subject to significant fluctuations and volatility, and the stockholders of the Company may be unable to resell their shares
at a profit and may incur losses.

e We may issue additional equity securities in the future, which may result in dilution to existing investors.

e The concentration of the capital stock ownership with insiders of the Company following the Merger will likely limit the ability of our stockholders to influence
corporate matters.

e The sale or availability for sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock after expiration of the lock-up period could adversely affect the market price of
such shares.

e We may not be able to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights, which could harm our competitive position.

An active trading market for our common stock may not develop.

e The intended benefits of the Contribution Transaction may not be realized.

45

Risks Related to our Product Development and Regulatory Approval

e If we are unable to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize MyMD-1, Supera-CBD, or other future product candidates, or if we experience significant
delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

® Success in pre-clinical studies and earlier clinical trials for our product candidates may not be indicative of the results that may be obtained in later clinical trials,
including our Phase 2 clinical trial for MyMD-1, which may delay or prevent obtaining regulatory approval.

e Even if we complete the necessary pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, we cannot predict when, or if, we will obtain regulatory approval to commercialize a product
candidate and the approval may be for a narrower indication than we seek.

o The COVID-19 pandemic, or similar public health crises, could have a material adverse impact the execution of our planned clinical trials.

o Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to extensive post-marketing regulatory requirements and could be subject to post-
marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if it experiences
unanticipated problems with our product candidates, when and if any of them are approved.

o  Our development program for Supera-CBD, a synthetic derivative of CBD, is uncertain and may not yield commercial results and is subject to significant regulatory
risks.

Risks Related to Commercialization and Manufacturing



o The commercial success of our product candidates, including MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD, will depend upon their degree of market acceptance by providers, patients,
patient advocacy groups, third-party payors, and the general medical community.

e The pricing, insurance coverage, and reimbursement status of newly approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement
for our product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate product revenue.

e Ifthird parties on which we depend to conduct our planned pre-clinical studies or clinical trials, do not perform as contractually required, fail to satisfy regulatory or
legal requirements or miss expected deadlines, our development program could be delayed with adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

e  We face significant competition in an environment of rapid pharmacological change and it is possible that our competitors may achieve regulatory approval before us or
develop therapies that are more advanced or effective than our, which may harm our business, financial condition and our ability to successfully market or
commercialize MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and our other product candidates.

e  The manufacture of drugs is complex, and our third-party manufacturers may encounter difficulties in production. If any of our third-party manufacturers encounter such

difficulties, our ability to provide supply of MyMD-1, Supera-CBD or our other product candidates for clinical trials, our ability to obtain marketing approval, or our
ability to provide supply of our product candidates for patients, if approved, could be delayed or stopped.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

e Enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to commercialize and obtain marketing approval of our product candidates and may affect the
prices we may set.

e The FDA’s ability to review and approve new products may be hindered by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key
personnel, statutory, regulatory and policy changes and global health concerns.

e  Our operations and relationships with future customers, providers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare

laws and regulations, which could expose us to penalties including criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and
future earnings.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

e Oursuccess depends in part on our ability to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property. It is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights and
technology, and we may not be able to ensure their adequate protection.

e  Our potential strategy of obtaining rights to key technologies through in-licenses may not be successful.

e Changes in patent law in the U.S. and in non-U.S. jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product

candidates.

In addition, we face other business, financial, operational and legal risks and uncertainties set forth under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and
Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

Risks Related to the Company Following the Merger

Our stockholders may not realize a benefit from the Merger commensurate with the ownership dilution they will experience in connection with the Merger.

If we are unable to realize the full strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the Merger, our stockholders will have experienced substantial dilution of their
ownership interests in their respective pre-Merger companies without receiving any commensurate benefit, or only receiving part of the commensurate benefit to the extent the
combined organization is able to realize only part of the strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the Merger. Furthermore, if the we fail to realize the intended
benefits of the merger, the market price of our common stock could decline to the extent that the market price reflects those benefits.

The market price of our common stock after the Merger may be subject to significant fluctuations and volatility, and the stockholders of the Company may be unable to
resell their shares at a profit and may incur losses.

Prior to April 2021, there has not been a public market for the combined Company’s common stock. The market price of the combined Company’s common stock could be
subject to significant fluctuation following the Merger. The pre-Merger business of the Company differs from its post-Merger business in important respects and, accordingly,
the results of operations of the combined Company and the market price of the combined Company’s common stock following the Merger may be affected by factors different
from those affecting the results of operations of the Company prior to the Merger. Market prices for securities of life sciences and biopharmaceutical companies in particular
have historically been particularly volatile and have shown extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors, as well as general economic, political and market conditions such as recessions or interest rate changes,
may seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of the actual operating performance of the combined company. Some of the factors that may cause the
market price of our common stock to fluctuate include:

investors reacting negatively to the effect on our business and prospects from the Merger;

the announcement of new products, new developments, services or technological innovations by us or our competitors;

actual or anticipated quarterly increases or decreases in revenue, gross margin or earnings, and changes in our business, operations or prospects;
announcements relating to strategic relationships, mergers, acquisitions, partnerships, collaborations, joint ventures, capital commitments, or other events by the us
or our competitors;

conditions or trends in the life sciences and biopharmaceutical industries;

changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other life sciences and biopharmaceutical companies;

general market conditions or domestic or international macroeconomic and geopolitical factors unrelated to our performance or financial condition;
sale of our common stock by stockholders, including executives and directors;

volatility and limitations in trading volumes of our common stock;

volatility in the market prices and trading volumes of the life sciences and biopharmaceutical stocks;
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e  our ability to finance our business;
ability to secure resources and the necessary personnel to pursue our plans;
failure to meet external expectations or management guidance;

changes in our capital structure or dividend policy, future issuances of securities, sales or distributions of large blocks of common stock by stockholders;
our cash position;

announcements and events surrounding financing efforts, including debt and equity securities;

analyst research reports, recommendations and changes in recommendations, price targets, and withdrawals of coverage;

departures and additions of key personnel;



disputes and litigation related to intellectual properties, proprietary rights, and contractual obligations;
investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;

changes in applicable laws, rules, regulations, or accounting practices and other dynamics; and

other events or factors, many of which may be out of our control.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market prices of particular companies’ securities, securities class action litigation has often been
instituted against these companies. Litigation of this type, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources of the
Company. Any adverse determination in any such litigation or any amounts paid to settle any such actual or threatened litigation could require that the we make significant
payments.

Moreover, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant financial market volatility and uncertainty in recent months. A continuation or worsening of the levels of market
disruption and volatility seen in the recent past could have an adverse effect on our ability to access capital, on our business, results of operations and financial condition, and on
the market price of our common stock.

After the Merger was consummated, the business operations, strategies and focus of the Company fund lly changed, and these changes may not result in an
improvement in the value of our common stock.

Following the Merger, our primary products are MyMD Florida’s therapeutic platforms: MyMD-1, a clinical-stage immunometabolic regulator and Supera-CBD, a pre-clinical
stage patented synthetic cannabidiol (“CBD”) derivative. We expect to incur losses as we develop our product candidates, and our product candidates, may never get approved
by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) or even if approved for marketing, may not be profitable. The failure to successfully develop product candidates will
significantly diminish the anticipated benefits of the Merger and have a material adverse effect on our business. There is no assurance that our business operations, strategies or
focus will be successful, which could depress the value of our common stock.

We may issue additional equity securities in the future, which may result in dilution to existing investors.

To the extent we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience substantial dilution. The combined Company may, from time to time, sell

additional equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner it determines. If the we sell additional equity securities, existing stockholders may be materially
diluted. In addition, new investors could gain rights superior to existing stockholders, such as liquidation and other preferences. In addition, the number of shares available for
future grant under our equity compensation plans may be increased in the future. In addition, the exercise or conversion of outstanding options or warrants to purchase shares of
capital stock may result in dilution to our stockholders upon any such exercise or conversion.

All of our outstanding shares of common stock are, and any Milestone Shares of our common stock that may be issued in the future, will be, freely tradable without restrictions
or further registration under the Securities Act, except for shares subject to lock-up agreements, and any shares held by affiliates, as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities
Act. Rule 144 defines an affiliate as a person who directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, the
Company and would include persons such as our directors and executive officers and large shareholders. In turn, resales, or the perception by the market that a substantial
number of resales could occur, could have the effect of depressing the market price of our common stock.
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The concentration of the capital stock ownership with insiders of the Company after the Merger will likely limit the ability of our stockholders to influence corporate
matters.

Following the Supera Purchase and the Merger, the executive officers, directors, five percent or greater stockholders, and the respective affiliated entities of the Company, in the
aggregate, beneficially owned more than 20% of the Company’s outstanding common stock. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, have control over matters that
require approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. Corporate actions might be taken even if other
stockholders oppose them. This concentration of ownership might also have the effect of delaying or preventing a corporate transaction that other stockholders may view as
beneficial.

Certain stockholders could attempt to influence changes within the Company, which could adversely affect our operations, financial condition and the value of our
common stock.

Our stockholders may from time to time seek to acquire a controlling stake in the Company, engage in proxy solicitations, advance stockholder proposals or otherwise attempt to
effect changes. Campaigns by stockholders to effect changes at publicly traded companies are sometimes led by investors seeking to increase short-term stockholder value
through actions such as financial restructuring, increased debt, special dividends, stock repurchases or sales of assets or the entire company. Responding to proxy contests and
other actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming and could disrupt our operations and divert the attention of our Board of Directors and senior
management. These actions could adversely affect our operations, financial condition, and the value of our common stock.

The sale or availability for sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock after expiration of the lock-up period could adversely affect the market price of
such shares.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market after expiration of the lock-up period and other legal restrictions on resale, or the perception
that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of such shares and could materially impair our ability to raise capital through equity offerings in the future.
Upon completion of the Merger and the transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement, the Company issued 28,553,307 post reverse stock split shares of Company
Common Stock to the former stakeholders of pre-Merger MyMD Florida at the Exchange Ratio. Shares that were issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida stockholders as merger
consideration may be resold in the public market immediately without restriction, unless such stockholder is subject to a lock-up or other restriction on resale. All of the
previous executive officers, directors and principal stockholders of pre-Merger MyMD Florida, and all of our directors who continued to serve on the Board of Directors of the
combined Company after the Merger are subject to lock-up agreements pursuant to which such stockholders have agreed, except in limited circumstances, not to transfer, grant
an option with respect to, sell, exchange, pledge or otherwise dispose of, or encumber, any shares of Company capital stock for 180 days following the effective time of the
Merger. We may permit our officers, directors, employees, and certain stockholders who are subject to the lock-up agreements to sell shares prior to the expiration of the lock-
up agreements. After the lock-up agreements expire, the shares of our common stock (excluding securities underlying options and warrants) held by our directors, executive
officers and principal stockholders will be subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act and various vesting agreements. We are unable to predict what
effect, if any, market sales of securities held by our significant stockholders, directors or officers or the availability of these securities for future sale will have on the market
price of our common stock in the future.

We also assumed approximately 4,188,315 shares of common stock subject to outstanding options to purchase pre-Merger MyMD Florida common stock. We registered all of
the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options to purchase MyMD Florida common stock, and therefore upon the exercise of any options or other
equity incentives we may grant in the future, for public resale under the Securities Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon
issuance as permitted by any applicable vesting requirements, subject to the lock-up agreements described above.
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If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they publish negative evaluations, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the availability of research and reports that third-party industry or financial analysts publish about us. There are many
large, publicly traded companies active in the life sciences and biopharmaceutical industries, which may mean it will be less likely that we receive widespread analyst coverage.
Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who do cover the Company (if any) downgrades our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts
cease coverage of the Company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline. Additionally, if securities analysts publish negative
evaluations of competitors in the life sciences and biopharmaceutical industries, the comparative effect could cause our stock price to decline.

Anti-takeover provisions under New Jersey corporate law may make it difficult for our stockholders to replace or remove our Board of Directors and could deter or delay
third parties from acquiring us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders.

We are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of New Jersey law, including Section 14A-10A of the New Jersey Shareholders Protection Act. These statutes prohibit an

“interested stockholder” of the Company from effecting a business combination with us for a period of five years unless our Board of Directors approved the combination or
transaction or series of related transactions that caused such person to become an interested stockholder prior to the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder or after the
stockholder becomes an interested stockholder if the subsequent business combination is approved by (i) our Board of Directors (or a committee thereof consisting solely of
persons independent from the interested stockholder), and (ii) the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting stock not beneficially owned by such interested stockholder. In
addition, but not in limitation of the five-year restriction, we may not engage at any time in a business combination with any interested stockholder the Company unless the
combination is approved by our Board of Directors (or a committee thereof consisting solely of persons independent from such interested stockholder) prior to the
consummation of the business combination, and the combination receives the approval of a majority of the voting stock of the Company not beneficially owned by the
interested stockholder if the transaction or series of related transactions which caused the interested stockholder to become an interested stockholder was approved by the Board
of Directors prior to the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. These provisions could discourage a third party from making a takeover offer and could delay or
prevent a change of control. For purposes of Section 14A-10A of the New Jersey Shareholders Protection Act, “interested stockholder” means, generally, any beneficial owner
of 10% or more of the voting power of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any affiliate or associate of the corporation who within the prior five year period has
at any time owned 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding stock of the corporation.

The stockholder rights agreement adopted by our Board of Directors may impair an attempt to acquire control of the Company.

On September 9, 2020, our Board of Directors entered into that certain Rights Agreement, dated as of September 9, 2020, between the Company and VStock Transfer, LLC, as
Rights Agent (the “Rights Agreement”) and declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of our common stock to
stockholders of record on September 21, 2020. Each Right is transferred with common stock and entitles the registered holder, subject to the terms of the Rights Agreement to
purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series E Junior Participating Preferred Stock at $15.00, subject to certain adjustments. Each share of Series E Preferred
Stock will be entitled to a preferential per share dividend rate equal to the greater of (i) $0.001 and (ii) the sum of (1) 1,000 times the aggregate per share amount of all cash
dividends, plus (2) 1,000 times the aggregate per share amount (payable in kind) of all non-cash dividends or other distributions other than certain dividends or subdivisions of
the outstanding shares of common stock. Each share of Series E Preferred Stock will entitle the holder thereof to a number of votes equal to 1,000 on all matters submitted to a
vote of our stockholders. In the event of any merger, consolidation or other transaction in which shares of common stock are exchanged, each share of Series E Preferred Stock
will be entitled to receive 1,000 times the amount received per one share of common stock, subject to certain adjustments. The Rights Agreement remained in effect following
the consummation of the Merger pursuant to the Merger Agreement, and the Rights Agreement could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of the Company
or a large block of our common stock without the approval of our Board of Directors.
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An active trading market for our common stock may not develop.

The listing of our common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market does not assure that a meaningful, consistent and liquid trading market exists. An active trading market for
shares of our common stock may never develop or be sustained. If an active market for our common stock does not develop, it may be difficult for investors to sell their shares
either without depressing the market price for the shares or at all.

We expect that we will need to raise additional funding before we can expect to become profitable from any potential future sales of our product candidates. This additional
financing may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed may force us to delay, limit or terminate our product
development efforts or other operations.

We will require substantial future capital in order to complete planned and future pre-clinical and clinical development for MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD and potentially
commercialize these product candidates. We expect increased spending levels in connection with our clinical trials of our product candidates. In addition, if we obtains
marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant expenses related to commercial launch, product sales, medical affairs, regulatory,
marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain
substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations before any commercial revenue may occur.

Additional capital might not be available when we need it and our actual cash requirements might be greater than anticipated. If we require additional capital at a time when
investment in its industry or in the marketplace in general is limited, we might not be able to raise funding on favorable terms, if at all. If we are not able to obtain financing
when needed or on terms favorable to us, we may need to delay, reduce or eliminate certain research and development programs or other operations, sell some or all of our
assets or merge with another entity.

We must attract and retain highly skilled employees to succeed.

To succeed, we must recruit, retain, manage and motivate qualified clinical, scientific, technical and management personnel, and we face significant competition for experienced
personnel. If we do not succeed in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, particularly at the management level, it could adversely affect our ability to execute our business
plan, harm our results of operations and increase our capabilities to successfully commercialize MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and our other product candidates. The competition for
qualified personnel in the biotechnology field is intense and as a result, we may be unable to continue to attract and retain qualified personnel necessary for the development of
our business or to recruit suitable replacement personnel.

Many of the other biotechnology companies that we compete against for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles and a longer
history in the industry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advancement. Some of these characteristics may be more
appealing to high-quality candidates than what we have to offer. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high-quality personnel, the rate and success at which we can
discover and develop product candidates and our business will be limited.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could harm our business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment
and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations will involve the use of hazardous materials, including chemicals and biological materials. Our operations also
may produce hazardous waste products. We generally anticipate contracting with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We will not be able to eliminate the
risk of contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from any use by us of hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any
resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties for failure to comply



with such laws and regulations.

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous
materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities.
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In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations. These current or future laws and
regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or
other sanctions.

The intended benefits of the Contribution Transaction may not be realized.
The Contribution Transaction poses risks for our ongoing operations, including, among others:

e if Oravax is not successful in developing the COVID-19 vaccine candidate, we may not realize any value out of our ownership of Oravax shares; and
e  costs and expenses associated with any undisclosed or potential liabilities.

As a result of the foregoing, we may be unable to realize the full strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the Contribution Transaction, and we cannot assure
you that the Contribution Transaction will be accretive in the near term or at all. Furthermore, if we fail to realize the intended benefits of the Contribution Transaction, the
market price of our common stock could decline to the extent that the market price reflects those benefits.

Risks Related to our Product Development and Regulatory Approval

If we are unable to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize MyMD-1, Supera-CBD or other future product candidates, or if we experience significant
delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

We have invested a substantial amount of efforts and financial resources in MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD. We plan to initiate Phase 2 clinical trials for treatment of diabetes,
rheumatoid arthritis, aging and multiple sclerosis with MyMD-1 and IND-enabling studies of Supera-CBD to enable submission of an Investigational New Drug (“IND”)
application for a Phase 1 in healthy volunteers followed by clinical trials in epilepsy, addiction and anxiety disorders. In order to conduct human clinical trials, we are required
obtain approval from Institutional Review Boards (“IRBs”) or Ethics committees. IRBs are independent committee organizations that operate in compliance with U.S. federal
regulations (including, but not limited to 21 C.F.R. Parts 50 and 56, and 45 C.F.R. Part 46) in order to help protect the rights of research subjects under the federal Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”). IRBs provide expertise in examining research for its ethical implications, including research involving
vulnerable populations, such as pediatrics, critically ill, and cognitively impaired participants. There is no guarantee that an IRB will approve our current product candidates for
human clinical trials. Without IRB approval, the Company would not be able to perform clinical research on humans and our products would not be able to move through the
regulatory approval process.

Our ability to generate product revenue will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and our other product
candidates, which may never occur. We currently generate no revenue from sales of any product and we may never be able to develop or commercialize a marketable product.

Each of our programs and product candidates will require further clinical and/or pre-clinical development, regulatory approval in multiple jurisdictions, obtaining pre-clinical,
clinical and commercial manufacturing supply, capacity and expertise, building of a commercial organization, substantial investment and significant marketing efforts before we
generate any revenue from product sales. MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD and our other product candidates must be authorized for marketing by the FDA and certain other foreign
regulatory agencies before we may commercialize any of our product candidates.
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The success of our product candidates depends on multiple factors, including:

e successful completion of pre-clinical studies, including those compliant with Good Laboratory Practices (“GLP”) or GLP toxicology studies, biodistribution studies
and minimum effective dose studies in animals, and successful enrollment and completion of clinical trials compliant with current Good Clinical Practices
(“GCPs”);

e cffective INDs and Clinical Trial Authorizations (“CTAs”) that allow commencement of our planned clinical trials or future clinical trials for our product candidates
in relevant territories;

e approval from IRBs or Ethics committees to conduct human clinical trials;

e  cstablishing and maintaining relationships with contract research organizations (“CROs”), and clinical sites for the clinical development of our product candidates;

e successful clearance of products arriving from foreign countries, needed to perform clinical trials, through U.S. customs;

e maintenance of arrangements with third-party contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”) for key materials used in our manufacturing processes and to
establish backup sources for clinical and large-scale commercial supply;

e  positive results from our clinical programs that are supportive of safety and efficacy and provide an acceptable risk-benefit profile for our product candidates in the
intended patient populations;

e receipt of regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities, including those necessary for pricing and reimbursement of our product candidates;

e establishment and maintenance of patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates;

e commercial launch of our product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

e acceptance of our product candidates, if and when approved, by patients, patient advocacy groups, third-party payors and the general medical community;

e our effective competition against other therapies available in the market;

e establishment and maintenance of adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for our product candidates;

e our ability to acquire or in-license additional product candidates;

e prosecution, maintenance, enforcement and defense of intellectual property rights and claims;

e maintenance of a continued acceptable safety profile of our product candidates following approval, including meeting any post-marketing commitments or

requirements imposed by or agreed to with applicable regulatory authorities; or
e political factors surrounding the approval process, such as government shutdowns, political instability or global pandemics such as the outbreak of the novel strain
of coronavirus, COVID-19.

If we do not succeed in one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to successfully commercialize our
product candidates, which would materially harm our business. If we do not receive regulatory approvals for our product candidates, we may not be able to continue our
operations.

Success in pre-clinical studies and earlier clinical trials for our product candidates may not be indicative of the results that may be obtained in later clinical trials,
including our Phase 2 clinical trial for MyMD-1, which may delay or prevent obtaining regulatory approval.



Clinical development is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process.
Success in pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials may not be predictive of results in later-stage clinical trials, and successful results from early or small clinical trials may
not be replicated or show as favorable an outcome in later-stage or larger clinical trials, even if successful. We will be required to demonstrate through adequate and well-
controlled clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective for their intended uses before we can seek regulatory approvals for their commercial sale. The conduct
of Phase 2 and Phase 3 trials, and the submission of a New Drug Application (“NDA”) is a complicated process. We have not previously conducted any clinical trials, and have
limited experience in preparing, submitting and supporting regulatory filings. Consequently, we may be unable to successfully and efficiently execute and complete necessary
clinical trials and other requirements in a way that leads to NDA submission and approval of any product candidate we are developing.
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Many companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials after achieving positive results in early-stage development, and
there is a high failure rate for product candidates proceeding through clinical trials. In addition, different methodologies, assumptions and applications we utilize to assess
particular safety or efficacy parameters may yield different statistical results. Even if we believe the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates are promising,
these data may not be sufficient to support approval by the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities. Pre-clinical and clinical data can be interpreted in different ways.
Accordingly, the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities could interpret these data in different ways from us or our partners, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory
approval. If our study data do not consistently or sufficiently demonstrate the safety or efficacy of any of our product candidates, including MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD, to the
satisfaction of the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities, then the regulatory approvals for such product candidates could be significantly delayed as we work to meet approval
requirements, or, if we are not able to meet these requirements, such approvals could be withheld or withdrawn.

Even if we complete the necessary pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, we cannot predict when, or if, we will obtain regulatory approval to commercialize a product
candidate and the approval may be for a narrower indication than we seek.

Prior to commercialization, MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and our other product candidates must be approved by the FDA pursuant to an NDA in the U.S. The process of obtaining
marketing approvals, both in the U.S. and abroad, is expensive and takes many years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors,
including the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. Failure to obtain marketing approval for a product candidate will prevent us from
commercializing the product candidate. We have not received approval to market MyMD-1, Supera-CBD or any of our other product candidates from regulatory authorities in
any jurisdiction. We have limited experience in submitting and supporting the applications necessary to gain marketing approvals, and, in the event regulatory authorities
indicate that we may submit such applications, we may be unable to do so as quickly and efficiently as desired. Securing marketing approval requires the submission of
extensive pre-clinical and clinical data and supporting information to regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and
efficacy. Securing marketing approval also requires the submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the
regulatory authorities. Our product candidates may not be effective, may be only moderately effective or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or
other characteristics that may preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use. Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval
process and may refuse to accept or file any application or may decide that our data is insufficient for approval and require additional pre-clinical, clinical or other studies. In
addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from pre-clinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate.

Approval of MyMD-1, Supera-CBD or our other product candidates may be delayed or refused for many reasons, including:

e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of our clinical trials;

we may be unable to demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, that our product candidates are safe and effective for

any of their proposed indications;

the populations studied in clinical trials may not be sufficiently broad or representative to assure efficacy and safety in the populations for which we seek approval;

the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for approval;

we may be unable to demonstrate that our product candidates’ clinical and other benefits outweigh their safety risks;

the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or other comparable submission in

foreign jurisdictions or to obtain regulatory approval in the U.S. or elsewhere;

e the facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract or procure certain service or raw materials, may not be adequate to support approval of our
product candidates; and

e the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data
insufficient for approval.
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Even if our product candidates meet their pre-specified safety and efficacy endpoints in clinical trials, the regulatory authorities may not complete their review processes in a
timely manner and may not consider such the clinical trial results sufficient to grant, or we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval. Additional delays may result if an
FDA Advisory Committee or other regulatory authority recommends non-approval or restrictions on approval. In addition, we may experience delays or rejections based upon
additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action, or changes in regulatory authority policy during the period of product development, clinical
trials and the review process.

Regulatory authorities also may approve a product candidate for more limited indications than requested or they may impose significant limitations in the form of narrow
indications, warnings, contraindications or Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies (“REMS”). These regulatory authorities may also grant approval subject to the
performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials. In addition, regulatory authorities may not approve the labeling claims that are necessary or desirable for the successful
commercialization of our product candidates. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects for our product candidates and adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The COVID-19 pandemic, or similar public health crises, could have a material adverse impact the execution of our planned clinical trials.

Our planned Phase 2 clinical trial for MyMD-1 has been and may continue to be affected by the pandemic. Initial studies indicate that MyMD-1 may have potential therapeutic
effects on treatment of COVID-19. MYMD may not be successful in demonstrating the efficacy of this treatment before another, more effective drug enters the market.
Furthermore, site initiation, participant recruitment and enrollment, participant dosing, distribution of clinical trial materials, study monitoring and data analysis for our planned
clinical trials may be delayed due to changes in hospital or university policies, federal, state or local regulations, prioritization of hospital resources toward pandemic efforts, or
other reasons related to the pandemic. Additionally, some participants and clinical investigators may not be able to comply with clinical trial protocols. For example,
quarantines or other travel limitations (whether voluntary or required) may impede participant movement, affect sponsor access to study sites, or interrupt healthcare services,
and we may be unable to conduct our planned clinical trials. If the global effort to control the spread of COVID-19 and treat COVID-19 patients continues on the current
trajectory for an extended period of time, we risk a delay in activating sites and enrolling subjects as previously projected. Any such delays to our planned Phase 2 and Phase 3
clinical trials for MyMD-1 could impact the use and sufficiency of our existing cash reserves, and we may be required to raise additional capital earlier than we had previously
planned. We may be unable to raise additional capital if and when needed, which may result in further delays or suspension of our development plans.

Further, infections and deaths related to COVID-19 are disrupting certain healthcare and healthcare regulatory systems globally. Such disruptions could divert healthcare
resources away from, or materially delay review by, the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory agencies. It is unknown how long these disruptions could continue, were they
to occur. Any elongation or de-prioritization of our clinical trials or delay in regulatory review resulting from such disruptions could materially adversely affect the development
and study of our product candidates.



We currently utilize third parties to, among other things, manufacture raw materials and our product candidates, components, parts, and consumables, and to perform quality
testing. If either we or any third-party in the supply chain for materials used in the production of its product candidates are adversely impacted by restrictions resulting from the
COVID-19 pandemic, our supply chain may be disrupted, limiting our ability to manufacture product candidates for our clinical trials.

The ultimate impact of the current pandemic, or any other health epidemic, is highly uncertain and subject to change. We do not yet know the full extent of potential delays or
impacts on our business, our planned clinical trials, healthcare systems or the global economy. However, these effects could have a material adverse impact on our business,

financial condition and results of operations.
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Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to extensive post-marketing regulatory requirements and could be subject to post-marketing
restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if it experiences unanticipated problems
with our product candidates, when and if any of them are approved.

Our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and potential commercialization, including their testing, manufacturing, recordkeeping, labeling,
storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution, are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other U.S. and international regulatory authorities.
These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration and listing requirements, requirements relating to
manufacturing, including current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMPs”), quality control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents,
including periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities and requirements regarding the distribution of samples to providers and recordkeeping. In addition,
manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic, unannounced inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for
compliance with cGMPs.

The FDA may also impose requirements for costly post-marketing studies or clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of any approved product. The FDA

closely regulates the post-approval marketing and promotion of drugs to ensure that they are marketed in a manner consistent with the provisions of the approved labeling. The

FDA imposes stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding use of their products. If we promote our product candidates in a manner inconsistent with

FDA-approved labeling or otherwise not in compliance with FDA regulations, we may be subject to enforcement action. Violations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act
(“FD&C Act”) relating to the promotion of prescription drugs may lead to investigations alleging violations of federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws, as well as state

consumer protection laws and similar laws in international jurisdictions.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our product candidates, manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to
comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:

restrictions on such product candidates, manufacturers or manufacturing processes;
restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;

restrictions on product distribution or use;

requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;

warning or untitled letters;

withdrawal of any approved product from the market;

refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
recall of product candidates;

fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

refusal to permit the import or export of our product candidates;

product seizure; or
injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenue and could require us to expend
significant time and resources in response and could generate negative publicity. The FDA’s and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change, and additional government
regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing
requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we have
obtained, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Our failure to obtain regulatory approval in international jurisdictions would prevent us from marketing our product candidates outside the U.S.

To market and sell MyMD-1, Supera-CBD or our other product candidates in other jurisdictions, we must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with numerous and
varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and can involve additional testing. The time and data required to obtain approval may differ
substantially from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process outside the U.S. generally includes all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA
approval. In addition, in many countries outside the U.S., we must secure product reimbursement approvals before regulatory authorities will approve the product for sale in that
country. Failure to obtain foreign regulatory approvals or non-compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us
and could delay or prevent the introduction of our product candidates in certain countries.
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If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and receive applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to
realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed and our business will be adversely affected. We may not obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a
timely basis, if at all. Our failure to obtain approval of any of our product candidates by regulatory authorities in another country may significantly diminish the commercial
prospects of that product candidate and our business prospects could decline.

Our development program for Supera-CBD, a synthetic derivative of CBD, is uncertain and may not yield commercial results and is subject to significant regulatory risks.

There can be no assurance that our development program for Supera-CBD, a synthetic derivative of CBD, will be successful, or that any research and development and product
testing efforts will result in commercially saleable products, or that the market will accept or respond positively to products based on Supera-CBD.

Federal Regulation of CBD. The market for cannabinoids is heavily regulated. Synthetic cannabinoids may be viewed as qualifying as controlled substances under the federal
Controlled Substances Act of 1970 (CSA), and may be subject to a high degree of regulation including, among other things, certain registration, licensing, manufacturing,
security, record keeping, reporting, import, export, inspection by DEA clinical and non-clinical studies, insurance and other requirements administered by the U.S. Drug
Enforcement Administration (DEA) and/or the FDA.

State Regulation of CBD. Individual states and countries have also established controlled substance laws and regulations, which may differ from U.S. federal law. We or our
business partners may be required to obtain separate state or country registrations, permits or licenses in order to be able to develop produce, sell, store and transport



cannabinoids.

Compliance is Complex and Costly. Complying with laws and regulations relating to cannabinoids is evolving, complex and expensive, and may divert management’s
attention and resources from other aspects of our business. Failure to maintain compliance with such laws and regulations may result in regulatory action that could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The DEA, FDA or state agencies may seek civil penalties, refuse to renew necessary
registrations, or initiate proceedings to revoke those registrations. In certain circumstances, violations could lead to criminal proceedings.

Clinical trials. Because synthetic CBD products may be regulated as controlled substances in the U.S., to conduct clinical trials in the U.S., each of our research sites must
submit a research protocol to the DEA and obtain and maintain a DEA researcher registration that will allow those sites to handle and dispense products based on Supera-CBD
and to obtain product from our manufacturer. If the DEA delays or denies the grant of a research registration to one or more research sites, the clinical trial could be
significantly delayed, and we could lose clinical trial sites.

Risks Related to Commercialization and Manufacturing

The commercial success of our product candidates, including MyMD-1 and Supera-CBD, will depend upon their degree of market acceptance by providers, patients,
patient advocacy groups, third-party payors and the general medical community.

Even with the requisite approvals from the FDA and other regulatory authorities internationally, the commercial success of our product candidates will depend, in part, on the
acceptance of providers, patients and third-party payors of our product candidates, as medically necessary, cost-effective and safe. Any product that we commercialize may not
gain acceptance by providers, patients, patient advocacy groups, third-party payors and the general medical community. If these products do not achieve an adequate level of
acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenue and may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and our other product
candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on several factors, including:

the efficacy, durability and safety of such product candidates as demonstrated in clinical trials;

the potential and perceived advantages of product candidates over alternative treatments;

the cost of treatment relative to alternative treatments;

the clinical indications for which the product candidate is approved by the FDA or the European Commission;
the willingness of providers to prescribe new therapies;
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e the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies;

the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

product labeling or product insert requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities, including any limitations or warnings contained in a product’s approved
labeling;

the strength of marketing and distribution support;

the timing of market introduction of competitive products;

the quality of our relationships with patient advocacy groups;

publicity concerning our product candidates or competing products and treatments; and

sufficient third-party payor coverage and adequate reimbursement.

Even if a potential product displays a favorable efficacy and safety profile in pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, market acceptance of the product will not be fully known
until after it is launched.

The pricing, insurance coverage and reimbursement status of newly approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement
for our product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate product revenue.

If we are unable to establish or sustain coverage and adequate reimbursement for our product candidates from third-party payors, the adoption of those product candidates and
sales revenue will be adversely affected, which, in turn, could adversely affect the ability to market or sell those product candidates, if approved.

We expect that coverage and reimbursement by third-party payors will be essential for most patients to be able to afford these treatments. Accordingly, sales of MyMD-1,
Supera-CBD and our other product candidates will depend substantially, both domestically and internationally, on the extent to which the costs of our product candidates will be
paid by health maintenance, managed care, pharmacy benefit and similar healthcare management organizations, or will be reimbursed by government authorities, private health
coverage insurers and other third-party payors. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to establish or maintain
pricing sufficient to realize a sufficient return on our investment.

There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In the U.S., third-party payors, including private and
governmental payors, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs, play an important role in determining the extent to which new drugs will be covered and reimbursed. The
Medicare program covers certain individuals aged 65 or older, disabled or suffering from end-stage renal disease. The Medicaid program, which varies from state to state,
covers certain individuals and families who have limited financial means. The Medicare and Medicaid programs increasingly are used as models for how private payors and
other governmental payors develop their coverage and reimbursement policies for drugs. One payor’s determination to provide coverage for a drug product, however, does not
assure that other payors will also provide coverage for the drug product. Further, a payor’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate
reimbursement rate will be approved.

In addition to government and private payors, professional organizations such as the American Medical Association (“AMA”), can influence decisions about coverage and
reimbursement for new products by determining standards for care. In addition, many private payors contract with commercial vendors who sell software that provide guidelines
that attempt to limit utilization of, and therefore reimbursement for, certain products deemed to provide limited benefit to existing alternatives. Such organizations may set
guidelines that limit reimbursement or utilization of our product candidates. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for one or more product candidates
for which our collaborators receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.
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Outside the U.S., international operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price controls and other market regulations, and we believe the increasing emphasis
on cost-containment initiatives in Europe, Canada and other countries has and will continue to put pressure on the pricing and usage of therapeutics such as our product
candidates. In many countries, particularly the countries of the European Union, the prices of medical products are subject to varying price control mechanisms as part of
national health systems. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product.
To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to
other available therapies. In general, the prices of products under such systems are substantially lower than in the U.S. Other countries allow companies to fix their own prices
for products but monitor and control company profits. Additional foreign price controls or other changes in pricing regulation could restrict the amount that we are able to
charge for our product candidates. Accordingly, in markets outside the U.S., the reimbursement for our product candidates may be reduced compared with the U.S. and may be
insufficient to generate commercially reasonable revenues and profits.



Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors, in the U.S. and internationally, to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause such organizations to limit
both coverage and level of reimbursement for new products approved and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our product candidates. We expect to
experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our product candidates due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of certain third-
party payors, such as health maintenance organizations, and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription
drugs and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products into the
healthcare market. Recently there have been instances in which third-party payors have refused to reimburse treatments for patients for whom the treatment is indicated in the
FDA-approved product labeling. Even if we are successful in obtaining FDA approvals to commercialize our product candidates, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to
secure reimbursement for all patients for whom treatment with our product candidates is indicated.

If third parties on which we depend to conduct our planned pre-clinical studies or clinical trials, do not perform as contractually required, fail to satisfy regulatory or legal
requirements or miss expected deadli our develop t program could be delayed with adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

We rely on third party CROs, CMOs, consultants and others to design, conduct, supervise and monitor key activities relating to, discovery, manufacturing, pre-clinical studies
and clinical trials of our product candidates, and we intend to do the same for future activities relating to existing and future programs. Because we rely on third parties and do
not have the ability to conduct all required testing, discovery, manufacturing, preclinical studies or clinical trials independently, we have less control over the timing, quality and
other aspects of discovery, manufacturing, pre-clinical studies and clinical trials than we would if we conducted them on our own. These investigators, CROs, CMOs and
consultants are not our employees, and we have limited control over the amount of time and resources that they dedicate to our programs. These third parties may have
contractual relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors, which may draw time and resources from our programs. The third parties we contract with
might not be diligent or timely in conducting our discovery, manufacturing, pre-clinical studies or clinical trials, resulting in discovery, manufacturing, pre-clinical studies or
clinical trials being delayed or unsuccessful, in whole or in part.

If we cannot contract with acceptable third parties on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or if these third parties do not carry out their contractual duties, satisfy legal and
regulatory requirements for the conduct of pre-clinical studies or clinical trials or meet expected deadlines, our clinical development programs could be delayed and otherwise
adversely affected. In all events, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general
investigational plan and protocols for the trial, as well as in accordance with GLP, GCPs and other applicable laws, regulations and standards. Our reliance on third parties that
we do not control does not relieve us of these responsibilities and requirements. The FDA and other regulatory authorities enforce GCPs through periodic inspections of trial
sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we or any of these third parties fails to comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in its clinical trials may be
deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving its marketing applications. We
cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials have complied with GCPs. In
addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with product produced in accordance with cGMPs. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical
trials, which could delay or prevent the receipt of regulatory approvals. Any such event could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.
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We face significant competition in an environment of rapid pharmacological change and it is possible that our competitors may achieve regulatory approval before us or
develop therapies that are more advanced or effective than our, which may harm our business, financial condition and our ability to successfully market or commercialize
MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and our other product candidates.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly changing technologies, competition and a strong emphasis on intellectual property. We are aware
of several companies focused on developing immunometabolic treatments in various indications as well as several companies addressing other treatments for anti-aging, anxiety
and depression. We may also face competition from large and specialty pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic research institutions, government agencies and
public and private research institutions that conduct research, seek patent protection, and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing and
commercialization.

Several companies are focused on developing treatments for immunometabolic dysregulation in treatment of autoimmune disorders.

Many of our potential competitors, alone or with their strategic partners, may have substantially greater financial, technical and other resources than we do, such as larger
research and development, clinical, marketing and manufacturing organizations. Mergers and acquisitions in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries may result in
even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of competitors. Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if competitors develop and
commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any product candidates that we may
develop. Competitors also may obtain FDA or other regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval for our products, which could result in our
competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able to enter the market, if ever. Additionally, new or advanced technologies developed by our competitors may
render our current or future product candidates uneconomical or obsolete, and we may not be successful in marketing our product candidates against competitors.

The manufacture of drugs is complex, and our third-party manufacturers may encounter difficulties in production. If any of our third-party manufacturers encounter such
difficulties, our ability to provide supply of MyMD-1, Supera-CBD or our other product candidates for clinical trials, our ability to obtain marketing approval, or our ability
to provide supply of our product candidates for patients, if approved, could be delayed or stopped.

We intend to establish manufacturing relationships with a limited number of suppliers to manufacture raw materials, the drug substance and finished product of any product
candidate for which we are responsible for pre-clinical or clinical development. Each supplier may require licenses to manufacture such components if such processes are not
owned by the supplier or in the public domain. As part of any marketing approval, a manufacturer and its processes are required to be qualified by the FDA prior to regulatory
approval. If supply from the approved vendor is interrupted, there could be a significant disruption in commercial supply. An alternative vendor would need to be qualified
through an NDA supplement which could result in further delay. The FDA or other regulatory agencies outside of the U.S. may also require additional studies if a new supplier
is relied upon for commercial production. Switching vendors may involve substantial costs and is likely to result in a delay in our desired clinical and commercial timelines.
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The process of manufacturing drugs is complex, highly regulated and subject to multiple risks. Manufacturing drugs is highly susceptible to product loss due to contamination,
equipment failure, improper installation or operation of equipment, vendor or operator error, inconsistency in yields, variability in product characteristics and difficulties in
scaling the production process. Even minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes could result in reduced production yields, product defects and other supply
disruptions. If microbial, viral or other contaminations are discovered at the facilities of our manufacturers, such facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time
to investigate and remedy the contamination, which could delay clinical trials and adversely harm our business. Moreover, if the FDA determines that our CMOs are not in
compliance with FDA laws and regulations, including those governing cGMPs, the FDA may deny NDA approval until the deficiencies are corrected or we replace the
manufacturer in our NDA with a manufacturer that is in compliance. In addition, approved products and the facilities at which they are manufactured are required to maintain
ongoing compliance with extensive FDA requirements and the requirements of other similar agencies, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures
conform to cGMP requirements. As such, our CMOs are subject to continual review and periodic inspections to assess compliance with cGMPs. Furthermore, although we do
not have day-to-day control over the operations of our CMOs, we are responsible for ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including cGMPs.



In addition, there are risks associated with large scale manufacturing for clinical trials or commercial scale including, among others, cost overruns, potential problems with
process scale-up, process reproducibility, stability issues, compliance with good manufacturing practices, lot consistency and timely availability of raw materials. Even if our
collaborators obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, there is no assurance that manufacturers will be able to manufacture the approved product to
specifications acceptable to the FDA or other regulatory authorities, to produce it in sufficient quantities to meet the requirements for the potential launch of the product or to
meet potential future demand. If our manufacturers are unable to produce sufficient quantities for clinical trials or for commercialization, commercialization efforts would be
impaired, which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

Enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to commercialize and obtain marketing approval of our product candidates and may affect the
prices we may set.

Existing regulatory policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates.
We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the U.S. or abroad. If we are
slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may
lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

For example, in March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or collectively the
Affordable Care Act (“ACA”), was enacted to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies against fraud and
abuse, add new transparency requirements for health care and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on the health industry and impose additional health policy
reforms. As implementation of the ACA is ongoing, the law appears likely to continue the downward pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the Medicare
program, and may also increase MYMD’s regulatory burdens and operating costs.

The current U.S. presidential administration and U.S. Congress have sought and may continue to seek to, modify, repeal or otherwise replace certain aspects of the ACA. By
way of example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA”), was enacted, effective January 1, 2019, and included, among other things, a provision repealing the tax-based shared
responsibility payment imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as the
“individual mandate.” There have been subsequent challenges to the constitutionality of the ACA following the repeal of the individual mandate. A case is currently pending
before the U.S. Supreme Court, although it is unclear when a decision will be made or how the Supreme Court will rule. In addition, there may be other efforts to challenge,
repeal or replace the ACA. We are continuing to monitor any changes to the ACA that, in turn, may potentially impact our business in the future.
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. These changes included aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to
providers of 2% per fiscal year, effective April 1, 2013, which, due to subsequent legislative amendments, will stay in effect through 2030, with the exception of a temporary
suspension from May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 implemented under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) which was signed
into law on March 27, 2020, unless additional Congressional action is taken. In addition, in January 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law,
which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to
providers from three to five years. These new laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, which could have a material adverse effect on
customers for our product candidates, if approved, and accordingly, our financial operations.

We expect that the ACA, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional
downward pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar
reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue,
attain profitability, or commercialize our product candidates.

Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. We cannot
be sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on
the marketing approvals of our product candidates, if any, may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay
or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.

The FDA’s ability to review and approve new products may be hindered by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel,
statutory, regulatory and policy changes and global health concerns.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, statutory, regulatory and
policy changes, the FDA’s ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and other events that may otherwise affect the FDA’s ability to perform
routine functions. In addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is
inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary
government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years, including for 35 days beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S.
government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical employees and stop critical activities.

The ability of the FDA and other government agencies to properly administer their functions is highly dependent on the levels of government funding and the ability to fill key
leadership appointments, among various factors. Delays in filling or replacing key positions could significantly impact the ability of the FDA and other agencies to fulfill their
functions and could greatly impact healthcare and the pharmaceutical industry.

Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 10, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to postpone most foreign inspections of manufacturing facilities and,
subsequently, on March 18, 2020, the FDA temporarily postponed routine surveillance inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities. Regulatory authorities outside the U.S.
may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Subsequently, on July 10, 2020 the FDA announced its intention to resume
certain on-site inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities subject to a risk-based prioritization system. The FDA intends to use this risk-based assessment system to
identify the categories of regulatory activity that can occur within a given geographic area, ranging from mission critical inspections to resumption of all regulatory activities.
Regulatory authorities outside the U.S. may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. If a prolonged government shutdown
occurs, or if global health concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities,
it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

62

Our operations and relationships with future customers, providers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare
laws and regulations, which could expose us to penalties including criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and
future earnings.

Healthcare providers and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.



Our future arrangements with providers, third-party payors and customers will subject us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that
may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute any product candidates for which we obtain marketing
approval.

Restrictions under applicable U.S. federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following:

e the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (“AKS”) prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or
recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of the AKS or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

e federal false claims laws, including the federal False Claims Act, imposes criminal and civil penalties, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions,
against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent or
making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government. In addition, the government may assert that a claim
including items or services resulting from a violation of the AKS constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False Claims Act;

e HIPAA imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing or attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare
benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters. Similar to the AKS, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the
statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

e the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act of 2010 (“PPSA”) requires applicable manufacturers of covered drugs, devices, biologics, and medical supplies for
which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to report payments and other transfers
of value provided during the previous year to physicians, as defined by such law, certain other healthcare providers starting in 2022 (for payments made in 2021),
and teaching hospitals, as well as certain ownership and investment interests held by such physicians and their immediate family, which includes annual data
collection and reporting obligations;

e analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims
involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers; and some state laws require pharmaceutical
companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal
government and may require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers
or marketing expenditures; and

e some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance
guidance promulgated by the federal government and may require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to
physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that
governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse
or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may
be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of product candidates from government-funded healthcare
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, disgorgement, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and the curtailment or restructuring of
our operations. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they
may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government-funded healthcare programs.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property. It is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights and technology,
and we may not be able to ensure their adequate protection.

Our commercial success will depend in large part on obtaining and maintaining patent, trademark, trade secret and other intellectual property protection of our proprietary
technologies and product candidates, which include MyMD-1, Supera-CBD and the other product candidates we have in development, their respective components,
formulations, combination therapies, methods used to manufacture them and methods of treatment, as well as successfully defending our patents and other intellectual property
rights against third-party challenges. Our ability to stop unauthorized third parties from making, using, selling, offering to sell, importing or otherwise commercializing our
product candidates is dependent upon the extent to which we have rights under valid and enforceable patents or trade secrets that cover these activities. If we are unable to
secure and maintain patent protection for any product or technology we develop, or if the scope of the patent protection secured is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could
develop and commercialize products and technology similar or identical to ours, and our ability to commercialize any product candidates we may develop may be adversely
affected.

The patenting process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a
timely manner. In addition, we may not pursue or obtain patent protection in all relevant markets. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our
research and development activities before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Moreover, in some circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing
and prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the patents, covering technology that we may license from or license to third parties and may be reliant on our licensors or
licensees to do so. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in issued patents. Even if patent applications we license or own currently or in the future issue as
patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with adequate protection, prevent competitors or other third parties from competing with us, or otherwise provide us
with any competitive advantage. Any patents that we hold or in-license may be challenged, narrowed, circumvented or invalidated by third parties. Consequently, we do not
know whether any of our platform advances and product candidates will be protectable or remain protected by valid and enforceable patents. In addition, our existing patents
and any future patents we obtain may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others from using our technology or from developing competing products and technologies.

We may not be able to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights, which could harm our competitive position.

Our success and future revenue growth will depend, in part, on our ability to protect our intellectual property. We will primarily rely on patent, copyright, trademark and trade
secret laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements and other methods, to protect our proprietary technologies or processes. It is possible that competitors or other unauthorized
third parties may obtain, copy, use or disclose proprietary technologies and processes, despite efforts by the us to protect our proprietary technologies and processes. While we
hold rights in several patents, there can be no assurances that any additional patents will be issued, or additional rights will be granted, to us. Even if new patents are issued, the
claims allowed may not be sufficiently broad to adequately protect our technology and processes. Our competitors may also be able to develop similar technology
independently or design around the patents to which we have rights.

Currently, MyMD Florida has eleven issued U.S. patents, one foreign patent, six pending U.S. patent applications and 28 foreign patent applications pending in such
jurisdictions as Australia, Canada, China, European Union, Israel, Japan and South Korea, which if issued are expected to expire between 2036 and 2041. Although we expect to
obtain additional patents and in-licenses in the future, there is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully obtain such patents or in-licenses in a timely manner or at all.
Further, any of our rights to existing patents, and any future patents issued to us, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. As such, any rights granted under these
patents may not provide us with meaningful protection. Even if foreign patents are granted, effective enforcement in foreign countries may not be available. If our patents or
rights to patents do not adequately protect our technology or processes, competitors may be able to offer products similar to our products.
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Our potential strategy of obtaining rights to key technologies through in-licenses may not be successful.

The future growth of our business may depend in part on our ability to in-license or otherwise acquire the rights to additional product candidates and technologies. We cannot
assure that we will be able to in-license or acquire the rights to any product candidates or technologies from third parties on acceptable terms or at all.

For example, our agreements with certain of our third-party research partners provide that improvements developed in the course of its relationship may be owned solely by
either us or our third-party research partner, or jointly between us and the third party. If we determine that exclusive rights to such improvements owned solely by a research
partner or other third party with whom we collaborate are necessary to commercialize our drug candidates or maintain our competitive advantage, we may need to obtain an
exclusive license from such third party in order to use the improvements and continue developing, manufacturing or marketing our drug candidates. We may not be able to
obtain such a license on an exclusive basis, on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, which could prevent us from commercializing our drug candidates or allow our
competitors or others the opportunity to access technology that is important to our business. We also may need the cooperation of any co-owners of our intellectual property in
order to enforce such intellectual property against third parties, and such cooperation may not be provided to us.

In addition, the in-licensing and acquisition of these technologies is a highly competitive area, and a number of more established companies are also pursuing strategies to
license or acquire product candidates or technologies that we may consider attractive. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size,
cash resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to license
rights to us. Furthermore, we may be unable to identify suitable product candidates or technologies within our area of focus. If we are unable to successfully obtain rights to
suitable product candidates or technologies, our business and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

it

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position ld be harmed.

In addition to patent protection, we rely upon know-how and trade secret protection, as well as non-disclosure agreements and invention assignment agreements with our
employees, consultants and third-parties, to protect our confidential and proprietary information, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or
obtainable.

It is our policy to require our employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored researchers and other advisors to execute confidentiality agreements upon the
commencement of employment or consulting relationships with us. These agreements provide that all confidential information concerning our business or financial affairs
developed or made known to the individual or entity during the course of the party’s relationship with us is to be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties, except in
certain specified circumstances. In the case of employees, the agreements provide that all inventions conceived by the individual, and that are related to our current or planned
business or research and development or made during normal working hours, on our premises or using our equipment or proprietary information (or as otherwise permitted by
applicable law), are our exclusive property. In the case of consultants and other third parties, the agreements provide that all inventions conceived in connection with the
services provided are our exclusive property. However, we cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our
trade secrets or proprietary technology and processes. We have also adopted policies and conduct training that provides guidance on our expectations, and our advice for best
practices, in protecting our trade secrets. Despite these efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade
secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches.
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In addition to contractual measures, we try to protect the confidential nature of our proprietary information through other appropriate precautions, such as physical and
technological security measures. However, trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect. These measures may not, for example, in the case of misappropriation of a

trade secret by an employee or third party with authorized access, provide adequate protection for our proprietary information. Our security measures may not prevent an
employee or consultant from misappropriating our trade secrets and providing them to a competitor, and any recourse we might take against this type of misconduct may not
provide an adequate remedy to protect our interests fully. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret can be difficult, expensive, and
time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, trade secrets may be independently developed by others in a manner that could prevent us from receiving legal
recourse. If any of our confidential or proprietary information, such as our trade secrets, were to be disclosed or misappropriated, such as through a data breach, or if any of that
information was independently developed by a competitor, our competitive position could be harmed. Additionally, certain trade secret and proprietary information may be

required to be disclosed in submissions to regulatory authorities. If such authorities do not maintain the confidential basis of such information or disclose it as part of the basis of
regulatory approval, our competitive position could be adversely affected.

Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement may prevent, delay or otherwise interfere with our product discovery and development efforts.

Our commercial success depends in part on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use our proprietary technologies without infringing,
misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of third parties. There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patents and other
intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, as well as administrative proceedings for challenging patents, including interference, derivation,
inter partes review, post grant review, and reexamination proceedings before the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) or oppositions and other comparable
proceedings in foreign jurisdictions. We may be exposed to, or threatened with, future litigation by third parties having patent or other intellectual property rights alleging that
our product candidates and/or proprietary technologies infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate their intellectual property rights. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents
and pending patent applications that are owned by third parties exist in the fields in which we are developing our product candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical
industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our product candidates may give rise to claims of infringement of the patent rights of others. Moreover, it
is not always clear to industry participants, including us, which patents cover various types of drugs, products or their methods of use or manufacture. Thus, because of the large
number of patents issued and patent applications filed in our field, third parties may allege they have patent rights encompassing our product candidates, technologies or
methods.

If a third party claims that we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate its intellectual property rights, we may face a number of issues, including, but not limited to:

e infringement and other intellectual property claims that, regardless of merit, may be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and may divert our management’s
attention from our core business;

e substantial damages for infringement, which we may have to pay if a court decides that the product candidate or technology at issue infringes on or violates the third
party’s rights, and, if the court finds that the infringement was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages plus the patent owner’s attorneys’ fees;

e a court prohibiting us from developing, manufacturing, marketing or selling our product candidates, or from using our proprietary technologies, unless the third-
party licenses its product rights or proprietary technology to us, which it is not required to do, on commercially reasonable terms or at all;

e ifa license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, upfront fees and other amounts, and/or grant cross-licenses to intellectual
property rights for our product candidates;

e the requirement that we redesign our product candidates or processes so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial monetary
expenditures and time; and

e there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors
perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
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Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. In
addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to
continue our operations or could otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization, including by enforcing its patents against us by filing a patent infringement
lawsuit against us. In this regard, patents issued in the U.S. by law enjoy a presumption of validity that can be rebutted only with evidence that is “clear and convincing,” a
heightened standard of proof.

There may be third-party patents of which we are currently unaware with claims to materials, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to the use
or manufacture of our product candidates. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications that may later result in
issued patents that our product candidates may infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these
patents.

If any third-party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover the manufacturing process of our product candidates, or materials used in or formed during the
manufacturing process, or any final product itself, the holders of those patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize our product candidates unless we obtain a
license under the applicable patents, or until those patents were to expire or those patents are finally determined to be invalid or unenforceable. Similarly, if any third-party
patent were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or methods of use, including combination therapy or
patient selection methods, the holders of that patent may be able to block our ability to develop and commercialize a product candidate unless we obtain a license or until such
patent expires or is finally determined to be invalid or unenforceable. In either case, a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, particularly if
such patent is owned or controlled by one of our primary competitors. If we are unable to obtain a necessary license to a third-party patent on commercially reasonable terms, or
at all, our ability to commercialize our product candidates may be impaired or delayed, which could significantly harm our business. Even if we obtain a license, it may be non-
exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent
applications is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates.

Parties making claims against us may seek and obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to further develop and commercialize our
product candidates. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee time and
resources from our business. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’
fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more licenses from third parties, pay royalties or redesign our infringing products, which may be impossible or require substantial
time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predict whether any license of this nature would be available at all or whether it would be available on commercially reasonable
terms. Furthermore, even in the absence of litigation, we may need to obtain licenses from third parties to advance our research or allow commercialization of our product
candidates and we may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we would be unable to further develop and
commercialize our product candidates, which could significantly harm our business.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful and could
result in a finding that such patents are unenforceable or invalid.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the patents of our licensors. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be
expensive and time-consuming. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that one or more of our patents is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to

stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question.
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In patent litigation in the U.S., defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are commonplace, and there are numerous grounds upon which a third party
can assert invalidity or unenforceability of a patent. Third parties may also raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the U.S. or abroad, even outside the context of
litigation. These types of mechanisms include re-examination, post-grant review, inter partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent
proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). These types of proceedings could result in revocation or amendment to our patents such that they no longer
cover our product candidates. The outcome for any particular patent following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity
question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which we, our patent counsel and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a
defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and/or unenforceability, or if we are otherwise unable to adequately protect our rights, we would lose at least part, and
perhaps all, of the patent protection on our product candidates. Defense of these types of claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and
would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business.

Conversely, we may choose to challenge the patentability of claims in a third party’s U.S. patent by requesting that the USPTO review the patent claims in re-examination, post-
grant review, inter partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings), or we may
choose to challenge a third party’s patent in patent opposition proceedings in the Canadian Intellectual Property Office (“CIPO”) the European Patent Office (“EPO”) or another
foreign patent office. Even if successful, the costs of these opposition proceedings could be substantial, and may consume our time or other resources. If we fail to obtain a
favorable result at the USPTO, CIPO, EPO or other patent office then we may be exposed to litigation by a third party alleging that the patent may be infringed by our product
candidates or proprietary technologies.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information
could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, that perception could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our
common stock. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We have limited foreign intellectual property rights and may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

We currently have limited intellectual property rights outside the U.S. Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world
would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the U.S. can be less extensive than those in the U.S. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the U.S. For example, patents covering therapeutic methods-of-
use are not available in certain foreign countries. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the U.S., or
from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the U.S. or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we do not
have or have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection
but where enforcement is not as strong as that in the U.S. These products may compete with our product candidates in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued patents and
our patent claims or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries,
particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to
biopharmaceutical products, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products against third parties in violation of
our proprietary rights generally. The initiation of proceedings by third parties to challenge the scope or validity of our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in
substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial
costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent
applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other



remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to
obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by
governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent. The USPTO and
various foreign patent agencies also require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions during the patent application process and
following the issuance of a patent. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable laws and
rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in
the relevant jurisdiction. Noncompliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to
official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. Were a noncompliance event to occur, our
competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a material adverse effect on our business financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Changes in patent law in the U.S. and in non-U.S. jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product
candidates.

As is the case with other pharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the
pharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity, and is therefore costly, time-consuming and inherently uncertain.

Past or future patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our
issued patents. For example, in March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (“America Invents Act”), the U.S. moved from a “first to invent” to a “first-to-file”
patent system. Under a “first-to-file” system, assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application generally will be entitled to
a patent on the invention regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. The America Invents Act includes a number of other significant changes to U.S.
patent law, including provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and establish a new post-grant review system. The effects of these
changes continue to evolve as the USPTO continues to promulgate new regulations and procedures in connection with the America Invents Act and many of the substantive
changes to patent law, including the “first-to-file” provisions, only became effective in March 2013. In addition, the courts have yet to address many of these provisions and the
applicability of the act and new regulations on the specific patents discussed in this filing have not been determined and would need to be reviewed. Moreover, the America
Invents Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our
issued patents.

Recent cases by the U.S. Supreme Court have held that certain methods of treatment or diagnosis are not patent-eligible. U.S. law regarding patent-eligibility continues to
evolve. While we do not believe that any of our owned or in-licensed patents will be found invalid based on these changes to US patent law, we cannot predict how future
decisions by the courts, the U.S. Congress or the USPTO may impact the value of our patents. Any similar adverse changes in the patent laws of other jurisdictions could also
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the U.S., if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its earliest U.S. non-provisional
filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering our product candidates are obtained,
once the patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products, including generics. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing
and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting our product candidates might expire before or shortly after our or our partners commercialize those
candidates. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical
to ours.
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If we do not obtain patent term extension for any product candidates we may develop, our business may be materially harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of any product candidates we may develop, one or more of our U.S. patents may be eligible
for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, (the “Hatch-Waxman Amendments”). The Hatch-Waxman

Amendments permit a patent extension term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during clinical trials and the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term
extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent per product may be extended and only
those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. U.S. and ex-U.S. law concerning patent term extensions and
foreign equivalents continue to evolve. Even if we were to seek a patent term extension, it may not be granted because of, for example, the failure to exercise due diligence
during the testing phase or regulatory review process, the failure to apply within applicable deadlines, the failure to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents, or any other
failure to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period of extension or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we request. If we are
unable to obtain patent term extension or term of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent
expiration sooner than expected, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially harmed.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

There were no unregistered sales of the Company’s equity securities during the three months ended March 31, 2021, other than those previously reported in a Current Report on
Form 8-K.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

There has been no default in the payment of principal, interest, sinking or purchase fund installment, or any other material default, with respect to any indebtedness of the
Company.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
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3.1

32

33
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10.4#

10.5#

10.6#

10.7#

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated November 11. 2020, by and among Akers Biosciences. Inc.. XYZ Merger Sub Inc., and MYMD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on November 12. 2020).

Amendment No.l to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated March 16, 2021. by and among Akers Biosciences. Inc., XYZ Merger Sub Inc.. and
MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on March 19, 2021).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. effective April 16, 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2021).

Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, effective April 16, 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2021).
Amended and Restated Bylaws of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., effective April 16, 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2021).

Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2021, by and between Akers Biosciences, Inc. and VStock Transfer, LLC, as Rights Agent

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

March 19, 2021).

Contribution and Assignment Agreement, dated March 18, 2021, by and among Akers Biosciences, Inc., Cystron Biotech LLC, and Oravax Medical Inc. (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 19. 2021).

Termination and Release Agreement, dated March 18, 2021, by and among Akers Biosciences. Inc., Cystron Biotech LLC, Premas Biotech Pvt. Ltd.. and the other
arties signatory thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on March 19, 2021).
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 11, 2020. by and between MyMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc. and Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2021).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2021).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2021).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2021).
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Employment Agreement between Adam Kaplin and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc., effective December 18, 2020.

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between Adam Kaplin and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida). Inc, dated February 11, 2021.

Employment Agreement between Chris Chapman and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc., effective November 1, 2020.

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between Chris Chapman and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc.. dated December 18, 2020.

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement between Chris Chapman and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc.. dated January 8, 2021.
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Employment Agreement between Paul Rivard and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc., dated September 21, 2020.
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Certification of Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

Certification of Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating

thereto.

Unaudited financial statements of MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc. as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating thereto.

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of the Company as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Interactive Data Files of Financial Statements and Notes.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

* Filed herewith.

** The schedules and exhibits to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any
omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Date: May 18, 2021 By: /s/ Chris Chapman

Name: Chris Chapman

Title:  President, Chief Medical Officer, and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 18, 2021 By: /s/ lan Rhodes

Name: Jan Rhodes
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Asset Purchase Agreement

SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 11, 2020

by and between

and

1
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Asset Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of November 11, 2020, is entered into between MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Florida
corporation (“Buyer”), and SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Florida corporation (“Seller”). Capitalized terms used in this Agreement have the meanings given to
such terms herein.

RECITALS
WHEREAS, Seller is engaged in the business of developing synthetic derivatives of naturally grown cannabidiols (the ‘Business”);

WHEREAS, this Agreement is being entered into concurrently with that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization between Akers Biosciences, Inc.,
XYZ Merger Sub Inc., and MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Merger Agreement”) that contemplates the merger, upon the terms and conditions set forth therein, of XYZ
Merger Sub Inc. with and into the Buyer (the “Akers Merger”); and

WHEREAS, Seller wishes to sell and assign to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase and assume from Seller, substantially all the assets, and certain specified
liabilities, of Seller, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 1.01 Purchase and Sale of Assets. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, at the Closing, Seller shall sell, convey, assign, transfer, and deliver to
Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller, the following assets, properties and rights of Seller, free and clear of all Encumbrances (collectively, the “Purchased Assets”):

(a) all Contracts (the “Assigned Contracts”) set forth onSection 1.01(d) of the disclosure schedules attached hereto (the ‘Disclosure Schedules™). The term
“Contracts” means all contracts, leases, licenses, instruments, notes, commitments, undertakings, indentures, joint ventures, and all other agreements, commitments,
and legally binding arrangements, whether written or oral;

(b) all of Seller’s rights under warranties, indemnities, and all similar rights against third parties to the extent related to any Purchased Assets;

(c) originals or, where not available, copies, of all books and records, including books of account, ledgers, and general, financial, and accounting records,
machinery and equipment maintenance files, customer lists, customer purchasing histories, price lists, distribution lists, supplier lists, production data, quality control
records and procedures, customer complaints and inquiry files, research and development files, records, and data (including all correspondence with any federal, state,
local, or foreign government or political subdivision thereof, or any agency or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision, or any arbitrator, court, or
tribunal of competent jurisdiction (collectively, “Governmental Authority”)), sales material and records, strategic plans and marketing, and promotional surveys,
material, and research (“Books and Records”);

(d) all Intellectual Property that is owned by Seller, together with all (i) royalties, fees, income, payments, and other proceeds now or hereafter due or payable to
Seller with respect to such Intellectual Property; and (ii) claims and causes of action with respect to such Intellectual Property, whether accruing before, on, or after the
date hereof, including all rights to and claims for damages, restitution, and injunctive and other legal or equitable relief for past, present, or future infringement,
misappropriation, or other violation thereof (collectively, the “Intellectual Property Assets”);

(e) all Technical Information;

(f) any inventories of compounds, products, supplies, equipment and other tangible assets used in connection with the Business;

(g) all authorizations, consents, approvals, licenses, orders, permits and exemptions of, and filings or registrations with, any governmental authority, to the
extent transferable by the Seller;

(h) all goodwill and the going concern value of the Purchased Assets, Seller and the Business; and
(1) all other assets owned by Seller used or useful in the Business, whether or not reflected on the books and records of the Seller.
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For purposes of this Agreement, (i) “Intellectual Property” means any and all rights in, arising out of, or associated with any of the following in any jurisdiction throughout the
world: (a) issued patents and patent applications (whether provisional or non-provisional), including divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part, substitutions, reissues,
reexaminations, extensions, or restorations of any of the foregoing, and other Governmental Authority-issued indicia of invention ownership (including certificates of invention,
petty patents, and patent utility models) (“Patents”); (b) trademarks, service marks, brands, certification marks, logos, trade dress, trade names, and other similar indicia of
source or origin, together with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals of, any of the
foregoing (“Trademarks”); (c) copyrights and works of authorship, whether or not copyrightable, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals of any of the
foregoing (“Copyrights”); (d) internet domain names and social media account or user names (including “handles”), whether or not Trademarks, all associated web addresses,
URLs, websites and web pages, social media sites and pages, and all content and data thereon or relating thereto, whether or not Copyrights; (¢) mask works, and all
registrations, applications for registration, and renewals thereof; (f) industrial designs, and all Patents, registrations, applications for registration, and renewals thereof; (g) trade
secrets, know-how, show-how, inventions (whether or not patentable), discoveries, improvements, technology, business and technical information, databases, data compilations
and collections, pharmacology and clinical data, tools, methods, formulae, processes, techniques, and other confidential and proprietary information and all rights therein
(“Know-How”); (h) computer programs, operating systems, applications, firmware and other code, including all source code, object code, application programming interfaces,
data files, databases, protocols, specifications, and other documentation thereof; and (i) rights of publicity; (j) all licenses, sublicenses and other agreements by or through which
other Person’s, including any Affiliate of Seller, granter Seller exclusive or non-exclusive rights or interests in any Intellectual Property (“IP Licenses”); and (k) all other
intellectual or industrial property and proprietary rights and (ii) “Technical Information” means data and other information related to the Seller’s product candidates and/or



compounds that is necessary and useful for the further research, development, manufacture, commercialization, and/or registration of such product candidates and/or
compounds, that is owned by Seller or otherwise controlled by Seller, and that exists as of the Closing Date, including, without limitation, correspondence with U.S. Food and
Drug Administration or other governmental authorities, clinical data, pre-clinical data, adverse event data, pharmaceutical development reports, formulations and other medical
and technical information.

Section 1.02 Excluded Assets. Other than the Purchased Assets subject to Section 1.01, Buyer expressly understands and agrees that it is not purchasing or acquiring,
and Seller is not selling or assigning, any other assets or properties of Seller, and all such other assets and properties shall be excluded from the Purchased Assets (the
“Excluded Assets”).

Section 1.03 Assumed Liabilities.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, Buyer shall assume and agree to pay, perform, and discharge only the following Liabilities of Seller
(collectively, the “Assumed Liabilities”), and no other Liabilities:

(i) all trade accounts payable of Seller to third parties incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices of Seller and that
remain unpaid and are not delinquent as of the Closing Date; and

(ii) all Liabilities in respect of the Assigned Contracts but only to the extent that such Liabilities thereunder are required to be performed after the
Closing Date, were incurred in the ordinary course of business, and do not relate to any failure to perform, improper performance, warranty, or other breach,
default, or violation by Seller on or prior to the Closing.

For purposes of this Agreement, “Liabilities” means liabilities, obligations, or commitments of any nature whatsoever, whether asserted or unasserted, known or unknown,
absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, matured or unmatured, or otherwise.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer shall not assume and shall not be responsible to pay, perform, or discharge any
Liabilities of Seller or any of its Affiliates of any kind or nature whatsoever other than the Assumed Liabilities (the “ Excluded Liabilities”). For purposes of this
Agreement: (i) “Affiliate” of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, such Person; and (ii) the term “control” (including the terms “controlled by’ and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or
otherwise.

Section 1.04 Purchase Price. The aggregate purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) for the Purchased Assets shall be 33,937,909 shares of the common stock, par
value $.001 per share, of Buyer (the “Purchase Shares™), plus the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities.

Section 1.05 Tax Treatment. For US federal income tax purposes, the parties intend that the Merger qualify as a tax-free reorganization within the meaning of Section
368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Buyer and Seller shall file all returns, declarations, reports, information returns and statements, and other documents
relating to Taxes (including amended returns and claims for refund) (“Tax Returns”) in a manner consistent with the foregoing intention of the Parties.

Section 1.06 Withholding Tax. Buyer shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Purchase Price all Taxes that Buyer may be required to deduct and withhold
under any provision of Tax Law. All such withheld amounts shall be treated as delivered to Seller hereunder.

Section 1.07 Third Party Consents. To the extent that Seller’s rights under any Purchased Asset may not be assigned to Buyer without the consent of another Person
which has not been obtained, this Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to assign the same if an attempted assignment would constitute a breach thereof or be unlawful,
and Seller, at its expense, shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain any such required consent(s) as promptly as possible. If any such consent shall not be obtained or if any
attempted assignment would be ineffective or would impair Buyer’s rights under the Purchased Asset in question so that Buyer would not in effect acquire the benefit of all
such rights, Seller, to the maximum extent permitted by Law and the Purchased Asset, shall act after the Closing as Buyer’s agent in order to obtain for it the benefits thereunder
and shall cooperate, to the maximum extent permitted by Law and the Purchased Asset, with Buyer in any other reasonable arrangement designed to provide such benefits to
Buyer.

ARTICLE 11
CLOSING

Section 2.01 Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”)
shall take place at the offices of Foley & Lardner LLP, 100 North Tampa St., Suite 2700, Tampa, Florida 33602, immediately prior to (and contingent on) the closing of the
Akers Merger, or at such other time or place or in such other manner as Seller and Buyer may mutually agree upon in writing. The date on which the Closing is to occur is
herein referred to as the “Closing Date.”

Section 2.02 Closing Deliverables.
(a) At the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer the following:

(i) a bill of sale in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer (the ‘Bill of Sale”) and duly executed by Seller, transferring the Tangible Personal
Property included in the Purchased Assets to Buyer;

(i) an assignment and assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer (the ‘Assignment and Assumption Agreement”) and duly
executed by Seller, effecting the assignment to and assumption by Buyer of the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities;

(iii) an assignment in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer (the ‘Intellectual Property Assignment”) and duly executed by Seller, transferring all
of Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the Intellectual Property Assets to Buyer;

(iv) a certificate of the Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Seller certifying as to (A) the resolutions of the board of directors and the shareholders of
Seller, which authorize the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement, the Bill of Sale, the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the
Intellectual Property Assignment and the other agreements, instruments, and documents required to be delivered in connection with this Agreement or at the
Closing (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and (B) the names and
signatures of the officers of Seller authorized to sign this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; and

(v) such other customary instruments of transfer or assumption, filings, or documents, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, as may



be required to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(b) At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Seller the following:

(1) a stock certificate evidencing the Purchase Shares, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by a stock power or other instrument of transfer (less any
amounts which may be withheld for outstanding Tax Liabilities);

(ii) the Intellectual Property Assignment duly executed by Buyer; and
(iii) a certificate of the Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Buyer certifying as to (A) the resolutions of the board of directors of Buyer, which authorize
the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and

thereby, and (B) the names and signatures of the officers of Buyer authorized to sign this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.
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Section 2.03 Termination Prior to Closing.

(a) This Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall automatically and immediately terminate upon the termination of the Merger Agreement,
regardless of the reason for the termination of the Merger Agreement.

In the event of a termination of this Agreement under this Section 2.03, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and of no further force or effect and there shall be
no liability or obligation on the part of any party hereto.

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that the statements contained in this Article III are true and correct as of the date hereof.

Section 3.01 Organization and Authority of Seller. Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the Laws of the State of
Florida. Seller has full corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party, to carry out its obligations
hereunder and thereunder, and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Seller of this Agreement and any other
Transaction Document to which Seller is a party, the performance by Seller of its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and the consummation by Seller of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate, board, and shareholder action on the part of Seller. This Agreement and the Transaction
Documents constitute legal, valid, and binding obligations of Seller enforceable against Seller in accordance with their respective terms.

Section 3.02 No Conflicts or Consents. The execution, delivery, and performance by Seller of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a
party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not: (a) violate or conflict with any provision of the certificate of formation,
bylaws, or other governing documents of Seller; (b) violate or conflict with any provision of any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, constitution, treaty, common law,
other requirement, or rule of law of any Governmental Authority (collectively, “ Law”) or any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination, penalty, or
award entered by or with any Governmental Authority (“Governmental Order”) applicable to Seller or the Purchased Assets; (c) require the consent, notice, declaration, or
filing with or other action by any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority, unincorporated organization, trust,
association, or other entity (“Person”) or require any permit, license, or Governmental Order; (d) violate or conflict with, result in the acceleration of, or create in any party the
right to accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel any Contract to which Seller is a party or by which Seller is bound or to which any of the Purchased Assets are subject
(including any Assigned Contract); or (e) result in the creation or imposition of any charge, claim, pledge, equitable interest, lien, security interest, restriction of any kind, or
other encumbrance (“Encumbrance”) on the Purchased Assets.

Section 3.03 Financial Statements. Complete copies of the unaudited financial statements consisting of the balance sheet of Seller as at December 31, 2020 and June
30, 2020 and the related statements of income and retained earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash flow for the year and 6-month period, respectively, then ended (the
“Financial Statements”) have been delivered to Buyer. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect in
the United States from time to time, applied on a consistent basis throughout the period involved. The Financial Statements fairly present the financial condition of Seller as of
the respective dates they were prepared and the results of the operations of Seller for the periods indicated. The balance sheet of Seller as of June 30, 2020 is referred to herein
as the “Balance Sheet” and the date thereof as the “Balance Sheet Date”.

Section 3.04 Undisclosed Liabilities. Seller has no Liabilities, except (a) those which are adequately reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheet as of the
Balance Sheet Date, and (b) those which have been incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date and which are not,
individually or in the aggregate, material in amount.

Section 3.05 Absence of Certain Changes, Events, and Conditions. Since the Balance Sheet Date, and other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with
past practice, there has not been any change, event, condition, or development that is, or could reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse
to: (a) the business, results of operations, condition (financial or otherwise), or assets of Seller; or (b) the value of the Purchased Assets.

Section 3.06 Assigned Contracts. Each Assigned Contract is valid and binding on Seller in accordance with its terms and is in full force and effect. Neither Seller nor,
to Seller’s knowledge, any other party thereto is in breach of or default under (or is alleged to be in breach of or default under), or has provided or received any notice of any
intention to terminate, any Assigned Contract. No event or circumstance has occurred that would constitute an event of default under any Assigned Contract or result in a
termination thereof. Complete and correct copies of each Assigned Contract (including all modifications, amendments, and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder) have
been made available to Buyer. There are no disputes pending or threatened under any Assigned Contract.

Section 3.07 Title to Purchased Assets. Seller has good and valid title to all of the Purchased Assets, free and clear of Encumbrances.
Section 3.08 Legal Proceedings; Governmental Orders.

(a) There are no claims, actions, causes of action, demands, lawsuits, arbitrations, inquiries, audits, notices of violation, proceedings, litigation, citations,
summons, subpoenas, or investigations of any nature, whether at law or in equity (collectively, “ Actions”) pending or, to Seller’s knowledge, threatened against or by
Seller: (a) relating to or affecting Seller, the Purchased Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities; or (b) that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin, or otherwise delay the

transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No event has occurred or circumstances exist that may give rise to, or serve as a basis for, any such Action.

10




(b) There are no outstanding Governmental Orders against, relating to, or affecting Seller or the Purchased Assets.

Section 3.09 Compliance with Laws. Seller is in compliance with all Laws applicable to the conduct of the Business as currently conducted or the ownership and use
of the Purchased Assets. The Purchased Assets are all of the assets used in the Business.

Section 3.10 Taxes. All Taxes due and owing by Seller have been, or will be, timely paid. No extensions or waivers of statutes of limitations have been given or
requested with respect to any Taxes of Seller. All Tax Returns required to be filed by Seller for any tax periods prior to Closing have been, or will be, timely filed. Such Tax
Returns are, or will be, true, complete, and correct in all respects. The term “Taxes” means all federal, state, local, foreign, and other income, gross receipts, sales, use,
production, ad valorem, transfer, documentary, franchise, registration, profits, license, withholding, payroll, employment, unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation,
premium, property (real or personal), customs, duties, or other taxes, fees, assessments, or charges of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, additions, or penalties
with respect thereto.

Section 3.11 Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 3.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists (i) all Intellectual Property Assets and (ii) all IP Licenses all licenses, sublicenses and other agreements by
or through which other Persons grant Seller or Seller grants any other Persons any exclusive or non-exclusive rights or interests in or to any Intellectual Property
(excluding shrink-wrap, click-wrap, or other similar agreements for commercially available off-the-shelf software). Seller is the exclusive owner of the Intellectual
Property Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances. The Intellectual Property Assets together with the Intellectual Property licensed to Seller pursuant to the IP Licenses
constitutes all of the material Intellectual Property Rights used or held for use by the Seller in conducting the Business. Immediately after the Closing, Buyer will own all
of the Intellectual Property Assets and will have a right to use all of the Intellectual Property licensed to Seller, free from any Encumbrances and on the same terms and
conditions as in effect prior to the Closing.

(b) The conduct of the Business as currently conducted does not infringe, misappropriate, dilute or otherwise violate the Intellectual Property of any Person and
no Person is infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Intellectual Property Assets. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, this
Section 3.11(b) constitutes the sole representation and warranty of Seller under this Agreement with respect to any actual or alleged infringement, misappropriation or
other violation by Seller of any Intellectual Property of any other Person.

(c) Schedule 3.11(c) sets forth all contracts to which Seller is a party or is otherwise bound that relate to Intellectual Property used or held for use in the
Business, including: (i) the IP Licenses; (ii) licenses of Intellectual Property to any other Person by Seller; (iii) contracts otherwise granting or restricting the right to use

any Intellectual Property; and (iv) Contracts transferring, assigning, indemnifying with respect to or otherwise relating to Intellectual Property.
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(d) Seller has taken all actions reasonably necessary to make or maintain in full force and effect all necessary filings, registrations and issuances in respect
thereof necessary to maintain the Seller’s ownership rights in the Intellectual Property Assets, and such filings, registrations and issuances are valid and enforceable.
Seller has taken all actions reasonably necessary to maintain the secrecy of all confidential Intellectual Property, including Know-How and Technical Information, used
in the Business. Seller is not using or enforcing any of the Seller’s rights in material Intellectual Property Assets or Intellectual Property licensed to Seller in a manner
that would reasonably be expected to result in the cancellation, invalidity or unenforceability thereof.

Section 3.12 Brokers. No broker, finder, or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s, or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer represents and warrants to Seller that the statements contained in this Article IV are true and correct as of the date hereof.

Section 4.01 Organization and Authority of Buyer. Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the Laws of the State of
Florida. Buyer has full corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Buyer is a party, to carry out its obligations
hereunder and thereunder, and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Buyer of this Agreement and any other
Transaction Document to which Buyer is a party, the performance by Buyer of its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Buyer. This Agreement and the Transaction Documents constitute
legal, valid, and binding obligations of Buyer enforceable against Buyer in accordance with their respective terms.

Section 4.02 No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery, and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a
party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not: (a) violate or conflict with any provision of the certificate of formation,
bylaws, or other organizational documents of Buyer; (b) violate or conflict with any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to Buyer; or (c) require the
consent, notice, declaration, or filing with or other action by any Person or require any permit, license, or Governmental Order.

Section 4.03 Brokers. No broker, finder, or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s, or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer.
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Section 4.04 Legal Proceedings. There are no Actions pending or, to Buyer’s knowledge, threatened against or by Buyer that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin, or
otherwise delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No event has occurred or circumstances exist that may give rise to, or serve as a basis for, any such Action.

ARTICLE V
COVENANTS

Section 5.01 Confidentiality. From and after the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, hold, and shall cause its or their respective directors, officers,
employees, consultants, counsel, accountants, and other agents (“Representatives™) to hold, in confidence any and all information, whether written or oral, concerning Seller,
the Purchased Assets or the Business, except to the extent that Seller can show that such information: (a) is generally available to and known by the public through no fault of
Seller, any of its Affiliates, or their respective Representatives; or (b) is lawfully acquired by Seller, any of its Affiliates, or their respective Representatives from and after the
Closing from sources which are not prohibited from disclosing such information by a legal, contractual, or fiduciary obligation. If Seller or any of its Affiliates or their
respective Representatives are compelled to disclose any information by Governmental Order or Law, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing and shall disclose only that
portion of such information which is legally required to be disclosed, provided that Seller shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain as promptly as possible an appropriate
protective order or other reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such information.

Section 5.02 Public Announcements. Unless otherwise required by applicable Law, no party to this Agreement shall make any public announcements in respect of
this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written consent of the other party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and



the parties shall cooperate as to the timing and contents of any such announcement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller consents to the disclosure of this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby by Akers in connection with any filings made by Akers with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Akers
Merger.

Section 5.03 Bulk Sales Laws. The parties hereby waive compliance with the provisions of any bulk sales, bulk transfer, or similar Laws of any jurisdiction that may
otherwise be applicable with respect to the sale of any or all of the Purchased Assets to Buyer. Any Liabilities arising out of the failure of Seller to comply with the requirements
and provisions of any bulk sales, bulk transfer, or similar Laws of any jurisdiction which would not otherwise constitute Assumed Liabilities shall be treated as Excluded
Liabilities.

Section 5.04 Transfer Taxes. All sales, use, registration, and other such Taxes and fees (including any penalties and interest) incurred in connection with this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, if any, shall be borne and paid by Seller when due. Seller shall, at its own expense, timely file any Tax Return or other

document with respect to such Taxes or fees (and Buyer shall cooperate with respect thereto as necessary).
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Section 5.05 Conduct of Business Prior to Closing Date. Seller covenants and agrees with Buyer that from the date hereof hereof through the Closing Date, except as
otherwise expressly contemplated in this Agreement, unless Buyer otherwise consents in writing (which consent may be withheld Buyer’s sole discretion), Seller shall:

(a) Operate the Business in all material respects in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice.
(b) Timely comply in all material respects with the Assigned Contracts.

(c) Not sell, lease, grant any rights in or to or otherwise dispose of or otherwise relinquish control of, or agree to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of, the
Purchased Assets.

(d) Not cause any of the Purchased Assets to be encumbered by any Encumbrances not in existence as of the date hereof that will not be satisfied as of the
Closing Date.

Section 5.06 Further Assurances. Following the Closing, each of the parties hereto shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, execute and deliver such
additional documents, instruments, conveyances, and assurances and take such further actions as may be reasonably required to carry out the provisions hereof and give effect
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

ARTICLE VI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 6.01 Expenses. All costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party
incurring such costs and expenses.

Section 6.02 Notices. All notices, claims, demands, and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given: (a) when
delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt); (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier (receipt requested); (c) on the
date sent by email of a PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next business day if sent after normal
business hours of the recipient, or (d) on the third day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such communications must
be sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 7.02):

If to Seller: Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
324 S. Hyde Park Ave
Tampa, FL 33606
Attn: James A. McNulty

E-mail: jamcnulty@mymd.com
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If to Buyer: MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
324 S. Hyde Park Ave
Tampa, FL 33606
Attn: James A. McNulty
E-mail: jamcnulty@mymd.com

Section 6.03 Interpretation; Headings. This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation against
the party drafting an instrument or causing any instrument to be drafted. The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this
Agreement.

Section 6.04 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality, or
unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement.

Section 6.05 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents constitute the sole and entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement with
respect to the subject matter contained herein and therein, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral, with respect to
such subject matter. In the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement and those in the other Transaction Documents, the Exhibits, and the
Disclosure Schedules (other than an exception expressly set forth as such in the Disclosure Schedules), the statements in the body of this Agreement will control.

Section 6.06 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and
permitted assigns. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed. Any purported assignment in violation of this Section shall be null and void. No assignment shall relieve the assigning party of any of its obligations
hereunder.

Section 6.07 Amendment and Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may only be amended, modified, or supplemented by an agreement in writing signed by each
party hereto. No waiver by any party of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the party so waiving. No failure to
exercise, or delay in exercising, any right or remedy arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any
right or remedy hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy. Akers is an express third party beneficiary of this
Agreement and no amendment shall be made to this Agreement without the prior written consent of Akers.



Section 6.08 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction. All matters arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the internal laws of the State of Florida without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Florida or any other jurisdiction).
Any legal suit, action, proceeding, or dispute arising out of or related to this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby
may be instituted in the federal courts of the United States of America or the courts of the State of Florida in each case located in the city of Tampa and county of Hillsborough
County, and each party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts in any such suit, action, proceeding, or dispute.

Section 6.09 Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties. The representations and warranties of Seller and Buyer contained in this Agreement or any certificate or
instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall terminate at Closing, and only the covenants that by their terms survive Closing and this Article VI shall survive Closing.

Section 6.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall be deemed to
be one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, email, or other means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same
legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.

[Signature Page to Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.
SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ William McNulty

Name: William McNulty

Title: VP

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ James A. McNulty

Name: James A. McNulty

Title: CEO
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Exhibit 10.8
Second Amendment to

Amended & Restated 2016 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Adopted on July 1, 2019

1. Purpose

The purpose of this Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 2016 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc, a Florida corporation (the
“Company”), is to advance the interests of the Company’s stockholders by enhancing the Company’s ability to attract, retain and motivate persons who are expected to make
important contributions to the Company and by providing such persons with equity ownership opportunities and performance-based incentives that are intended to better align
the interests of such persons with those of the Company’s stockholders. Except where the context otherwise requires, the term “Company’ shall include any of the Company’s
present or future parent or subsidiary corporations as defined in Sections 424(e) or (f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder (the
“Code”) and any other business venture (including, without limitation, joint venture or limited liability company) in which the Company has a controlling interest, as
determined by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board’); provided, however, that such other business ventures shall be limited to entities that, where required by
Section 409A of the Code, are eligible issuers of service recipient stock (as defined in Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A- I(b)(5)(iii)(E), or applicable successor regulation).

2. Eligibility

All the Company’s employees, officers and directors, as well as consultants and advisors to the Company (as such terms are defined and interpreted for purposes of Rule 701
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) (or any successor rule)) are eligible to be granted Awards under the Plan. Each person who is granted an
Award under the Plan is deemed a “Participant.” ”Award’ means Options (as defined in Section 5), Restricted Stock (as defined in Section 6), Restricted Stock Units (as defined
in Section 6) and Other Stock-Based Awards (as defined in Section 7).

3. Administration and Delegation

(a) Administration by Board of Directors. The Plan will be administered by the Board. The Board shall have authority to grant Awards and to adopt, amend and repeal such
administrative rules, guidelines and practices relating to the Plan as it shall deem advisable. The Board may construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and any Award
agreements entered under the Plan. The Board may correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or any Award in the manner and to the
extent it shall deem expedient to carry the Plan into effect and it shall be the sole and final judge of such expediency. All decisions by the Board shall be made in the Board’s
sole discretion and shall be final and binding on all persons having or claiming any interest in the Plan or in any Award.
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(b) Appointment of Committees. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board may delegate any or all its powers under the Plan to one or more committees or
subcommittees of the Board (a “Committee”). All references in the Plan to the “Board’ shall mean the Board or a Committee of the Board or the officers referred to in Section
3(c) to the extent that the Board’s powers or authority under the Plan have been delegated to such Committee or officers.

(c) Delegation to Officers. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board may delegate to one or more officers of the Company the power to grant Options and other
Awards that constitute rights under Delaware law (subject to any limitations under the Plan) to employees or officers of the Company or any of its present or future subsidiary
corporations and to exercise such other powers under the Plan as the Board may determine, provided that the Board shall fix the terms of such Awards to be granted by such
officers (including the exercise price of such Awards, which may include a formula by which the exercise price will be determined) and the maximum number of shares subject
to such Awards that the officers may grant; provided further, however, that no officer shall be authorized to grant such Awards to any “executive officer” of the Company (as
defined by Rule 3b-7 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act’)) or to any “officer” of the Company (as defined by Rule 16a-1 under the
Exchange Act). The Board may not delegate authority under this Section 3(c) to grant Restricted Stock, unless Delaware law then permits such delegation.

4. Stock Available for Awards

(a) Number of Shares. Subject to adjustment under Section 8, Awards may be made under the Plan for up to the number of shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share,
of the company (the “Common Stock™) that is equal to the sum of 50,000,000 shares of Common Stock

If any Award expires or is terminated, surrendered or canceled without having been fully exercised, is forfeited in whole or in part (including as the result of shares of Common
Stock subject to such Award being repurchased by the Company at the original issuance price pursuant to a contractual repurchase right), or results in any Common Stock not
being issued, the unused Common Stock covered by such Award shall again be available for the grant of Awards under the Plan. Further, shares of Common Stock tendered to

the Company by a Participant to exercise an Award shall be added to the number of shares of Common Stock available for the grant of Awards under the Plan. However, in the

case of Incentive Stock Options, the two immediately preceding sentences shall be subject to any limitations under the Code. Shares issued under the Plan may consist in whole
or in part of authorized but unissued shares or treasury shares.
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(b) Substitute Awards. In connection with a merger or consolidation of an entity with the Company or the acquisition by the Company of property or stock of an entity, the
Board may grant Awards in substitution for any options or other stock or stock-based awards granted by such entity or an affiliate thereof. Substitute Awards may be granted on
such terms as the Board deems appropriate in the circumstances, notwithstanding any limitations on Awards contained in the Plan.

Substitute Awards shall not count against the overall share limit set forth in Section 4(a), except as may be required due to Section 422 and related provisions of the Code.

5. Stock Options

(a) General. The Board may grant options to purchase Common Stock (each, an “Option”) and determine the number of shares of Common Stock to be covered by each Option,
the exercise price of each Option and the conditions and limitations applicable to the exercise of each Option, including conditions relating to applicable federal or state
securities laws, as it considers necessary or advisable. An Option that is not intended to be an Incentive Stock Option shall be designated a “Nonqualified Stock Option.

(b) Incentive Stock Options. An Option that the Board intends to be an “incentive stock option” as defined in Section 422 of the Code (an “Incentive Stock Option”) shall only
be granted to employees of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., any of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s present or future parent or subsidiary corporations as defined in Sections 424(e)
or (f) of the Code, and any other entities the employees of which are eligible to receive Incentive Stock Options under the Code, and shall be subject to and shall be construed
consistently with the requirements of Section 422 of the Code. The Company shall have no liability to a Participant, or any other party, if an Option (or any part thereof) that is
intended to be an Incentive Stock Option is not an Incentive Stock Option or if the Company converts an Incentive Stock Option to a Nonqualified Stock Option.



(c) Exercise Price. The Board shall establish the exercise price of each Option and specify the exercise price in the applicable option agreement. The exercise price shall be not
less than 100% of the fair market value per share of Common Stock, as determined by (or in a manner approved by) the Board (“Fair Market Value”), on the date the Option is
granted.

(d) Duration of Options. Each Option shall be exercisable at such times and subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may specify in the applicable option agreement;
provided, however, that no Option will be granted with a term more than 10 years.

(e) Exercise of Options. Options may be exercised by delivery to the Company of a written notice of exercise signed by the proper person or by any other form of notice
(including electronic notice) approved by the Company together with payment in full as specified in Section 5(f) for the number of shares for which the Option is exercised.

Shares of Common Stock subject to the Option will be delivered by the Company as soon as practicable following exercise.
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(f) Payment Upon Exercise. Common Stock purchased upon the exercise of an Option granted under the Plan shall be paid for as follows:
(1) in cash or by check, payable to the order of the Company;

(2) when the Common Stock is registered under the Exchange Act, except as may otherwise be provided in the applicable option agreement, by (i) delivery of an
irrevocable and unconditional undertaking by a creditworthy broker to deliver promptly to the Company sufficient funds to pay the exercise price and any required tax
withholding or (ii) delivery by the Participant to the Company of a copy of irrevocable and unconditional instructions to a creditworthy broker to deliver promptly to the
Company cash or a check sufficient to pay the exercise price and any required tax withholding;

(3) when the Common Stock is registered under the Exchange Act and to the extent provided for in the applicable option agreement or approved by the Board, in its sole
discretion, by delivery (either by actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Common Stock owned by the Participant valued at their Fair Market Value, provided (i) such
method of payment is then permitted under applicable law, (ii) such Common Stock, if acquired directly from the Company, was owned by the Participant for such
minimum period of time, if any, as may be established by the Board in its discretion and (iii) such Common Stock is not subject to any repurchase, forfeiture. unfulfilled
vesting or other similar requirements;

(4) to the extent provided for in the applicable Option agreement or approved by the Board in its sole discretion, by delivery of a notice of “net exercise” to the Company,
because of which the Participant would pay the exercise price for the portion of the Option being exercised by cancelling a portion of the Option for such number of

shares as is equal to the exercise price divided by the excess of the Fair Market Value on the date of exercise over the Option exercise price per share.

(5) to the extent permitted by applicable law and provided for in the applicable Option agreement or approved by the Board, in its sole discretion, by (i) delivery of a
promissory note of the Participant to the Company on terms determined by the Board, or (ii) payment of such other lawful consideration as the Board may determine; or

(6) by any combination of the above permitted forms of payment.
(g) Nonqualified Stock Option Awards to Directors.

(1) Directors may be granted Nonqualified Stock Options under the Plan in the manner set forth in this Section 5(g). A Director may hold more than one Nonqualified
Stock Option, but only on the terms and subject to any restrictions set forth herein.
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(2) The exercise price per Share for a Non-Qualified Stock Option granted to a Director under the Plan shall be equal to 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of
Stock on the date of grant of such Option.

(3) Nonqualified Stock Options granted to Directors under the Plan shall be fully vested on the date of grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such Options shall terminate
on the earlier of ten years after the date of grant; or twenty-four (24) calendar months after the Director ceases to be a director of the Company for any reason,, other
than as a result of the Director’s death, disability or retirement. In the case the Director ceases to be a director of the Company as a result of death, retirement or
disability, the Nonqualified Stock Options granted to Directors under the Plan will terminate at the end of the exercise period as specified in the grant. For purposes
hereof, “retirement” shall mean the Director terminates at a time when the director’s combined age and years of service (as an employee and director) equal at least sixty
(60) (subject to Age and Service Guidelines set forth below).

(4) The Age and Service Guidelines are: the Director must have a minimum of two (2) years of combined service as a director or employee; and (b) the Director must
have attained a minimum age of fifty-five (58) years during the year of termination. For clarification, Non-qualified Stock Options granted to Directors will continue to
be exercisable and will continue to vest until the Option is terminated hereunder.

6. Restricted Stock: Restricted Stock Units

(a) General. The Board may grant Awards entitling recipients to acquire shares of Common Stock (“Restricted Stock™), subject to the right of the Company to repurchase all or
part of such shares at their issue price or other stated or formula price (or to require forfeiture of such shares if issued at no cost) from the recipient in the event that conditions
specified by the Board in the applicable Award are not satisfied prior to the end of the applicable restriction period or periods established by the Board for such Award. Instead

of granting Awards for Restricted Stock, the Board may grant Awards entitling the recipient to receive shares of Common Stock or cash to be delivered at the time such Award

vests (“Restricted Stock Units”) (Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units are each referred to herein as a “Restricted Stock Award”).

(b) Terms and Conditions for All Restricted Stock Awards. The Board shall determine the terms and conditions of a Restricted Stock Award, including the conditions for vesting
and repurchase (or forfeiture) and the issue price, if any. Before the grant of any award a participant may elect that the payment of his Restricted Stock Award should be
deferred until termination of employment and that such payment should be made in a specified number of installments.

(c) Additional Provisions Relating to Restricted Stock.

(1) Dividends. Participants holding shares of Restricted Stock will be entitled to all ordinary cash dividends paid with respect to such shares, unless otherwise provided
by the Board. Unless otherwise provided by the Board, if any dividends or distributions are paid in shares, or consist of a dividend or distribution to holders of Common
Stock other than an ordinary cash dividend, the shares, cash or other property will be subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the shares of
Restricted Stock with respect to which they were paid. Each dividend payment will be made no later than the end of the calendar year in which the dividends are paid to
stockholders of that class of stock or, if later, the 15th day of the third month following the date the dividends are paid to stockholders of that class of stock.
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(2) Stock Certificates. The Company may require that any stock certificates issued in respect of shares of Restricted Stock shall be deposited in escrow by the
Participant, together with a stock power endorsed in blank, with the Company (or its designee). At the expiration of the applicable restriction periods, the Company (or
such designee) shall deliver the certificates no longer subject to such restrictions to the Participant or if the Participant has died, to the beneficiary designated, in a
manner determined by the Board, by a Participant to receive amounts due or exercise rights of the Participant in the event of the Participant-s death (the “Designated
Beneficiary”). In the absence of an effective designation by a Participant, “Designated Beneficiary” shall mean the Participant’s estate.

(d) Additional Provisions Relating to Restricted Stock Units.

(1) Settlement. Upon the vesting of and/or lapsing of any other restrictions (i.e., settlement) with respect to each Restricted Stock Unit, the Participant shall be entitled to
receive from the Company one share of Common Stock or an amount of cash equal to the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock, as provided in the
applicable Award agreement. The Board may, in its discretion, provide that settlement of Restricted Stock Units shall be deferred, on a mandatory basis or at the election
of the Participant in a manner that complies with Section 409A of the Code.

(2) Voting Rights. A Participant shall have no voting rights with respect to any Restricted Stock Units.

(3) Dividend Equivalents. To the extent provided by the Board, in its sole discretion, a grant of Restricted Stock Units may provide Participants with the right to receive
an amount equal to any dividends or other distributions declared and paid on an equal number of outstanding shares of Common Stock (“Dividend Equivalents”).
Dividend Equivalents may be paid currently or credited to an account for the Participants, may be settled in cash and/or shares of Common Stock and may be subject to
the same restrictions on transfer and forfeitability as the Restricted Stock Units with respect to which paid, as determined by the Board in its sole discretion, subject in
each case to such terms and conditions as the Board shall establish, in each case to be set forth in the applicable Award agreement.

7. Other Stock-Based Awards

(a) General. Other Awards of shares of Common Stock, and other Awards that are valued in whole or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based on, shares of Common
Stock or other property, may be granted hereunder to Participants (“Other Stock-Based-Awards”), including without limitation Awards entitling recipients to receive shares of
Common Stock to be delivered in the future. Such Other Stock-Based Awards shall also be available as a form of payment in the settlement of other Awards granted under the
Plan or as payment in lieu of compensation to which a Participant is otherwise entitled. Other Stock-Based Awards may be paid in shares of Common Stock or cash, as the
Board shall determine.
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(b) Terms and Conditions. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Board shall determine the terms and conditions of each Other Stock-Based Award, including any purchase
price applicable thereto.

8. Adjustments for Changes in Common Stock and Certain Other Events

(a) Changes in Capitalization. In the event of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, combination of shares, reclassification of shares, spin-off or
other similar change in capitalization or event, or any dividend or distribution to holders of Common Stock other than an ordinary cash dividend, (i) the number and class of
securities available under the Plan, (ii) the number and class of securities and exercise price per share of each outstanding Option, (iii) the number of shares subject to and the
repurchase price per share subject to each outstanding Restricted Stock Award and (iv) the share and per-share-related provisions and the purchase price, if any, of each

outstanding Other Stock-Based Award, shall be equitably adjusted by the Company (or substituted Awards may be made, if applicable) in the manner determined by the Board.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event the Company effects a split of the Common Stock by means of a stock dividend and the exercise price of and the
number of shares subject to an outstanding Option are adjusted as of the date of the distribution of the dividend (rather than as of the record date for such dividend), then an
optionee who exercises an Option between the record date and the distribution date for such stock dividend shall be entitled to receive, on the distribution date, the stock
dividend with respect to the shares of Common Stock acquired upon such Option exercise, notwithstanding the fact that such shares were not outstanding as of the close of
business on the record date for such stock dividend.

(b) Reorganization Events.

(1) Definition. A “Reorganization Event” shall mean: (a) any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another entity because of which all the Common
Stock of the Company is converted into or exchanged for the right to receive cash, securities or other property or is cancelled, (b) any transfer or disposition of all the
Common Stock of the Company for cash. securities or other property pursuant to a share exchange or other transaction or (c) any liquidation or dissolution of the
Company.
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(2) Consequences of a Reorganization Event on Awards Other than Restricted Stock Awards. In connection with a Reorganization Event, the Board may take any one or
more of the following actions as to all or any (or any portion of) outstanding Awards other than Restricted Stock Awards on such terms as the Board determines: (i)

provide that Awards shall be assumed, or substantially equivalent Awards shall be substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof), (ii)

upon written notice to a Participant, provide that all of the Participant’s unexercised Awards will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such

Reorganization Event unless exercised by the Participant (to the extent then exercisable) within a specified period following the date of such notice, (iii) provide that
outstanding Awards shall become exercisable, realizable, or deliverable, or restrictions applicable to an Award shall lapse, in whole or in part prior to or upon such

Reorganization Event, (iv) in the event of a Reorganization Event under the terms of which holders of Common Stock will receive upon consummation thereof a cash
payment for each share surrendered in the Reorganization Event (the “Acquisition Price”). make or provide for a cash payment to Participants with respect to each
Award held by a Participant equal to (A) the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the vested portion of the Award (after giving effect to any acceleration of
vesting that occurs upon or immediately prior to such Reorganization Event) multiplied by (B) the excess, if any, of (I) the Acquisition Price over (Il) the exercise price
of such Award and any applicable tax withholdings, in exchange for the termination of such Award, (v) provide that, in connection with a liquidation or dissolution of the
Company, Awards shall convey into the right to receive liquidation proceeds (if applicable, net of the exercise price thereof and any applicable tax withholdings) and

(vi) any combination of the foregoing. In taking any of the actions permitted under this Section 8(b), the Board shall not be obligated by the Plan to treat all Awards, all
Awards held by a Participant, or all Awards of the same type, identically.

For purposes of clause (i) above, an Option shall be considered assumed if, following consummation of the Reorganization Event, the Option confers the right to
purchase, for each share of Common Stock subject to the Option immediately prior to the consummation of the Reorganization Event, the consideration (whether cash,
securities or other property) received as a result of the Reorganization Event by holders of Common Stock for each share of Common Stock held immediately prior to
the consummation of the Reorganization Event (and if holders were offered a choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of
the outstanding shares of Common Stock); provided, however, that if the consideration received as a result of the Reorganization Event is not solely common stock of
the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof), the Company may, with the consent of the acquiring or succeeding corporation, provide for the
consideration to be received upon the exercise of Options to consist solely of common stock of the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof) equivalent
in value (as determined by the Board) to the per share consideration received by holders of outstanding shares of Common Stock as a result of the Reorganization Event.
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(3) Consequences of a Reorganization Event on Restricted Stock Awards. Upon the occurrence of a Reorganization Event other than a liquidation or dissolution of the
Company, the repurchase and other rights of the

Company under each outstanding Restricted Stock Award shall inure to the benefit of the Company’s successor and shall, unless the Board determines otherwise, apply
to the cash, securities or other property which the Common Stock was converted into or exchanged for pursuant to such Reorganization Event in the same manner and to
the same extent as they applied to the Common Stock subject to such Restricted Stock Award; provided however, that the Board may provide for termination or deemed
satisfaction of such repurchase or other rights under the instrument evidencing any Restricted Stock Award or any other agreement between a Participant and the
Company, either initially or by amendment. Upon the occurrence of a Reorganization Event involving the liquidation or dissolution of the Company, except to the extent
specifically provided to the contrary in the instrument evidencing any Restricted Stock Award or any other agreement between a Participant and the Company, all
restrictions and conditions on all Restricted Stock Awards then outstanding shall automatically be deemed terminated or satisfied.

9. General Provisions Applicable to Awards

(a) Transferability of Awards. Awards (or any interest in an Award, including, prior to exercise, any interest in shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of an Option)
shall not be sold, assigned, transferred (including by establishing any short position, put equivalent position (as defined in Rule 16a-1 issued under the Exchange Act) or call
equivalent position (as defined in Rule 16a-1 issued under the Exchange Act)), pledged, hypothecated or otherwise encumbered by the person to whom they are granted, either
voluntarily or by operation of law, and, during the life of the Participant, shall be exercisable only by the Participant; except that Awards may be transferred to family members
(as defined in Rule 701 under the Securities Act) through gifts or (other than Incentive Stock Options) domestic relations orders or to an executor or guardian upon the death or
disability of the Participant. The Company shall not be required to recognize any such permitted transfer until such permitted transferee shall deliver to the Company a written
instrument in form and substance satisfactory to the Company confirming that such transferee shall be bound by all the terms and conditions of the Award and any other terms
and conditions the Board may impose. References to a Participant, to the extent relevant in the context, shall include references to authorized transferees. For the avoidance of
doubt, nothing contained in this Section 9(a) shall be deemed to restrict a transfer to the Company.

(b) Documentation. Each Award shall be evidenced in such form (written, electronic or otherwise) as the Board shall determine. Each Award may contain terms and conditions
in addition to those set forth in the Plan.

(c) Board Discretion. Except as otherwise provided by the Plan, each Award may be made alone or in addition or in relation to any other Award. The terms of each Award need
not be identical, and the Board need not treat Participants uniformly.

(d) Termination of Status. The Board shall determine the effect on an Award of the termination or other cessation of employment, authorized leave of absence or other change in
the employment status of a Participant and the extent to which, and the period during which, the Participant, or the Participant’s legal representative, conservator, guardian or
Designated Beneficiary, may exercise rights under the Award.
In the event of termination of employment because of disability, death or retirement any Award to such Participant will terminate at the end of the exercise period as specified in
the grant. For purposes hereof, “retirement” shall be defined to mean the employee terminates at a time when employee’s combined age and years of service equal at least sixty
(60) (subject to the Age and Service Guidelines set forth below). The Age and Service Guidelines are:

a) the employee must have a minimum of eighteen months (1.5 years) of service; and

b) the employee must have attained a minimum age of fifty-eight (58) years during the year of termination.
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(e) Withholding. The Participant must satisfy all applicable federal, state, and local or other income and employment tax withholding obligations before the Company will
deliver stock certificates or otherwise recognize ownership of Common Stock under an Award. The Company may decide to satisfy the withholding obligations through

additional withholding on salary or wages. If the Company elects not to or cannot withhold from other compensation, the Participant must pay the Company the full amount, if
any, required for withholding or have a broker tender to the Company cash equal to the withholding obligations. Payment of withholding obligations is due before the Company
will issue any shares on exercise or release from forfeiture of an Award or, if the Company so requires, at the same time as payment of the exercise price unless the Company

determines otherwise. If provided for in an Award or approved by the Board in its sole discretion, a Participant may satisfy such tax obligations in whole or in part by delivery

(either by actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Common Stock, including shares retained from the Award creating the tax obligation, valued at their Fair Market Value;

provided, however, except as otherwise provided by the Board, that the total tax withholding where stock is being used to satisfy such tax obligations cannot exceed the
Company’s minimum statutory withholding obligations (based on minimum statutory withholding rates for federal and state tax purposes, including payroll taxes, that are
applicable to such supplemental taxable income). Shares used to satisfy tax withholding requirements cannot be subject to any repurchase, forfeiture, unfulfilled vesting or other
similar requirements.

(f) Amendment of Award.

(1) The Board may amend, modify or terminate any outstanding Award, including but not limited to, substituting therefor another Award of the same or a different type,
changing the date of exercise or realization, and converting an Incentive Stock Option to a Nonqualified Stock Option. The Participant’s consent to such action shall be
required unless (i) the Board determines that the action, considering any related action, does not materially and adversely affect the Participant’s rights under the Plan or
(ii) the change is permitted under Section 8 hereof.
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(2) The Board may, without stockholder approval, amend any outstanding Award granted under the Plan to provide an exercise price per share that is lower than the
then-current exercise price per share of such outstanding Award. The Board may also, without stockholder approval, cancel any outstanding award (whether granted
under the Plan) and grant in substitution therefor new Awards under the Plan covering the same or a different number of shares of Common Stock and having an
exercise price per share lower than the then-current exercise price per share of the cancelled award.

(g) Conditions on Delivery of Stock. The Company will not be obligated to deliver any shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan or to remove restrictions from shares
previously delivered under the Plan until (i) all conditions of the Award have been met or removed to the satisfaction of the Company, (ii) in the opinion of the Company’s
counsel, all other legal matters in connection with the issuance and delivery of such shares have been satisfied, including any applicable securities laws and any applicable stock
exchange or stock market rules and regulations, and (iii) the Participant has executed and delivered to the Company such representations or agreements as the Company may
consider appropriate to satisfy the requirements of any applicable laws, rules or regulations.

(h) Acceleration. The Board may at any time provide that any Award shall become immediately exercisable in full or in part, free of some or all restrictions or conditions, or
otherwise realizable in full or in part.



10. Miscellaneous

(a) No Right To Employment or Other Status. No person shall have any claim or right to be granted an Award, and the grant of an Award shall not be construed as giving a
Participant the right to continued employment or any other relationship with the Company. The Company expressly reserves the right at any time to dismiss or otherwise
terminate its relationship with a Participant free from any liability or claim under the Plan, except as expressly provided in the applicable Award.

(b) No Rights As Stockholder. Subject to the provisions of the applicable Award, no Participant or Designated Beneficiary shall have any rights as a stockholder with respect to
any shares of Common Stock to be distributed with respect to an Award until becoming the record holder of such shares.

(c) Effective Date and Term of Plan. The Plan shall become effective on the date on which it is adopted by the Board. No Awards shall be granted under the Plan after the
expiration of 10 years from the earlier of (i) the date on which the Plan was adopted by the Board or (ii) the date the Plan was approved by the Company’s stockholders, but
Awards previously granted may extend beyond that date.

(d) Amendment of Plan. The Board may amend, suspend or terminate the Plan or any portion thereof at any time; if at any time the approval of the Company’s stockholders is
required as to any modification or amendment under Section 422 of the Code or any successor provision with respect to Incentive Stock Options, the Board may not affect such
modification or amendment without such approval. Unless otherwise specified in the amendment, any amendment to the Plan adopted in accordance with this Section 10(d)
shall apply to, and be binding on the holders of, all Awards outstanding under the Plan at the time the amendment is adopted, provided the Board determines that such
amendment, considering any related action, does not materially and adversely affect the rights of Participants under the Plan.
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(e) Authorization of Sub-Plans. The Board may from time to time establish one or more sub-plans under the Plan for purposes of satisfying applicable securities or tax laws of
various jurisdictions. The Board shall establish such sub-plans by adopting supplements to the Plan containing (i) such limitations on the Board’s discretion under the Plan as the
Board deems necessary or desirable or (ii) such additional terms and conditions not otherwise inconsistent with the Plan as the Board shall deem necessary or desirable. All
supplements adopted by the Board shall be deemed to be part of the Plan, but each supplement shall apply only to Participants within the affected jurisdiction and the Company
shall not be required to provide copies of any supplement to Participants in any jurisdiction which is not the subject of such supplement.

(f) Non-U.S. Employees. Awards may be granted to Participants who are non-U.S. citizens or residents employed outside the United States, or both, on such terms and
conditions different from those applicable to Awards to Participants employed in the United States as may, in the judgment of the Board, be necessary or desirable to recognize

differences in local law or tax policy. The Board also may impose conditions on the exercise or vesting of Awards to minimize the Board’s obligation with respect to tax

equalization for Participants on assignments outside their home country. The Board may approve such supplements to or amendments, restatements or alternative versions of the
Plan as it may consider necessary or appropriate for such purposes, without thereby affecting the terms of the Plan as in effect for any other purpose, and the Secretary or other
appropriate officer of the Company may certify any such document as having been approved and adopted in the same manner as the Plan.

(g) Compliance with Section 409A of the Code. Except as provided in individual Award agreements initially or by amendment, if and to the extent any portion of any payment,
compensation or other benefit provided to a Participant in connection with his or her employment termination is determined to constitute “nonqualified deferred compensation”
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and the Participant is a specified employee as defined in Section 409A(a)(2) (B)(i) of the Code, as determined by the Company
in accordance with its procedures, by which determination the Participant (through accepting the Award) agrees that he or she is bound, such portion of the payment,
compensation or other benefit shall not be paid before the day that is six months plus one day after the date of “separation from service” (as determined under Section 409A of
the Code) (the “New Payment Date”), except as Section 409A of the Code may then permit.

The aggregate of any payments that otherwise would have been paid to the Participant during the period between the date of separation from service and the New Payment Date
shall be paid to the Participant in a lump sum on such New Payment Date, and any remaining payments will be paid on their original schedule.
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The Company makes no representations or warranty and shall have no liability to the Participant or any other person if any provisions of or payments, compensation or other
benefits under the Plan are determined to constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code but do not to satisfy the conditions of that section.

(h) Limitations on Liability. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, no individual acting as a director, officer, other employee, or agent of the Company will be liable
to any Participant, former Participant, spouse, beneficiary, or any other person for any claim, loss, liability, or expense incurred in connection with the Plan, nor will such
individual be personally liable with respect to the Plan because of any contract or other instrument he or she executes in his or her capacity as a director, officer, other employee,
or agent of the Company. The Company will indemnify and hold harmless each director, officer, other employee, or agent of the Company to whom any duty or power relating
to the administration or interpretation of the Plan has been or will be delegated, against any cost or expense (including attorneys’ fees) or liability (including any sum paid in
settlement of a claim with the Board’s approval) arising out of any act or omission to act concerning the Plan unless arising out of such person’s own fraud or bad faith.

(1) Governing Law. The provisions of the Plan and all Awards made hereunder shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida,
excluding choice-of-law principles of the law of such state that would require the application of the laws of a jurisdiction other than such state.
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Exhibit 10.9
AMENDED & RESTATED CONFIRMATORY PATENT ASSIGNMENT AND ROYALTY AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED & RESTATED CONFIRMATORY PATENT ASSIGNMENT AND ROYALTY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of
November 11, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by and between SRQ PATENT HOLDINGS II, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (‘“Assignor”), located at 324 South Hyde
Park Ave Suite 350 Tampa FL 33606, SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Florida corporation, (“Assignee”), located at 324 S. Hyde Park Avenue, Suite 350, Tampa FL
33606, and Jonnie R. Williams, Sr., an individual (“Inventor”) to amend, restate and replace that certain Confirmatory Patent and Assignment Agreement among the parties
originally entered into effective as of November 3, 2020. Assignor, Assignee, and Inventor are herein referred to collectively as the “Parties”.

WHEREAS, Jonnie R. Williams, Sr. (“Inventor”) has assigned the entire right, title, and interest in the Assigned Patent Applications, inventions and improvements
therein, and Letters Patent (referred to herein collectively as the “Innovation”) to Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. via assignment executed December 5, 2018 and recorded in the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on December 9, 2019 at Reel 051214, Frame 0238 (“Assignment”); and

WHEREAS, as part of the consideration for the Assignment, Assignee desires to grant Assignor royalties as set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1—DEFINITIONS
1.1 Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings for such terms that are set forth in the Assignment.
1.2 a. “Assigned Product” shall mean: (a) any product whose manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale, or importation infringes a Valid Claim of an Assigned Patent Application or
Letters Patent either directly or by contributory infringement or inducement of infringement (collectively “covered”); (b) any product which is applied using any method that is
covered by a Valid Claim of an Assigned Patent Application or Letters Patent; or (c) any method covered by a Valid Claim of an Assigned Patent Application or Letters Patent.
For purposes of clarity, an Assigned Product shall continue to be covered by this definition after expiration of such Assigned Patent Application or Letters Patent for as long as
such Assigned Product remains covered by terms of any strategic partnership/joint venture and/or License agreement with any third party.

b. “Assigned Patent Applications” shall mean the Patent Applications listed on the attached Schedule A.

1

1.3 “Licensee” shall mean any entity, whether a partnership, firm, company, corporation or otherwise to which Assignee grants a license of the Innovation or a part thereof.

1.4 “Net Sales Price” shall mean the invoice price for Assigned Products sold in arm’s length sales or commercial transactions to a third party by Assignee, its affiliates, or any
third party which acquired ownership of any Assigned Product from Assignee, less deductions for taxes, duties, and shipping charges separately stated on the invoice.

1.5 “Revenue” shall mean any and all revenue or other consideration received for an Assigned Product, including but not limited to, revenue or royalties from sales of Assigned
Products, upfront revenue, milestone revenue, royalty income (e.g., running royalty or minimum royalty), license fees, and the market value at the time of transfer of all non-

monetary consideration such as in-kind contribution valued in money in the country of disposition.

1.6 “Valid Claim” shall mean a claim in an Assigned Patent Application or unexpired Letters Patent which has not been held invalid or unenforceable by a court or tribunal of
competent jurisdiction from which no further appeal can be taken or has been taken within the required time period.

ARTICLE 2—ROYALTY PAYMENTS AND REPORTS
2.1 Royalties. Assignee agrees to pay to Assignor eight percent (8.0%) of the following consideration actually received in the aggregate by Assignee:
(1) Net Sales Price; and
(ii) Revenue, excluding any commercial sales accounted for in the Net Sales Price

(collectively, (i) and (ii) being the “Royalties”), where the term “milestone revenue” as used in Section 1.5 (Revenue) refers to consideration paid to Assignee, by any third
party, upon the first achievement of any developmental or regulatory approval event as to all Assigned Product(s). These Royalties will be distributed as follows:

Recipient Royalty

Starwood Trust, or its assigns Eight percent (8.0 %) Revenue
4423 Bay Shore Road, Sarasota, FL 34234

2.2 Licensees. To the extent Assignee grants a license of the Innovation, or any part thereof, to any third party, and receives Revenue therefrom, then Assignee agrees
to pay to Assignor eight percent (8.0%) of Revenue received in the aggregate by Assignee from all such licensees granting rights to the Innovation, distributed by Assignee as
set forth in Section 2.1, to the extent such Revenue has not been accounted for in Section 2.1(ii). For clarity, Assignee will owe at most eight percent (8.0%) of all consideration
collectively received from all commercial sales and all third parties under all sections of this Article 2.
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2.3 Term of Royalty Obligations. The Royalties specified in Section 2.1 shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall continue, in each country on a product-by-
product and country-by-country basis until the later of i) the date of expiration of the last to expire patent included within the Innovation, or ii) the date of expiration of the last
strategic partnership/licensing agreement including the Innovation.

2.4 Payments of Royalties. Royalties shall be paid no later than sixty (60) days following the end of the calendar quarter during which Assigned Products are sold and
invoiced, or Revenues are received.

2.5 Place of Payment. Assignee agrees to pay the respective amounts contemplated by Article 2 to Assignor at the respective addresses listed hereinabove, or at such
other places as Assignor may specify from time to time, in United States dollars and through a United States bank as designated by Assignor.

2.6 No royalty shall be paid twice on the Assigned Product.

2.7 Interest. All payments due hereunder that are not paid when due and payable as specified in this Agreement shall bear interest at an accrual rate equal to the prime
rate for U.S. dollar deposits in effect from time to time, as published daily in the Wall Street Journal plus 5%, compounded monthly from the date due until paid, or at such



lower rate of interest as shall then be the maximum rate permitted by applicable law.

2.8 Right to Documentation. Upon request, Assignor shall have the right to request reasonable documentation of Assignee’s calculations to determine Royalties and to
request discussion of such calculations with appropriate representatives of Assignee.

2.9 Records Retention and Audits. Assignee agrees to keep true and accurate records, files, and books of account containing all the data reasonably required for the full
computation and verification of the Royalties to be paid in Article 2 hereof, and Assignee further agrees to permit its books and records to be examined from time to time to the
extent necessary to verify such Royalties, such examination to be made at the expense of Assignor by any auditor appointed by any of Assignor who shall be acceptable to
Assignee, or by a certified public accountant appointed by Assignor; provided that only those Royalties paid by Assignee within the two (2) year period immediately preceding
the start of the audit, and their supporting records, files, and books of account will be subject to audit.
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ARTICLE 3—ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS

3.1 Royalty recipients identified in section 2.1 above acknowledge and agree that Assignee may assign, license or otherwise convey any part or all of the Innovation to
a third party without the consent of any or all of the Royalty recipients. Such assignment shall be through an arms-length transaction to a non-affiliate, made at fair value, and
shall result in treatment of Royalty recipients which is proportional to the rights granted in section 2.1 above. Assignee shall give written notice to Starwood Trust with respect
to any assignment of the Innovation granted by Assignee.

3.2 Assignee shall give written notice to Starwood Trust with respect to any license of the Innovation granted by Assignee. Such license shall be through an arms-
length transaction to a non-affiliate, made at fair value, and shall result in treatment of Royalty recipients which is proportional to the rights granted in section 2.1 above

ARTICLE 4—MISCELLANEOUS

4.1 Relationship of Parties. Nothing in this Agreement is or shall be deemed to constitute a partnership, agency, employee or joint venture relationship between the
Parties. No Party shall incur any debts or make any commitments for the other, except to the extent, if at all, specifically provided herein.

4.2 This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Parties, Starwood Trust, their successors and lawful assigns, and be binding upon the Parties, their successors, and
lawful assigns.

4.3 Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing by all of the Parties, and upon the written consent of Starwood Trust. This Agreement may be
signed in counterparts, each of which when taken together, will constitute one and the same instrument.

4.4 Waiver. No provision of this Agreement shall be waived by any act, omission or knowledge of a Party or its agents or employees except by an instrument in
writing expressly waiving such provision and signed by the waiving Party.

4.5 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of Florida and the laws of The United States of America as applicable, and any dispute between the
Parties with respect to this Agreement shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the Florida Courts.

4.6 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any
provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision will be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity,
without invalidating the remainder of this Agreement.

4.7 Force Majeure. Neither Party shall lose any rights hereunder or be liable to the other Party or beneficiary for damages or losses (except for payment obligations) on
account of failure of performance by the defaulting party to the extent such the failure is occasioned by war, strike, fire, Act of God, earthquake, flood, lockout, embargo,
governmental acts or orders or restrictions (except if imposed due to or resulting from the party’s violation of law or regulations), failure of suppliers, or any other reason where
failure to perform is beyond the reasonable control and not caused by the negligence, intentional conduct or misconduct of the nonperforming party and the nonperforming party
has exerted all reasonable efforts to avoid or remedy such force majeure; provided, however, that in no event shall a force majeure excuse performance for a period of more than
six (6) months.

4.8 Notice. All notices required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by first class postage pre-paid mail, via electronic mail with
receipt verification, or by facsimile transmission, effective in each case upon the date of mailing or facsimile transmission thereof to the parties addressed as follows:

If to Assignor or Inventor.
SRQ Patent Holdings 11
c/o Starwood Trust

4423 Bay Shore Road
Sarasota FL 34234

If to Assignee:

Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
324 South Hyde Park Avenue, Suite 350
Tampa, Florida 33606-4110
or to such other address as the party to receive such notice shall have designated by written notice to the other party hereto.

[Signatures Begin on Next Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer as of the day and year first above written.

SRQ PATENT HOLDINGS II, LLC(Assignor)



By: /s/ Starwood Trust

Name: Starwood Trust
Title:  Sole Member

SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. (Assignee)

By: /s/ William J. McNulty

Name: William J. McNulty
Title:  Vice President

JONNIE R. WILLIAMS, SR. (Inventor)

/s/ Jonnie R. Williams, Sr.

SCHEDULE A

Supera Pharmaceuticals Patent Applications

Provisional Application No. 62/632,448
International Application No. PCT/US19/17433
United States Application No. 16/612,472
Australian Application No. 2019225717
Canadian Application No. 3091776

Chinese Application No. 201980014261X
European Application No. 19756525.2

Israeli Application No. 276518

Japanese Application No. PCT/US19/17433

South Korean Application No. 10-2020-7026914




Exhibit 10.10

AMENDED & RESTATED CONFIRMATORY PATENT ASSIGNMENT AND
ROYALTY AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED & RESTATED CONFIRMATORY PATENT ASSIGNMENT AND ROYALTY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of
November 11, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by and between SRQ PATENT HOLDINGS, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (“Assignor”), located at 324 South Hyde
Park Ave Suite 350 Tampa FL 33606, and MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Florida corporation, (“Assignee”), located at 324 S. Hyde Park Avenue, Suite 350, Tampa
FL 33606 to amend, restate and replace that certain Confirmatory Patent and Assignment Agreement among the parties originally entered into effective as of November 17,
2017 and that certain First Amended Confirmatory Patent Assignment and Royalty Agreement entered into effective November 9, 2020. Assignor and Assignee are herein
referred to collectively as the “Parties”.

WHEREAS, Assignor assigned its entire right, title, and interest in the Assigned Patent Applications, inventions and improvements therein, and Letters Patent (referred
to herein collectively as the “Innovation”) to Assignee via that certain Assignment, dated November 15, 2016 (referred to herein as the “Assignment”), recorded with the United
States Patent and Trademark Office on November 16, 2016 at reel and frame number 040337/0243; and

WHEREAS, as part of the consideration for the Assignment, Assignee desires to grant Assignor royalties as set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1—DEFINITIONS
1.1 Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings for such terms that are set forth in the Assignment.
1.2 “Assigned Product” shall mean: (a) any product whose manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale, or importation infringes a Valid Claim of an Assigned Patent Application or
Letters Patent either directly or by contributory infringement or inducement of infringement (collectively “covered”); (b) any product which is applied using any method that is
covered by a Valid Claim of an Assigned Patent Application or Letters Patent; or (c) any method covered by a Valid Claim of an Assigned Patent Application or Letters Patent.
For purposes of clarity, an Assigned Product shall continue to be covered by this definition after expiration of such Assigned Patent Application or Letters Patent for as long as

such Assigned Product remains covered by terms of any strategic partnership/joint venture and/or License agreement with any third party.
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1.3 “Licensee” shall mean any entity, whether a partnership, firm, company, corporation or otherwise to which Assignee grants a license of the Innovation or a part thereof.

1.4 “Net Sales Price” shall mean the invoice price for Assigned Products sold in arm’s length sales or commercial transactions to a third party by Assignee, its affiliates, or any
third party which acquired ownership of any Assigned Product from Assignee, less deductions for taxes, duties, and shipping charges separately stated on the invoice.

1.5 “Revenue” shall mean any and all revenue or other consideration received for an Assigned Product, including but not limited to, revenue or royalties from sales of Assigned
Products, upfront revenue, milestone revenue, royalty income (e.g., running royalty or minimum royalty), license fees, and the market value at the time of transfer of all non-

monetary consideration such as in-kind contribution valued in money in the country of disposition.

1.6 “Valid Claim” shall mean a claim in an Assigned Patent Application or unexpired Letters Patent which has not been held invalid or unenforceable by a court or tribunal of
competent jurisdiction from which no further appeal can be taken or has been taken within the required time period.

ARTICLE 2—ROYALTY PAYMENTS AND REPORTS
2.1 Royalties. Assignee agrees to pay to Assignor eight percent (8.0%) of the following consideration actually received in the aggregate by Assignee:
(1) Net Sales Price; and
(ii) Revenue, excluding any commercial sales accounted for in the Net Sales Price

(collectively, (i) and (ii) being the “Royalties”), where the term “milestone revenue” as used in Section 1.5 (Revenue) refers to consideration paid to Assignee, by any third
party, upon the first achievement of any developmental or regulatory approval event as to all Assigned Product(s). These Royalties will be distributed as follows:

Recipient Royalty
Starwood Trust, or its assigns seven percent (7.0 %) Revenue

4423 Bay Shore Road, Sarasota, FL 34234
Mr. Samuel S. Duffey, Esq., or his assigns one-half of one percent (0.5%) Revenue

8771 Grey Oaks Ave.
Sarasota, FL 34238

Mr. James A. McNulty, CPA, or his assigns one-half of one percent (0.5%) Revenue

324 South Hyde Park Ave., Suite 350,
Tampa, FL 33606

2.2 Licensees. To the extent Assignee grants a license of the Innovation, or any part thereof, to any third party, and receives Revenue therefrom, then Assignee agrees
to pay to Assignor eight percent (8.0%) of Revenue received in the aggregate by Assignee from all such licensees granting rights to the Innovation, distributed by Assignee as
set forth in Section 2.1, to the extent such Revenue has not been accounted for in Section 2.1(ii). For clarity, Assignee will owe at most eight percent (8.0%) of all consideration
collectively received from all commercial sales and all third parties under all sections of this Article 2.

2.3 Term of Royalty Obligations. The Royalties specified in Section 2.1 shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall continue, in each country on a product-by-
product and country-by-country basis until the later of i) the date of expiration of the last to expire patent included within the Innovation, or ii) the date of expiration of the last
strategic partnership/licensing agreement including the Innovation.



2.4 Payments of Royalties. Royalties shall be paid no later than sixty (60) days following the end of the calendar quarter during which Assigned Products are sold and
invoiced, or Revenues are received.

2.5 Place of Payment. Assignee agrees to pay the respective amounts contemplated by Article 2 to Assignor, Mr. Duffey, and Mr. McNulty at the respective addresses
listed hereinabove, or at such other places as Assignor, Mr. Duffey, and Mr. McNulty may specify from time to time, in United States dollars and through a United States bank
as designated by each of Assignor, Mr. Duffey, and Mr. McNulty.

2.6 No royalty shall be paid twice on the Assigned Product.

2.7 Interest. All payments due hereunder that are not paid when due and payable as specified in this Agreement shall bear interest at an accrual rate equal to the prime
rate for U.S. dollar deposits in effect from time to time, as published daily in the Wall Street Journal plus 5%, compounded monthly from the date due until paid, or at such

lower rate of interest as shall then be the maximum rate permitted by applicable law.

2.8 Right to Documentation. Upon request, Assignor, Mr. Duffey, and Mr. McNulty shall have the right to request reasonable documentation of Assignee’s calculations
to determine Royalties and to request discussion of such calculations with appropriate representatives of Assignee.
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2.9 Records Retention and Audits. Assignee agrees to keep true and accurate records, files, and books of account containing all the data reasonably required for the full
computation and verification of the Royalties to be paid in Article 2 hereof, and Assignee further agrees to permit its books and records to be examined from time to time to the
extent necessary to verify such Royalties, such examination to be made at the expense of Assignor, Mr. Duffey, or Mr. McNulty, as applicable, by any auditor appointed by any
of Assignor, Mr. Duffey, or Mr. McNulty who shall be acceptable to Assignee, or by a certified public accountant appointed by any of Assignor, Mr. Duffey, or Mr. McNulty;
provided that only those Royalties paid by Assignee within the two (2) year period immediately preceding the start of the audit, and their supporting records, files, and books of
account will be subject to audit.

ARTICLE 3—ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS

3.1 Royalty recipients identified in section 2.1 above acknowledge and agree that Assignee may assign, license or otherwise convey any part or all of the Innovation to
a third party without the consent of any or all of the Royalty recipients. Such assignment shall be through an arms-length transaction to a non-affiliate, made at fair value, and
shall result in treatment of Royalty recipients which is proportional to the rights granted in section 2.1 above. Assignee shall give written notice to Starwood Trust, Mr. Duffey,
and Mr. McNulty with respect to any assignment of the Innovation granted by Assignee.

3.2 Assignee shall give written notice to Starwood Trust, Mr. Duffey, and Mr. McNulty with respect to any license of the Innovation granted by Assignee. Such license
shall be through an arms-length transaction to a non-affiliate, made at fair value, and shall result in treatment of Royalty recipients which is proportional to the rights granted in
section 2.1 above

ARTICLE 4—MISCELLANEOUS

4.1 Relationship of Parties. Nothing in this Agreement is or shall be deemed to constitute a partnership, agency, employee or joint venture relationship between the
Parties. No Party shall incur any debts or make any commitments for the other, except to the extent, if at all, specifically provided herein.

4.2 This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Parties, Starwood Trust, Mr. Duffey, Mr. McNulty, their successors and lawful assigns, and be binding upon the
Parties, their successors, and lawful assigns.

4.3 Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing by all the Parties, and upon the written consent of Starwood Trust, Mr. Duffey and Mr.
McNulty. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which when taken together, will constitute one and the same instrument.
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4.4 Waiver. No provision of this Agreement shall be waived by any act, omission or knowledge of a Party or its agents or employees except by an instrument in
writing expressly waiving such provision and signed by the waiving Party.

4.5 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of Florida and the laws of The United States of America as applicable, and any dispute between the
Parties with respect to this Agreement shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the Florida Courts.

4.6 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any
provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision will be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity,
without invalidating the remainder of this Agreement.

4.7 Force Majeure. Neither Party shall lose any rights hereunder or be liable to the other Party or beneficiary for damages or losses (except for payment obligations) on
account of failure of performance by the defaulting party to the extent such the failure is occasioned by war, strike, fire, Act of God, earthquake, flood, lockout, embargo,
governmental acts or orders or restrictions (except if imposed due to or resulting from the party’s violation of law or regulations), failure of suppliers, or any other reason where
failure to perform is beyond the reasonable control and not caused by the negligence, intentional conduct or misconduct of the nonperforming party and the nonperforming party
has exerted all reasonable efforts to avoid or remedy such force majeure; provided, however, that in no event shall a force majeure excuse performance for a period of more than
six (6) months.

4.8 Notice. All notices required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by first class postage pre-paid mail, via electronic mail with
receipt verification, or by facsimile transmission, effective in each case upon the date of mailing or facsimile transmission thereof to the parties addressed as follows:

If to Assignor:

SRQ Patent Holdings
c/o Starwood Trust
4423 Bay Shore Road
Sarasota FL 34234

If to Assignee:

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
324 South Hyde Park Avenue, Suite 350



Tampa, Florida 33606-4110

If to Mr. Duffey:

8771 Grey Oaks Ave.
Sarasota, FL 34238

If to Mr. McNulty:
James A. McNulty, CPA
324 South Hyde Park Ave Suite 350
Tampa, FL 33606-4110
or to such other address as the party to receive such notice shall have designated by written notice to the other party hereto.

[Signatures Begin on Next Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer as of the day and year first above written.
SRQ PATENT HOLDINGS, LLC (Assignor)

By: /s/ Caroline Williams

Name: Caroline Williams/Starwood Trust
Title:  Trustee — Starwood Trust

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. (Assignee)

By: /s/ James A. McNulty

Name: James A. McNulty
Title: CEO




Exhibit 10.11

Employment Agreement

This Employment Agreement is entered into effective as of December 18, 2020 (the “Effective Date”) by and between MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and
Adam Kaplin, M.D. (“Employee”).

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Company and Employee hereby agree as follows:

L.

Position of Employment.

a. The Company will employ the Employee in the position of Chief Scientific Officer (“CSO”) and, in that position, Employee will report to the Company’s
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Company retains the right to change Employee’s title, duties, and reporting relationships as may be
determined to be in the best interests of the Company; provided, however, that any such change shall be consistent with Employee’s training, experience, and
qualifications.

b. The terms and conditions of the Employee’s employment shall, to the extent not addressed or described in this Employment Agreement, be governed by the
Company’s Board of Directors. In addition, the Company in its discretion may adopt a formal Policies and Procedures Manual for all employees to adhere to. In
the event of a conflict between this Employment Agreement, the Board of Directors, and/or the future implementation of a Policies and Procedures Manual
and/or existing practices, the terms of this Agreement shall govern.

c. Except as otherwise provided herein, Employee shall serve the Company on a full-time basis. The Company acknowledges that Employee is currently engaged
in numerous activities and consultancies in addition to his employment relationship with the Company and that Employee may establish additional outside
relationships and activities without approval by the Company.

Term of Employment. This Employment Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue for two years (the “Term of Employment”). In the event
of a Notice of Termination issued by the Company for cause, the Employee shall be paid his normal monthly Base Salary for three months paid following Notice of

Termination which shall constitute Employee’s full and complete entitlement to severance compensation.
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Compensation. During the Term of Employment, the Company will pay Employee the Base Salary set forth in Exhibit “A” (the “Base Salary”). The Employee’s Base
Salary shall be paid monthly during the Term of Employment after the deduction of appropriate federal and state withholding taxes. In addition to the Base Salary, the
Company will pay Bonus Compensation to Employee in accordance with Exhibit “B” (the “Bonus Compensation”). Additionally, at the effective date of this Agreement,
the Employee shall be paid a Signing Bonus as provided in Exhibit “C” hereto, and shall be granted Four Hundred Thousand (400,000) stock options (the “Stock
Options”), each with a two-year term, an exercise price of $1.00, and vesting and becoming exercisable as provided in Exhibit “D” hereto. The Stock Options shall be
subject to and governed by the terms and conditions set forth in the Company’s written Stock Option Plan and Agreement and a formal Stock Option Grant Agreement.
Benefits. The Company will provide and cover the cost of health insurance and disability policies for Employee during the Term of Employment.

Expenses. The Company will reimburse Employee for all reasonable pre-approved travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by Employee during the Term of
Employment in providing services hereunder.

Disclosure of Inventions. During the Term of Employment, Employee shall promptly disclose in confidence to the Company all inventions, improvements, designs,
original works of authorship, formulas, processes, compositions of matter, computer software programs, databases, mask works and trade secrets made or discovered by
Employee that: (i) are related to, expand, continue and/or advance the Company’s Proprietary Assets or the potential manufacture, formulation, use, efficacy or safety
thereof; (ii) are made or discovered as a direct result of the performance of services hereunder; and/or (iii) are made or discovered based on the recommendation or
suggestion of the Company or the Company’s Founder, Jonnie R. Williams (the “Inventions”). The Company’s Proprietary Assets are defined as all discoveries, product
candidates, molecules, processes, potential therapies, and/or technologies that the Company treats as proprietary and/or trade secret; provided that, the Company first
notifies Employee in writing and Employee does not object in writing, to such status as a Proprietary Asset. Employee is hereby given written notice that as of the date
hereof the Company’s Proprietary Assets includes MYMD-1 (Isomyosmine) and SUPERA-1R. Both MYMD-1 and SUPERA-1R are described in patent filings. For
clarity, regardless of written notice, the Company’s Proprietary Assets will include any and all Inventions made or discovered by Employee during the Term provided the
Invention is made or discovered pursuant to subparagraph (i), (ii) and/or (iii) above.

Work for Hire; Assignment of Inventions. Employee acknowledges and agrees that any copyrightable works prepared within the scope of involvement with the
Company are “works for hire” under the Copyright Act and that the Company will be considered the author and owner of such copyrightable works. Employee agrees
that all Inventions that (i) are developed using equipment, supplies facilities or trade secrets of the Company, (ii) result from work performed for the Company, or (iii)
relate to any of the Company’s Proprietary Assets will be the sole and exclusive property of, and are hereby irrevocably assigned by him to, the Company.
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Assignment of Other Rights. In addition to the foregoing assignment of Inventions to the Company, Employee hereby irrevocably transfers and assigns to the
Company: (i) all worldwide patents, patent applications, copyrights, mask works, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights in any Invention within the scope of
involvement with the Company; and (ii) any and all Moral Rights (as defined below) that he may have in or with respect to any Invention. Employee also hereby forever
waives and agrees never to assert any and all Moral Rights he may have in or with respect to any Invention within the scope of involvement with the Company, even
after termination of my involvement with the Company. “Moral Rights” mean any rights to claim authorship of an Invention, to object to or prevent the modification of
any Invention, or to withdraw from circulation or control the publication or distribution of any Invention, and any similar right, existing under judicial or statutory law of
any country in the world, or under any treaty, regardless of whether or not such right is denominated or generally referred to as a “moral right.”

Assistance. Employee agrees to assist the Company in every proper way to obtain for the Company and enforce patents, copyrights, mask work rights, trade secret rights
and other legal protections for the Company’s Inventions in any and all countries. Employee will execute any documents that the Company may reasonably request for
use in obtaining or enforcing such patents, copyrights, mask work rights, trade secrets and other legal protections. Employee’s obligations under this paragraph will
continue beyond the termination of this Agreement, provided that the Company will compensate Employee at a reasonable rate after such termination for time or
expenses actually spent by me at the Company’s request on such assistance. Employee appoints the President of the Company as attorney-in-fact to execute documents
on her behalf for this purpose upon his review and approval of such documents.

Proprietary Information. Employee understands that his participation in this Agreement with the Company creates a relationship of confidence and trust with respect to
any information of a confidential or secret nature that may be disclosed to him by the Company that relates to the businesses of the Company or to the business of any
affiliate, customer or supplier of the Company or any other party with whom the Company agrees to hold information of such party in confidence (the “Proprietary
Information”). Such Proprietary Information includes, but is not limited to, Inventions, marketing plans, product plans, business strategies, financial information,
forecasts, personnel information, customer lists, domain names or any other material information, which is not generally available to the public.
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. Confidentiality. At all times, both during the Term of Employment and after its termination, Employee will keep and hold all such Proprietary Information in strict

confidence and trust. Employee will not use or disclose any Proprietary Information without the prior written consent of the Company, except as may be necessary to
perform his duties for the benefit of the Company, provided, however, that the restrictions upon use of Proprietary Information not constituting “Trade Secrets” shall be
limited to the period of this Agreement with the Company and five (5) years thereafter. Upon termination of his involvement with the Company, Employee will promptly
deliver to the Company all documents and materials of any nature pertaining to his work with the Company. Employee will not take with him any documents or
materials or copies thereof containing any Proprietary Information. As used herein, the term “Trade Secret” means any technical or nontechnical data, formula, pattern,
compilation, program, device, method, technique, drawing, process, financial data, financial plan, product plan, list of actual or potential customers or suppliers, or other
information similar to any of the foregoing, which (i) derives economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable
by proper means by, other persons who can derive economic value from its disclosure or use; and (ii) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances
to maintain its secrecy. Employee shall keep all Trade Secrets of the Company for as long as the Company maintains them as a trade secret. In addition to the
requirements set forth above, Employee agrees that the restrictions in this Agreement regarding the use or disclosure of Proprietary Information, including, without
limitation, the restrictions in this Agreement regarding the use or disclosure of Trade Secrets, shall be in addition to any restrictions imposed by law in the absence of
contract.

. No Breach of Prior Agreement. Employee represents that his performance of all the terms of this Agreement will not breach any agreement with any former or current

employer or other party, including but not limited to The Johns Hopkins School of Medicine. Employee represents that he will not bring with him to the Company or use
in the performance of my duties for the Company any documents or materials or intangibles of a former employer or third party that are not generally available to the
public or have not been legally transferred to the Company.

. Injunctive Relief. Employee understands that in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by Employee, the Company may suffer irreparable harm

and will therefore be entitled to injunctive relief to enforce this Agreement.

. Governing Law: Severability. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without giving effect to that body

of laws pertaining to conflict of law. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such provision will be enforced to the maximum extent possible given the intent of the parties hereto. If such clause or provision cannot be
so enforced, such provision shall be stricken from this Agreement and the remainder of this Agreement shall be enforced as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable
clause or provision had (to the extent not enforceable) never been contained in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the forgoing, if the value of this Agreement based upon
the substantial benefit of the bargain for any party is materially impaired, which determination as made by the presiding court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction shall
be binding, then this Agreement will not be enforceable against such affected party and both parties agree to renegotiate such provision(s) in good faith.
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. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered will be deemed an original, and all of

which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents referred to herein or referencing this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and understanding of the parties

with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersede all prior understandings and agreements, whether oral or written, between or among the parties hereto
with respect to the specific subject matter hereof.

. Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement executed by each of the parties hereto. No amendment of or waiver of, or

modification of any obligation under this Agreement will be enforceable unless set forth in a writing signed by the party against which enforcement is sought.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Employment Agreement to be signed by its officer pursuant to the authority of its Board, and the Employee has
executed this Employment Agreement, as of the day and year first written above.

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty
By: James A. McNulty, CEO

Adam Kaplin, M.D.

/s/ Adam Kaplin

EXHIBIT “A”

Base Salary

Employee’s Base Salary shall be Two Hundred Fifty Thousand dollars ($250,000) per annum paid in monthly increments.
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EXHIBIT “B”

Bonus Compensation

The following Bonus Compensation shall be paid to Employee within thirty (30) calendar days following the completion of each of the following Bonus Events that are
accomplished by MyMD-1 during the Term of Employment.

1)

2)

3)

4

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: dosing of the first patient with MyMD-1 in the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19; a clinical trial for depression involving patients who have COVID-19
would quality as a disease indication other than COVID-19.

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of each of the following Bonus Events: public announcement of positive results
from each MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial following the initial Phase 2 clinical trial described in #2 above (to a maximum of five (5) additional Phase 2 clinical trials)
which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
initial MyMD-1 Phase 3 clinical trial in COVID-19;



5) Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: the establishment of a formal relationship with
the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to advance, participation in and/or support MyMD-1 clinical trials in COVID-19 provided that the nature and/or extent of the NIH
relationship is satisfactory in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors;

6) Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of FDA and/or EMA
approval of an IND for SUPERA-IR for Human Clinical Trials;

7) Such additional Bonus Compensation as may be determined in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors, including at its annual review of Employee’s
compensation.

EXHIBIT “C”
Signing Bonus
At the Effective Date of this Agreement, Employee shall receive a lump-sum payment of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).
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EXHIBIT “D”
Stock Option Vesting Schedule (only vested stock options may be exercised)
Set forth below is the schedule pursuant to which the Employee Stock Options granted to Employee on the Effective Date of this Agreement shall vest and become exercisable:
Four Hundred Thousand (400,000) Stock Options shall vest on the Effective Date of this Employment Agreement.
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Exhibit 10.12

First Amendment to Employment Agreement

WHEREAS, MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and Adam Kaplin, M.D. (“Employee”) (collectively “the Parties”) entered into an Employment Agreement dated
December 18, 2020 (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, for good and valuable consideration the Parties hereby amend the Agreement as follows:

Exhibit “B” is replaced with Exhibit “B” appended hereto.

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty
By: James A. McNulty, CEO

Date: 2/11/21

/s/ Adam Kaplin
Adam Kaplin, MD, PhD

Date: 2/10/21

EXHIBIT “B”

Bonus Compensation

The following Bonus Compensation shall be paid to Employee within thirty (30) calendar days following the completion of each of the following Bonus Events that are
accomplished by MyMD-1 during the Term of Employment.

1)

2)

3)

4

5)

6)

7)

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: dosing of the first patient with MyMD-1 in the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19; a clinical trial for depression involving patients who have COVID-19
would quality as a disease indication other than COVID-19.

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of each of the following Bonus Events: public announcement of positive results
from each MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial following the initial Phase 2 clinical trial described in #2 above (to a maximum of five (5) additional Phase 2 clinical trials)
which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
initial MyMD-1 Phase 3 clinical trial in COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: the establishment of a formal relationship with
the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to advance, participation in and/or support a MyMD-1 clinical trial provided that the nature and/or extent of the NIH relationship
is satisfactory in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors;

Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of FDA and/or EMA
approval of an IND for SUPERA-IR for Human Clinical Trials.

Such additional Bonus Compensation as may be determined in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors, including at its annual review of Employee’s
compensation.




Exhibit 10.13

Employment Agreement

This Employment Agreement is entered into effective as of November 1, 2020 (the “Effective Date”) by and between MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc. (the “Company”) and Chris
Chapman, MD (“Employee”).

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Company and Employee hereby agree as follows:

L.

Position of Employment.

a. The Company will employ the Employee in the position of President and Chief Medical Officer, and, in that position, Employee will report to the Company’s
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Company retains the right to change Employee’s title, duties, and reporting relationships as may be
determined to be in the best interests of the Company; provided, however, that any such change shall be consistent with Employee’s training, experience, and
qualifications.

b. The terms and conditions of the Employee’s employment shall, to the extent not addressed or described in this Employment Agreement, be governed by the
Company’s Board of Directors. In addition, the Company in its discretion may adopt a formal Policies and Procedures Manual for all employees to adhere to. In
the event of a conflict between this Employment Agreement, the Board of Directors, and/or the future implementation of a Policies and Procedures Manual
and/or existing practices, the terms of this Agreement shall govern.

c. Except as otherwise provided herein, Employee shall serve the Company on a part time and “as available” basis. The Company acknowledges that Employee is
currently engaged in numerous activities, including employment at Chapman Pharmaceutical Consulting, Inc. in addition to his employment relationship with
the Company and that Employee may establish additional outside relationships and activities without approval by the Company.

Term of Employment. This Employment Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until terminated for any reason by either party, which
shall be effective upon written Notice (the “Term of Employment”). In the event of a Notice of Termination issued by the Company for any reason, the Employee shall
be paid his normal monthly Base Salary for three months paid following Notice of Termination which shall constitute Employee’s full and complete entitlement to
severance compensation.

Compensation. During the Term of Employment, the Company will pay Employee the Base Salary set forth in Exhibit “A” (the “Base Salary”) and the Bonus
Compensation set forth in Exhibit “B.” The Employee’s Base Salary shall be paid monthly during the Term of Employment. Additionally, at the effective date of this
Agreement, the Employee shall be granted Two Hundred Fifty Thousand (250,000) stock options (the “Stock Options”), each with a five-year term, an exercise price of
$1.00, and vesting and becoming exercisable as provided in Exhibit “C” hereto. The Stock Options shall be subject to and governed by the terms and conditions set forth
in the Company’s written stock option plan and formal Stock Option Grant Agreement.

Expenses. The Company will reimburse Employee for all reasonable pre-approved travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by Employee during the Term of
Employment in providing services hereunder.

Disclosure of Inventions. During the Term of Employment, Employee shall promptly disclose in confidence to the Company all inventions, improvements, designs,
original works of authorship, formulas, processes, compositions of matter, computer software programs, databases, mask works and trade secrets made or discovered by
Employee that: (i) are related to, expand, continue and/or advance the Company’s Proprietary Assets or the potential manufacture, formulation, use, efficacy or safety
thereof; (ii) are made or discovered as a direct result of the performance of services hereunder; and/or (iii) are made or discovered based on the recommendation or
suggestion of the Company or the Company’s Founder, Jonnie R Williams (the “Inventions”). The Company’s Proprietary Assets are defined as all discoveries, product
candidates, molecules, processes, potential therapies, and/or technologies that the Company treats as proprietary and/or trade secret; provided that, the Company first
notifies Employee in writing and Employee does not object in writing, to such status as a Proprietary Asset. Employee is hereby given written notice that as of the date
hereof the Company’s Proprietary Assets consist of MYMD-1 (Isomyosmine) and if acquired by the Company, SUPERA-1R. Both MYMD-1 and SUPERA-IR are
described in patent filings. For clarity, regardless of written notice, the Company’s Proprietary Assets will include any and all Inventions made or discovered by
Employee during the Term provided the Invention is made or discovered pursuant to subparagraph (i), (ii) and/or (iii) above.

Work for Hire; Assignment of Inventions. Employee acknowledges and agrees that any copyrightable works prepared within the scope of involvement with the
Company are “works for hire” under the Copyright Act and that the Company will be considered the author and owner of such copyrightable works. Employee agrees
that all Inventions that (i) are developed using equipment, supplies facilities or trade secrets of the Company, (ii) result from work performed for the Company, or (iii)
relate to any of the Company’s Proprietary Assets will be the sole and exclusive property of, and are hereby irrevocably assigned by him to, the Company.
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Assignment of Other Rights. In addition to the foregoing assignment of Inventions to the Company, Employee hereby irrevocably transfers and assigns to the
Company: (i) all worldwide patents, patent applications, copyrights, mask works, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights in any Invention within the scope of
involvement with the Company; and (ii) any and all “Moral Rights” (as defined below) that he may have in or with respect to any Invention within the scope of
involvement with the Company. Employee also hereby forever waives and agrees never to assert any and all Moral Rights he may have in or with respect to any
Invention, even after termination of my involvement with the Company. “Moral Rights” mean any rights to claim authorship of an Invention, to object to or prevent the
modification of any Invention, or to withdraw from circulation or control the publication or distribution of any Invention, and any similar right, existing under judicial or
statutory law of any country in the world, or under any treaty, regardless of whether or not such right is denominated or generally referred to as a “moral right.”
Assistance. Employee agrees to assist the Company in every proper way to obtain for the Company and enforce patents, copyrights, mask work rights, trade secret rights
and other legal protections for the Company’s Inventions in any and all countries. Employee will execute any documents that the Company may reasonably request for
use in obtaining or enforcing such patents, copyrights, mask work rights, trade secrets and other legal protections. Employee’s obligations under this paragraph will
continue beyond the termination of this Agreement, provided that the Company will compensate Employee at a reasonable rate after such termination for time or
expenses actually spent by me at the Company’s request on such assistance. Employee appoints the President of the Company as attorney-in-fact to execute documents
on her behalf for this purpose upon his review and approval of such documents.

Proprietary Information. Employee understands that his participation in this Agreement with the Company creates a relationship of confidence and trust with respect to
any information of a confidential or secret nature that may be disclosed to him by the Company that relates to the businesses of the Company or to the business of any
affiliate, customer or supplier of the Company or any other party with whom the Company agrees to hold information of such party in confidence (the “Proprietary
Information™). Such Proprietary Information includes, but is not limited to, Inventions, marketing plans, product plans, business strategies, financial information,
forecasts, personnel information, customer lists, domain names or any other material information, which is not generally available to the public.
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. Confidentiality. At all times, both during the Term of Employment and after its termination, Employee will keep and hold all such Proprietary Information in strict

confidence and trust. Employee will not use or disclose any Proprietary Information without the prior written consent of the Company, except as may be necessary to
perform his duties for the benefit of the Company, provided, however, that the restrictions upon use of Proprietary Information not constituting “Trade Secrets” shall be
limited to the period of this Agreement with the Company and five (5) years thereafter. Upon termination of his involvement with the Company, Employee will promptly
deliver to the Company all documents and materials of any nature pertaining to his work with the Company. Employee will not take with him any documents or
materials or copies thereof containing any Proprietary Information. As used herein, the term “Trade Secret” means any technical or nontechnical data, formula, pattern,
compilation, program, device, method, technique, drawing, process, financial data, financial plan, product plan, list of actual or potential customers or suppliers, or other
information similar to any of the foregoing, which (i) derives economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable
by proper means by, other persons who can derive economic value from its disclosure or use; and (ii) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances
to maintain its secrecy. Employee shall keep all Trade Secrets of the Company for as long as the Company maintains them as a trade secret. In addition to the
requirements set forth above, Employee agrees that the restrictions in this Agreement regarding the use or disclosure of Proprietary Information, including, without
limitation, the restrictions in this Agreement regarding the use or disclosure of Trade Secrets, shall be in addition to any restrictions imposed by law in the absence of
contract.

. No Breach of Prior Agreement. Employee represents that his performance of all the terms of this Agreement will not breach any agreement with any former or current

employer or other party. Employee represents that he will not bring with him to the Company or use in the performance of my duties for the Company any documents or
materials or intangibles of a former employer or third party that are not generally available to the public or have not been legally transferred to the Company.

. Injunctive Relief. Employee understands that in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by Employee, the Company may suffer irreparable harm

and will therefore be entitled to injunctive relief to enforce this Agreement.

. Governing Law: Severability. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without giving effect to that body

of laws pertaining to conflict of law. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such provision will be enforced to the maximum extent possible given the intent of the parties hereto. If such clause or provision cannot be
so enforced, such provision shall be stricken from this Agreement and the remainder of this Agreement shall be enforced as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable
clause or provision had (to the extent not enforceable) never been contained in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the forgoing, if the value of this Agreement based upon
the substantial benefit of the bargain for any party is materially impaired, which determination as made by the presiding court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction shall
be binding, then this Agreement will not be enforceable against such affected party and both parties agree to renegotiate such provision(s) in good faith.
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16.

. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered will be deemed an original, and all of

which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents referred to herein or referencing this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and understanding of the parties

with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersede all prior understandings and agreements, whether oral or written, between or among the parties hereto
with respect to the specific subject matter hereof.

Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement executed by each of the parties hereto. No amendment of or waiver of, or
modification of any obligation under this Agreement will be enforceable unless set forth in a writing signed by the party against which enforcement is sought.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Employment Agreement to be signed by its officer pursuant to the authority of its Board, and the Employee has
executed this Employment Agreement, as of the day and year first written above.

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty 10/26/20
By: James A. McNulty, CEO

/s/ Chris Chapman, M.D. 10/30/20
Chris Chapman, MD

EXHIBIT “A”

Base Salary

Employee’s Base Salary shall be one hundred sixty-five thousand dollars ($165,000) per annum paid in monthly increments.
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EXHIBIT “B”

Bonus Compensation

The following Bonus Compensation shall be paid to Employee within thirty (30) calendar days following the completion of each of the following Bonus Events that are
accomplished by MyMD-1 during the Term of Employment.

D

2)

3)

4)

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: dosing of the first patient with MyMD-1 in the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19; a clinical trial for depression involving patients who have COVID-19
would quality as a disease indication other than COVID-19.

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of each of the following Bonus Events: public announcement of positive results
from each MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial following the initial Phase 2 clinical trial described in #2 above (to a maximum of five (5) additional Phase 2 clinical trials)
which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
initial MyMD-1 Phase 3 clinical trial in COVID-19;



5) Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: the establishment of a formal relationship with
the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to advance, participation in and/or support MyMD-1 clinical trials in COVID-19 provided that the nature and/or extent of the NIH
relationship is satisfactory in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors;

6) Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of FDA and/or EMA
approval of an IND for SUPERA-IR for Human Clinical Trials.

7) Such additional Bonus Compensation as may be determined in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors, including at its annual review of Employee’s
compensation.

EXHIBIT “C”
Stock Option Vesting Schedule (only vested stock options may be exercised)
Set forth below is the schedule pursuant to which the Employee Stock Options granted to Employee on the Effective Date of this Agreement shall vest and become exercisable:

One Hundred Twenty-five Thousand (125,000) Stock Options shall vest at the end of year one (1) following the Effective Date and One Hundred Twenty-five Thousand
Options (125,000) shall vest at the end of year Two (2) following the Effective Date of this Employment Agreement.
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Exhibit 10.14

First Amendment to Employment Agreement

WHEREAS, MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and Chris Chapman, MD (“Employee”) (collectively “the Parties”) entered into an Employment Agreement dated
November 1, 2020 (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, for good and valuable consideration the Parties hereby amend the Agreement as follows:

Section 2 is replaced with the following Section 2 and new Section 3.1 is added as appears below.

2. Term of Employment. This Employment Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue for a period of two years (the “Term of Employment”)
unless earlier terminated by either party, which termination shall be effective upon written Notice to the other party. In the event of a Notice of Termination issued by the
Company for cause, the Employee shall be paid his normal monthly Base Salary for three months paid following Notice of Termination which shall constitute
Employee’s full and complete entitlement to severance compensation.

3.1. Benefits. The Company will provide and cover the cost of health insurance and disability policies for Employee during the Term of Employment.

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty
By: James A. McNulty, CEO

Date: 12/18/20

/s/ Chris Chapman, M.D.
Chris Chapman, MD

Date: December 18, 2020




Exhibit 10.15
Second Amendment to Employment Agreement

WHEREAS, MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and Chris Chapman, MD (“Employee”) (collectively “the Parties”) entered into an Employment Agreement dated
November 1, 2020 and first amended on December 18, 2020 (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, for good and valuable consideration the Parties hereby amend the Agreement as follows:
Exhibit “C” is replaced with Exhibit “C” appended hereto.
MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty

By: James A. McNulty, CEO
Date: 1/8/21

/s/ Chris Chapman, M.D.

Chris Chapman, MD

Date: 1/8/21

EXHIBIT “C”
Stock Option Vesting Schedule (only vested stock options may be exercised)
Set forth below is the schedule pursuant to which the Employee Stock Options granted to Employee on the Effective Date of this Agreement shall vest and become exercisable:
Two Hundred Fifty Thousand (250,000) Stock Options shall vest on the Effective Date of this Employment Agreement.
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Exhibit 10.16

Third Amendment to Employment Agreement

WHEREAS, MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and Chris Chapman, MD (“Employee”) (collectively “the Parties”) entered into an Employment Agreement dated
November 1, 2020 and first amended on December 18, 2020 and second amended on January 8, 2021 (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, for good and valuable consideration the Parties hereby amend the Agreement as follows:

Exhibit “B” is replaced with Exhibit “B” appended hereto.

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty
By: James A. McNulty, CEO

Date: 2/11/21

/s/ Chris Chapman, M.D.
Chris Chapman, MD

Date: Feb. 10, 2021

EXHIBIT “B”

Bonus Compensation

The following Bonus Compensation shall be paid to Employee within thirty (30) calendar days following the completion of each of the following Bonus Events that are
accomplished by MyMD-1 during the Term of Employment.

1)

2)

3)

4

5)

6)

7)

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: dosing of the first patient with MyMD-1 in the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19; a clinical trial for depression involving patients who have COVID-19
would quality as a disease indication other than COVID-19.

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
first MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of each of the following Bonus Events: public announcement of positive results
from each MyMD-1 Phase 2 clinical trial following the initial Phase 2 clinical trial described in #2 above (to a maximum of five (5) additional Phase 2 clinical trials)
which can be for any disease indication other than COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of positive results from the
initial MyMD-1 Phase 3 clinical trial in COVID-19;

Bonus Compensation of $100,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: the establishment of a formal relationship with
the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to advance, participation in and/or support a MyMD-1 clinical trial provided that the nature and/or extent of the NIH relationship
is satisfactory in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors;

Bonus Compensation of $200,000 cash to be paid in lump-sum cash upon the completion of the following Bonus Event: public announcement of FDA and/or EMA
approval of an IND for SUPERA-IR for Human Clinical Trials.

Such additional Bonus Compensation as may be determined in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors, including at its annual review of Employee’s
compensation.




Exhibit 10.17

Employment Agreement

This Employment Agreement is entered into effective as of September 21, 2020 (the “Effective Date”) by and between MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and Paul
Rivard, Esq. (“Employee”).

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Company and Employee hereby agree as follows:

L.

Position of Employment.

a. The Company will employ the Employee in the position of Executive Vice President of Operations, and, in that position, Employee will report to the
Company’s Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Company retains the right to change Employee’s title, duties, and reporting relationships as
may be determined to be in the best interests of the Company; provided, however, that any such change shall be consistent with Employee’s training,
experience, and qualifications.

b. Theterms and conditions of the Employee’s employment shall, to the extent not addressed or described in this Employment Agreement, be governed by the
Company’s Board of Directors. In addition, the Company in its discretion may adopt a formal Policies and Procedures Manual for all employees to adhere to. In
the event of a conflict between this Employment Agreement, the Board of Directors, and/or the future implementation of a Policies and Procedures Manual
and/or existing practices, the terms of this Agreement shall govern.

c. Except as otherwise provided herein, Employee shall serve the Company on a part time and “as available” basis. The Company acknowledges that Employee is
currently engaged in numerous activities, including employment at The Johns Hopkins School of Medicine and consultancies in addition to his employment
relationship with the Company and that Employee may establish additional outside relationships and activities without approval by the Company.

Term of Employment. This Employment Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until terminated for any reason by either party, which
shall be effective upon written Notice (the “Term of Employment”). In the event of a Notice of Termination issued by the Company for any reason, the Employee shall
be paid his normal monthly Base Salary for three months paid following Notice of Termination which shall constitute Employee’s full and complete entitlement to
severance compensation.

Compensation. During the Term of Employment, the Company will pay Employee the Base Salary set forth in Exhibit “A” (the “Base Salary”). The Employee’s Base
Salary shall be paid monthly during the Term of Employment after the deduction of appropriate federal and state withholding taxes. Additionally, at the effective date of
this Agreement, the Employee shall be granted Two Hundred Thousand (200,000) stock options (the “Stock Options™), each with a five-year term, an exercise price of
$1.10, and vesting and becoming exercisable as provided in Exhibit “B” hereto. The Stock Options shall be subject to and governed by the terms and conditions set forth
in the Company’s written stock option plan and formal Stock Option Grant Agreement.

Expenses. The Company will reimburse Employee for all reasonable pre-approved travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by Employee during the Term of
Employment in providing services hereunder.

Disclosure of Inventions. During the Term of Employment, Employee shall promptly disclose in confidence to the Company all inventions, improvements, designs,
original works of authorship, formulas, processes, compositions of matter, computer software programs, databases, mask works and trade secrets made or discovered by
Employee that: (i) are related to, expand, continue and/or advance the Company’s Proprietary Assets or the potential manufacture, formulation, use, efficacy or safety
thereof; (ii) are made or discovered as a direct result of the performance of services hereunder; and/or (iii) are made or discovered based on the recommendation or
suggestion of the Company or the Company’s Founder, Jonnie R Williams (the “Inventions”). The Company’s Proprietary Assets are defined as all discoveries, product
candidates, molecules, processes, potential therapies, and/or technologies that the Company treats as proprietary and/or trade secret; provided that, the Company first
notifies Employee in writing and Employee does not object in writing, to such status as a Proprietary Asset. Employee is hereby given written notice that as of the date
hereof the Company’s Proprietary Assets consist of MYMD-1 (Isomysomine) and if acquired by the Company, SUPERA-1R. Both MYMD-1 and SUPERA-IR are
described in patent filings. For clarity, regardless of written notice, the Company’s Proprietary Assets will include any and all Inventions made or discovered by
Employee during the Term provided the Invention is made or discovered pursuant to subparagraph (i), (ii) and/or (iii) above.

Work for Hire; Assignment of Inventions. Employee acknowledges and agrees that any copyrightable works prepared within the scope of involvement with the
Company are “works for hire” under the Copyright Act and that the Company will be considered the author and owner of such copyrightable works. Employee agrees
that all Inventions that (i) are developed using equipment, supplies facilities or trade secrets of the Company, (ii) result from work performed for the Company, or (iii)
relate to any of the Company’s Proprietary Assets will be the sole and exclusive property of, and are hereby irrevocably assigned by him to, the Company.
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Assignment of Other Rights. In addition to the foregoing assignment of Inventions to the Company, Employee hereby irrevocably transfers and assigns to the
Company: (i) all worldwide patents, patent applications, copyrights, mask works, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights in any Invention; and (ii) any and all
“Moral Rights” (as defined below) that he may have in or with respect to any Invention. Employee also hereby forever waives and agrees never to assert any and all
Moral Rights he may have in or with respect to any Invention, even after termination of my involvement with the Company. “Moral Rights” mean any rights to claim
authorship of an Invention, to object to or prevent the modification of any Invention, or to withdraw from circulation or control the publication or distribution of any
Invention, and any similar right, existing under judicial or statutory law of any country in the world, or under any treaty, regardless of whether or not such right is
denominated or generally referred to as a “moral right”.

Assistance. Employee agrees to assist the Company in every proper way to obtain for the Company and enforce patents, copyrights, mask work rights, trade secret rights
and other legal protections for the Company’s Inventions in any and all countries. Employee will execute any documents that the Company may reasonably request for
use in obtaining or enforcing such patents, copyrights, mask work rights, trade secrets and other legal protections. Employee’s obligations under this paragraph will
continue beyond the termination of this Agreement, provided that the Company will compensate Employee at a reasonable rate after such termination for time or
expenses actually spent by me at the Company’s request on such assistance. Employee appoints the President of the Company as attorney-in-fact to execute documents
on her behalf for this purpose upon his review and approval of such documents.

Proprietary Information. Employee understands that his participation in this Agreement with the Company creates a relationship of confidence and trust with respect to
any information of a confidential or secret nature that may be disclosed to him by the Company that relates to the businesses of the Company or to the business of any
affiliate, customer or supplier of the Company or any other party with whom the Company agrees to hold information of such party in confidence (the “Proprietary
Information”). Such Proprietary Information includes, but is not limited to, Inventions, marketing plans, product plans, business strategies, financial information,
forecasts, personnel information, customer lists, domain names or any other material information, which is not generally available to the public.



10. Confidentiality. At all times, both during the Term of Employment and after its termination, Employee will keep and hold all such Proprietary Information in strict
confidence and trust. Employee will not use or disclose any Proprietary Information without the prior written consent of the Company, except as may be necessary to
perform his duties for the benefit of the Company, provided, however, that the restrictions upon use of Proprietary Information not constituting “Trade Secrets” shall be
limited to the period of this Agreement with the Company and five (5) years thereafter. Upon termination of his involvement with the Company, Employee will promptly
deliver to the Company all documents and materials of any nature pertaining to his work with the Company. Employee will not take with him any documents or
materials or copies thereof containing any Proprietary Information. As used herein, the term “Trade Secret” means any technical or nontechnical data, formula, pattern,
compilation, program, device, method, technique, drawing, process, financial data, financial plan, product plan, list of actual or potential customers or suppliers, or other
information similar to any of the foregoing, which (i) derives economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable
by proper means by, other persons who can derive economic value from its disclosure or use; and (ii) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances
to maintain its secrecy. Employee shall keep all Trade Secrets of the Company for as long as the Company maintains them as a trade secret. In addition to the
requirements set forth above, Employee agrees that the restrictions in this Agreement regarding the use or disclosure of Proprietary Information, including, without
limitation, the restrictions in this Agreement regarding the use or disclosure of Trade Secrets, shall be in addition to any restrictions imposed by law in the absence of
contract.

11. No Breach of Prior Agreement. Employee represents that his performance of all the terms of this Agreement will not breach any agreement with any former or current
employer or other party, including but not limited to The Johns Hopkins School of Medicine. Employee represents that he will not bring with him to the Company or use
in the performance of my duties for the Company any documents or materials or intangibles of a former employer or third party that are not generally available to the
public or have not been legally transferred to the Company.

12. Injunctive Relief. Employee understands that in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by Employee, the Company may suffer irreparable harm
and will therefore be entitled to injunctive relief to enforce this Agreement.

13. Governing Law: Severability. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without giving effect to that body
of laws pertaining to conflict of law. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such provision will be enforced to the maximum extent possible given the intent of the parties hereto. If such clause or provision cannot be
so enforced, such provision shall be stricken from this Agreement and the remainder of this Agreement shall be enforced as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable
clause or provision had (to the extent not enforceable) never been contained in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the forgoing, if the value of this Agreement based upon
the substantial benefit of the bargain for any party is materially impaired, which determination as made by the presiding court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction shall
be binding, then this Agreement will not be enforceable against such affected party and both parties agree to renegotiate such provision(s) in good faith.
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14. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered will be deemed an original, and all of
which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

15. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents referred to herein or referencing this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and understanding of the parties
with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersede all prior understandings and agreements, whether oral or written, between or among the parties hereto

with respect to the specific subject matter hereof.

16. Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement executed by each of the parties hereto. No amendment of or waiver of, or
modification of any obligation under this Agreement will be enforceable unless set forth in a writing signed by the party against which enforcement is sought.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Employment Agreement to be signed by its officer pursuant to the authority of its Board, and the Employee has
executed this Employment Agreement, as of the day and year first written above.

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /s/ James A. McNulty
Name: James A. McNulty, CEO

Paul M. Rivard, Esq.
/s/ Paul M. Rivard

EXHIBIT “A”
Base Salary
Employee’s Base Salary shall be one hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000) per annum paid in monthly increments.
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EXHIBIT “B”
Stock Option Vesting Schedule (only vested stock options may be exercised)
Set forth below is the schedule pursuant to which the Employee Stock Options granted to Employee on the Effective Date of this Agreement shall vest and become exercisable:

One Hundred Thousand (100,000) Stock Options shall vest at the end of year one (1) following the Effective Date and One Hundred Thousand Options (100,000) shall vest at
the end of year Two (2) following the Effective Date of this Employment Agreement.







First Amendment to Employment Agreement

Exhibit 10.18

WHEREAS, MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and Paul M. Rivard, Esq. (“Employee”) (collectively “the Parties”) entered into an Employment Agreement dated

September 21, 2020 (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, for good and valuable consideration the Parties hereby wish to amend the Agreement as follows:

Exhibit “C” to the Agreement is replaced with the Exhibit “C” appended hereto.

MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty

By: James A. McNulty, CEO
Paul M. Rivard, Esq.

/s/ Paul M. Rivard, Esq.

EXHIBIT “C”

Milestone Bonuses due upon achievement of milestones

Set forth below is the schedule pursuant to which the Employee will be paid $20,000 at the time each of the pending patent applications are issued to the Company. Each bonus

will be paid 30 days after receipt of the Issued Patent.

Title Assignee App. No. Estimated (Actual) Issuance
Methods of Reversing Normal Aging Process and Extending Lifespan MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 16/680,677 2Q 2021
Pharmaceutical Salts of Isomyosmine and Pharmaceutical Compositions MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 16/672,714 (10/20/2020)
Containing Same

Method of Regulating Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha (TNF-a) for Treating MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 16/785,747 (11/17/2020)
Cancers, Autoimmune Disorders, and Other Disorders Associated with

Chronic Inflammation

Method of Treating Viral Infections MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 16/791,290 (9/29/2020)
Method of Treating Coronavirus MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 16/792,492 1Q 2021
Methods of Regulating Oxidoreductase for Treatment of Aging and Age- MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 16/928,255 4Q 2021
related Disorders

Method of Treating Disorders Associated with Chronic Inflammation MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 17/084,012 1Q 2022
Synthetic Cannabinoid Compounds for Treatment of Substance Addiction Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 16/612,472 1Q 2021

and Other Disorders




Exhibit 10.19

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement

WHEREAS, MYMD Pharmaceuticals. Inc (the “Company”) and Paul M. Rivard, Esq. (“Employee”) (collectively “the Parties”) entered into an Employment Agreement dated
September 21, 2020 and first amended on November 24, 2020 (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, for good and valuable consideration the Parties hereby amend the Agreement as follows:

Section 3 is replaced with the following Section 3 and new Section 3.1 is added as appears below.

3.

3.1.

Compensation. During the Term of Employment, the Company will pay Employee the Base Salary set forth in Exhibit “A” (the “Base Salary”). The Employee’s Base
Salary shall be paid monthly during the Term of Employment after the deduction of appropriate federal and state withholding taxes. Additionally, at the effective date of
this Agreement, the Employee shall be granted Two Hundred Thousand (200,000) stock options (the “Stock Options”), each with a five-year term, an exercise price of
$1.00, and vesting and becoming exercisable as provided in Exhibit “B” hereto. The Stock Options shall be subject to and governed by the terms and conditions set forth
in the Company’s written stock option plan and formal Stock Option Grant Agreement.

Benefits. The Company will provide and cover the cost of health insurance and disability policies for Employee during the Term of Employment.
MYMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James A. McNulty
By: James A. McNulty, CEO

Date: 12/18/20
Paul M. Rivard, Esq.

/s/ Paul M. Rivard, Esq.

Date: 12/18/20
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Chris Chapman, President, Chief Medical Officer, and Director, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 18, 2021 By: /s/ Chris Chapman

Chris Chapman, M.D.
President, Chief Medical Officer, and Director (Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ian Rhodes, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13-a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 18, 2021 By: /s/lan Rhodes

Ian Rhodes
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Olfficer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, the undersigned, Chris Chapman, as the President, Chief Medical Officer, and Director of the Company, do hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

By: /s/ Chris Chapman

Date: May 18, 2021
Chris Chapman, M.D.

President, Chief Medical Officer, and Director (Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, the undersigned, Ian Rhodes, as the Chief Financial Officer, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 18, 2021 By: /s/lan Rhodes

Ian Rhodes
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 99.1

SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

SUPERA BALANCE SHEET
March 31,
2021 December 31,
(Unaudited) 2020
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash $ 5,075 $ 14,551
Due from affiliate 173,600 24,600
Total Assets $ 178,675 $ 39,151
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current Liabilities:
Trade accounts payable $ 745,560 $ 556,781
Paycheck Protection Program Loan 16,600 16,600
Total Current Liabilities 762,160 573,381
Related party line of credit 593,929 599,747
Related party interest payable 37,053 29,628
Total Liabilities 1,393,142 1,202,756
Stockholders’ Deficit
Common Stock $0.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares - -
authorized and 25,000,000 issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital - -
Accumulated Deficit (1,214,467) (1,163,605)
Total Stockholders’ Deficit (1,214,467) (1,163,605)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit $ 178,675 $ 39,151
The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
1
SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
March 31,
2021 December 31,
(Unaudited) 2020
Revenues $ - $ =
Operating Costs:
Travel and jet expenses 338,349 923,383
General and administrative expenses 92,009 330,004
Research and development expenses 57,079 85,901
Total Operating Costs 487,437 1,339,288
Other Expense (Income)
Travel expense reimbursements from affiliate (444,000) (808,300)
Interest expense 7,425 27,528
(436,575) (780,772)
Net Loss $ (50,862) (558,516)

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND YEAR ENDED DECMBER 31, 2020




SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Additional
Common Stock Paid In Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
Balances, January 1, 2020 25,000,000 $ - 8 -3 (605,089) $ (605,089)
Net loss - - - (558,516) (558,516)
Balances, December 31, 2020 25,000,000 - - (1,163,605) (1,163,605)
Net loss - (50,862) (50,862)
Balances, March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) 25,000,000 $ - 8 - 8 (1214467 $  (1,214,467)
The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
March 31,
2021 December 31,
(Unaudited) 2020

Cash flows from Operating activities
Net loss $ (50,862) $ (558,516)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash flows from operating activities
Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in:

Due from affiliate (149,000) (39,449)
Accounts payable 188,779 411,287
Interest payable 7,425 26,922
Net cash flows from operating activities (3,658) (159,756)
Cash flows from Financing activities
Proceeds from related party line of credit - 160,645
Payments on related party line of credit (5,818) (5,414)
Proceeds from Paycheck Protection Program loan - 16,600
Net cash flows from financing activities (5,818) 171,831
Net change in cash (9,476) 12,075
Cash, beginning of period 14,551 2,476
Cash, end of period $ 5,075 $ 14,551
The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1—Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies

Description of Business— Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed in September 2018 and is a Florida based development company that is developing its
product candidate “Supera-1R” as an FDA-approved synthetic derivative of naturally grown cannabidiols. Substantially all the Company’s research and development activities
in 2020 and 2021 were related to intellectual property development and securing patents, along with planning initial pre-clinical development activities.

The Company’s intellectual property portfolio consists of one pending US application and seven pending foreign counterparts. Ongoing pre-clinical work is expected to
accelerate in the second half of 2021.

Merger Transactions - In November 2020, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “MyMD Agreement””) with MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“MyMD”), a
related company though common control, whereby the Company will be acquired by MyMD through the issuance of 33,937,909 shares of common stock. MyMD entered into
the MyMD Agreement concurrently with a Plan of Merger (the “Akers Merger”) that contemplates the merger of MYMD with Akers Biosciences, Inc., an existing NASDAQ
listed public company. The Combined company is expected to be renamed MyMD Pharmaceuticals Inc. and remain listed on the NASDAQ under the new ticker symbol
“MYMD?”. The combined company will be led by Chris Chapman, MD, who is President and Chief Medical Officer of MyMD and Adam Kaplin, MD, who is Chief Scientific
Officer of MyMD. The combined company is planned to be headquartered in Baltimore, Maryland. Current Akers’ shareholders will own approximately 20% of the combined
company and current MyMD’s shareholders will own approximately 80% of the combined company. The merger agreement also provides for additional contingent payments in
cash and shares to the stockholders of MyMD under certain circumstances. The merger was contingent upon the approval of a shareholder vote of both the Company and Akers.
As of April 16, 2021, both the MyMD Agreement and the Akers Merger were finalized.



Income Taxes — The Company has elected to be taxed under the provisions of Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code. Under those provisions, the Company does not pay
federal corporate income taxes on its taxable income. Instead, the stockholders are liable for individual federal income taxes on their respective share of the Company’s taxable
income.

Research and Development Expenses — Research and development costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and include the expenses paid to third parties,
such as contract research organizations and consultants, who conduct research and development activities on behalf of the Company.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America requires the Company’s
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from such estimates and such differences could be material.

Subsequent Events — The Company has evaluated subsequent events through May 14, 2021, in connection with the preparation of these financial statements, which is the date
the financial statements were available to be issued.

Note 2—Liquidity and capital resources

Historically, the Company has been primarily engaged in pursuing its intellectual property and pre-clinical development activities related to its product candidate “Supera-1R”.
In the course of these activities, the Company has sustained substantial losses. The Company’s ability to fund ongoing operations and future research and development required
for Food and Drug Administration approval is dependent on the Company’s ability to obtain significant additional external funding in the near term. This additional funding
may not be available under commercially reasonable terms.

The Company expects to be able to fund operations through the first quarter of 2022, with available borrowings from related parties and cash resources available to the
Company upon the completion of the MyMD Agreement in April 2021. However, should actual cash expenditures exceed management’s budget, the Company may be forced
to curtail operations along with implementing other cost-saving measures, such as reducing the use of outside professional service providers, or significantly modifying or
delaying the pre-clinical development of our product candidate.

SUPERA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 3—Related party transactions

Travel — The Company leases an airplane from a company under common control at a fixed amount and incurred $150,000 and $600,000 in lease costs during the period ending
March 31, 2021 and year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, amounts due to the lessor totaled approximately $627,000
and $477,000, respectively, and is included in trade accounts payable in the accompanying balance sheets. The Company also has an agreement with an affiliate, MyMD, which
reimburses the Company for the cost of flights used by MyMD, based on an agreed-upon commercial hourly rate, plus fuel, contract pilot costs and other related expenses.
These travel reimbursements are recorded as other income in the accompanying statements of operations.

Line of Credit— In November 2018, the Company entered into a line of credit facility with a stockholder, which allows for borrowings of up to $1,000,000. The facility expires
on December 31, 2022, at which time all outstanding borrowings and accrued interest, if any, are due in full. Borrowings accrue interest at a rate of 5% per annum.

Note 4—Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On April 30, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of approximately $16,600 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). The PPP, established as part
of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times of the average monthly
payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The loans and accrued interest are forgivable as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll,
benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. The amount of loan forgiveness will be reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the
contractual period.

The Company applied for forgiveness in April 2021. The unforgiven portion of the PPP loan is payable over two years at an interest rate of 1%, with a deferral of payments
through the date that the SBA remits the borrower’s loan forgiveness amount to the lender. The Company believes that they used the proceeds for purposes consistent with the
PPP. While the Company currently believes that its use of the loan proceeds will meet the conditions for forgiveness of the loan, the Company cannot assure that it will not take
actions that could cause the Company to be ineligible for forgiveness of the loan, in whole or in part. Accordingly, the Company has classified the loan proceeds in accordance
with the payment terms of the PPP loan agreement.

Presently, the SBA and other government communications have indicated that all loans in excess of $2 million including loans with affiliates will be subject to audit and that
those audits could take up to seven years to complete. If the SBA determines that the PPP loan was not properly obtained and/or expenditures supporting forgiveness were not
appropriate, the company will need to repay some or all of the PPP loan.

Note 5S—Patent assignment and royalty agreement

In November 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with the holders of certain intellectual property relating to the Company’s current product candidate. Under the
terms of the agreement, the counterparty assigned its rights and interest in certain patents to the Company in exchange for future royalty payments based on a fixed percentage
of future revenues, as defined. The agreement is effective until the later of (1) the date of expiration of the assigned patents or (2) the date of expiration of the last strategic
partnership or licensing agreement including the assigned patents.




MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

Exhibit 99.2

MYMD BALANCE SHEET
March 31, December 31,
2021 2020
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash $ 432,103 133,733
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,218 1,218
Total Current assets 433,321 134,951
Total Assets $ 433,321 134,951
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER’S DEFICIT
Trade accounts payable $ 1,632,845 1,025,063
Due to Related Party 185,577 39,177
Accrued interest, related party 220,358 175,679
Loan Payable, related party 3,000,000 1,200,000
Payroll Protection Program Loan 54,000 54,000
Total Current Liabilities 5,092,780 2,493,919
Line of credit, related party net of unamortized discount 2,342,697 1,734,237
Total Liabilities 7,435,477 4,228,156
Stockholder’s Deficit
Common Stock $.0001 par value, 90,000,000 shares authorized 40,053,504 issued and outstanding 4,004 4,004
Additional Paid in Capital 43,411,488 43,411,488
Accumulated Deficit (50,417,648) (47,508,697)
Total Stockholder’s Deficit (7,002,156) (4,093,205)
Total Liabilities and Stockholder’s Deficit $ 433,321 134,951
The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
1
MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
March 31, December 31,
2021 2020
(Unaudited)
Revenues $ - =
Operating Costs:
General and administrative expenses 1,260,890 3,304,673
(including $0 and $855,000 of share-based compensation, respectively)
Research and development expenses 994,922 2,241,431
Option modification expense - 2,009,145
Total Operating Costs 2,255,812 7,555,249
Interest Expense (653,139) (1,375,216)
Net Loss $ (2,908,951) (8,930.,465)
The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
2

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020




Additional

Common Stock Paid In Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
Balances January 1, 2020 38,063,504 $ 3,806 36,848,064 $ (38,578,232) $ (1,726,362)
Sale of Common stock 1,980,000 198 1,979,802 - 1,980,000
Issuance of stock options for debt issuance - - 839,457 - 839,457
Share based compensation - - 855,000 - 855,000
Option modification - - 2,889,165 - 2,889,165
Net loss - - - (8,930,465) (8,930,465)
Balances, December 31, 2020 40,043,504 4,004 43,411,488 (47,508,697) (4,093,205)
Net loss - - - (2,908,951) (2,908,951)
Balances March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) 40,043,504 $ 4,004 43,411,488 § (50,417,648) $ (7,002,156)

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

3
MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
March 31, December 31,
2021 2020
(Unaudited)
Cash flows from Operating activities
Net loss $ (2,908,951)  $ (8,930,465)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities Share based compensation - 855,000
Option modification expense - 2,009,145
Amortization of debt issuance costs 608,460 1,191,859
Non-cash amortization expense - 18,334
Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - 16,254
Accounts payable 607,782 146,443
Accrued interest 44,679 165,040
Net cash flows from operating activities (1,648,030) (4,528,390)
Cash flows from Financing activities
Proceeds from sale of common stock - 1,980,000
Proceeds from Payroll Protection Program loan - 54,000
Proceeds from line of credit related party
- 1,680,241
Payment on line of credit related party - (408,741)
Proceeds from loan payable related party 1,800,000 1,200,000
Advances from related party 148,110 24,600
Net cash flows from financing activities 1,948,110 4,530,100
Net change in cash 300,080 1,710
Cash, beginning of period 132,023 132,023
Cash, end of period $ 432,103  § 133,733
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Issuance of stock options for debt issuance costs $ - $ 839,457
Modification of options recorded as increase in debt discount $ - $ 880,020
The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
4

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1—Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies

Description of Business— MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“MyMD” or the “Company”’) was formed in 2014 and is a Florida-based clinical development stage biopharmaceutical
company that is developing its product candidate, MyMD-1. MyMD-1 is a clinical stage small molecule that regulates the immunometabolic system to treat autoimmune
disease, including (but not limited to) multiple sclerosis, diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, and inflammatory bowel disease. MyMD-1 is being developed to treat age-related
illnesses such as frailty and sarcopenia, and COVID-19. MyMD-1 works by regulating the release of numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF-a, interleukin 6 (“IL-
6”) and interleukin 17 (“IL-17”). MyMD-1 will be evaluated in patients with depression due to COVID-19 related to the release of cytokines. The Company has significant



intellectual property coverage to protect these autoimmune indications as well as therapy as an anti-aging product. The Company’s intellectual property portfolio consists of 12
granted patents (11 US and 1 foreign), 22 pending applications (5 US, 16 foreign, and 1 international application).

Substantive operations began in 2016 and the Company’s Investigative New Drug application was filed with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in December 2018. The
Company completed its first-in-human Phase 1 clinical trial in December 2019. Phase 2 clinical trials for autoimmune diseases are planned as noted above, pending available
financing.

Merger Transaction — In November 2020, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Supera Agreement”) with Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Supera”), a
related company though common control, to be acquired by the Company through the issuance of 33,937,909 shares of common stock. The Company entered into the Supera
Agreement and closed the transaction on April 16, 2021 concurrently with the Plan of Merger (the “Akers Merger”) of the Company with Akers Biosciences, Inc. (“Akers”), an
existing NASDAQ-listed public company. The combined company has been renamed MyMD Pharmaceuticals Inc. and is listed on the NASDAQ under the new ticker symbol
“MYMD.” The combined company is led by Chris Chapman, MD, who is President and Chief Medical Officer of MyMD, and Adam Kaplin, MD, who is Chief Scientific
Officer of MyMD. The combined company is planned to be headquartered in Baltimore, Maryland. Akers’ shareholders own approximately 22.61% of the combined company
and MyMD’s shareholders own approximately 77.39% of the combined company. The merger agreement also provides for additional contingent payments in cash and shares to
the stockholders of MyMD under certain circumstances.

Income Taxes — The Company has elected to be taxed under the provisions of Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code. Under those provisions, the Company does not pay
federal corporate income taxes on its taxable income. Instead, the stockholders are liable for individual federal income taxes on their respective share of the Company’s taxable
income. The Subchapter S election terminated with the Akers Merger.

Share-Based Compensation — The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees and non-employees using the fair value-based method to determine compensation
for all arrangements where shares of stock or equity instruments are issued for compensation. Fair value of each common stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes valuation model that uses assumptions for expected volatility, expected dividends, expected term, and the risk-free interest rate. Expected volatility is based on
historical volatility of a peer group’s common stock and other factors estimated over the expected term of the options. The expected term of the options granted is derived using
the “simplified method” which computes expected term as the average of the sum of the vesting term plus the contract term. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury
yield. Existing options will continue under the Merger, with calculations consistent with the Merger Agreement terms.

Research and Development Expenses — Research and development costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and include the expenses paid to third parties,
such as contract research organizations and consultants, who conduct research and development activities on behalf of the Company. Patent-related costs, including registration
costs, documentation costs and other legal fees associated with the application, are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1—Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America requires the Company’s
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from such estimates and such differences could be material.

Subsequent Events — The Company has evaluated subsequent events through May 14, 2021, in connection with the preparation of these financial statements, which is the date
the financial statements were available to be issued.

Note 2—Liquidity and capital resources

Historically, the Company has been primarily engaged in developing MyMD-1. In the course of these activities, the Company has sustained substantial losses. The Company’s
ability to fund ongoing operations and future clinical trials required for Food and Drug Administration approval is dependent on the Company’s ability to obtain significant
additional external funding in the near term. Since inception, the Company financed its operations through the sale of common stock and related party financings. See Note 3
for details of a related party line of credit established in 2019. In November 2020, the Company entered into a $3,000,000 secured promissory note agreement with Akers. See
Note 4 for further details. Upon the consummation of the Merger discussed above in Note 1 with Akers, both the related party loan and line of credit were repaid in full.
Additional sources of financing may be sought by the Company. However, there can be no assurance that any fundraising will be achieved on commercially reasonable terms, if
at all.

The Company expects to be able to fund operations through the first half of 2022 with available cash from the completed merger. Should actual cash expenditures exceed
management’s budget, the Company may be forced to curtail operations along with implementing other cost-saving measures, such as a reduction in staff, reducing the use of
outside professional service providers, or significantly modifying or delaying the development of our product candidate.

Note 3—Line of credit, related party

In May 2019, the Company entered into a revolving credit facility which allows for borrowings of up to $5,000,000 with a shareholder. The facility had an initial term of 18
months, which was extended to July 31, 2021 and further extended to December 31, 2022, at which time all outstanding borrowings and accrued interest, if any, are due in full.
The line of credit was paid in full in connection with the merger. Borrowings accrued interest at a rate of 5% per annum. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company
issued a number of common stock options to the lender based on the total borrowings under the facility, with each dollar borrowed requiring the issuance of one common stock
option. Upon issuance, each common stock option vested at an exercise price of $1.00. During the period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended December 31, 2020, the
Company issued -0- and 1,385,241 common stock options, respectively, to the lender based on actual borrowings. The estimated fair market value of the common stock options
totaled $0 and $839,456 for the period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. This has been recorded as a direct reduction in the carrying
value of the related debt on the accompanying balance sheets. During 2020, the Company modified the options issued to the counterparty, the fair value of which was recorded
as an increase in the debt discount. See Note 7 for more information. As of March 31, 2021, the unamortized debt discount totaled $849,422 and the principal balance totaled
$3,192,119.

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020



Note 4—Loan payable, related party

On November 11, 2020, Akers agreed to loan MyMD up to $3,000,000 pursuant to a secured promissory note. All outstanding principal and interest is due upon maturity, the
earlier of April 15, 2022 or the date the Akers Merger is consummated. As of March 31, 2021, the principal outstanding balance of the note was $3,000,000. In April 2021, the
note was eliminated in consolidation at the Merger.

Note 5—Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On April 16, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of approximately $54,000 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). The PPP, established as part
of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times of the average monthly
payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The loans and accrued interest are forgivable as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll,
benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels.

The Company applied for forgiveness in April 2021. The amount of loan forgiveness will be reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the eight-
week period. The unforgiven portion of the PPP loan is payable over two years at an interest rate of 1%, with a deferral of payments through the date that the SBA remits the
borrower’s loan forgiveness amount to the lender. The Company intends to use the proceeds for purposes consistent with the PPP. While the Company currently believes that its
use of the loan proceeds will meet the conditions for forgiveness of the loan, the Company cannot assure that it will not take actions that could cause the Company to be
ineligible for forgiveness of the loan, in whole or in part. Accordingly, the Company has classified the loan proceeds in accordance with the payment terms of the PPP loan
agreement.

Presently, the SBA and other government communications have indicated that all loans in excess of $2 million including loans with affiliates will be subject to audit and that
those audits could take up to seven years to complete. If the SBA determines that the PPP loan was not properly obtained and/or expenditures supporting forgiveness were not
appropriate, the Company will need to repay some or all of the PPP loan.

Note 6—Capital stock

Classes of Stock — The Company has the authority to issue 100,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of 90,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of
undesignated preferred stock, whose rights and privileges will be defined by the Board of Directors when a series of preferred stock is designated.

MYMD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2021 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 7—Share-based compensation

In 2016, the Company adopted the MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) to enable the Company to grant options to
purchase common stock to employees, consultants, and non-employee directors of the Company. The Company has currently reserved 50,000,000 shares of its common stock
for issuance under the Plan.

During the period ended March 31, 2021, the Company issued no common stock options and none were exercised or forfeited. As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
10,853,360 common stock options were outstanding.

All stock options outstanding as of March 31,2021 and December 31, 2020 are fully vested and exercisable. As of March 31, 2021, there was no unrecognized share-based
compensation. During 2020, the Company and a shareholder entered into an option termination agreement in connection with the proposed merger. As a result, 31,300,000 fully
vested stock options were cancelled.

On November 10, 2020, the Company amended its non-qualified stock option award agreement for all outstanding options. The amendment provided that the remaining term of
the Option will continue until the second anniversary of the completion of a Reorganization Event, which will be deemed to have occurred upon the consummation of the
pending merger with Akers discussed above in Note 1. As such, all outstanding options will expire two years after the merger transaction has been completed. In conjunction
with this option modification, the Company recorded $2,009,145 of expense for the additional value provided to the option holders. Additionally, the Company recorded
$880,020, of debt discount relating to outstanding options issued in conjunction with the related party line of credit discussed above in Note 3. This has been recorded as a
direct reduction in the carrying value of the related debt on the accompanying balance sheets.

Note 8—Patent assignment and royalty agreement

In November 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with the holders of certain intellectual property relating to the Company’s current product candidate. Under the
terms of the agreement, the counterparty assigned its rights and interest in certain patents to the Company in exchange for future royalty payments based on a fixed percentage
of future revenues, as defined. The agreement is effective until the later of (1) the date of expiration of the assigned patents or (2) the date of expiration of the last strategic
partnership or licensing agreement including the assigned patents.

Note 9—Related party transactions

Line of Credit— See Note 3.

Loan Payable — See Note 4.

Travel Expenses — During the period ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred $444,000 and $793,000, respectively, in travel-
related expenses to a related party, which is included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statements of operations.




Exhibit 99.3
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021, give effect to the previously announced Agreement
and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated November 11, 2020, as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated March 16, 2021 (the “Merger Agreement”) by and among
MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New Jersey corporation previously known as Akers Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”), XYZ Merger Sub Inc. (the “Merger Sub”), a Florida
corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of and MyMD Pharmaceuticals (Florida), Inc., a Florida corporation previously known as MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“MyMD
Florida™), pursuant to which Merger Sub was merged with and into MyMD Florida, with MyMD Florida continuing after the merger as the surviving entity and a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”), and have been prepared in accordance with the guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification (“FASB ASC”) 805: Business Combinations. This transaction is accounted for as a reverse acquisition involving only the exchange of equity; whereby, the fair
value of the equity of the accounting acquiree (the Company) is used to measure consideration transferred since the value of the Company’s equity interests are more reliably
measurable than the value of the accounting acquirer’s (pre-Merger MyMD Florida) equity interest. Pre-Merger MyMD Florida is the accounting acquirer based upon the terms
of the Merger and other factors, such as the number of shares issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida stockholders under the Merger Agreement upon closing of the Merger,
relative voting rights and the composition of the combined company’s board and senior management. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements also
give effect to the purchase of substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Supera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Florida corporation (“Supera”), pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement, dated November 11, 2020, by and between pre-Merger MyMD Florida and Supera (the “Supera Purchase”), and the contribution of substantially all of the
assets Cystron Biotech, LLC (“Cystron”) pursuant to that certain Contribution and Assignment Agreement (the “Contribution Agreement”) by and among the Company,

Cystron, Oravax Medical, Inc. (“Oravax”), and, Premas Biotech PVT Ltd. (“Premas”) (such transaction the “Contribution Transaction”). Certain fair values of the acquired
assets and assumed liabilities may be estimated at the acquisition date pending confirmation or completion of the valuation process. Where provisional values are used in
accounting for a business combination, they may be adjusted retrospectively in subsequent periods within the measurement period when it reflects new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that were in existence at the acquisition date. The measurement period cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date. The following selected
unaudited pro forma financial data does not give effect to the potential issuance of shares of Company common stock issued for each milestone payment (the “Milestone
Shares”), which is contingent upon achievement of certain market capitalization milestone events during the 36-month period immediately following the closing of the Merger,
or the potential payment of an amount in cash, on a pro rata basis, equal to the aggregate cash proceeds received by the Company from the exercise of any options to purchase
shares of MyMD Florida common stock outstanding at the effective time of the Merger assumed by the Company upon closing of the Merger prior to the second-year
anniversary of the closing of the Merger (the “Option Exercise Period”), such payment (the “Additional Consideration”), which is contingent upon exercise of the options to
purchase pre-Merger MyMD Florida common stock assumed by the Company upon closing of the merger during the Option Exercise Period.

The following should be read with the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements presented below:

e  The accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements;

e The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the notes relating thereto in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 1, 2021.

e The Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating thereto of this
quarterly report;

o Pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s unaudited financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating thereto, contained in Exhibit
99.2; and

e  Supera’s unaudited financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the notes relating thereto, contained in Exhibit 99.1.

The Company is providing the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information to aid in the analysis of the financial aspects of the transactions.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 combines the historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of March
31, 2021 with the historical unaudited balance sheet of pre-Merger MyMD Florida as of March 31, 2021, giving pro forma effect to the Supera Purchase, the Contribution
Transaction and the proposed merger as if they had consummated on March 31, 2021.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021 combines the historical unaudited consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss of the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2021 with the historical unaudited statement of operations of pre-Merger MyMD Florida
for the three months ended March 31, 2021, giving pro forma effect to the Supera Purchase, the Contribution Transaction and the proposed merger as if they had consummated
as of January 1, 2021.

The historical financial information has been adjusted in the respective unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to pro forma events that are
(1) directly attributable to the Supera Purchase, the Contribution Transaction or the proposed merger, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the statements of
comprehensive loss, expected to have a continuing impact on the combined company.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements presented are based on the assumptions and adjustments described in the accompanying notes. The pro
forma condensed combined financial statements are presented for illustrative purposes only and do not purport to represent what the financial position or results of operations
would have been if the Supera Purchase, the Contribution Transaction or the proposed merger had been completed as of the dates indicated in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements or that will be realized upon the consummation of the proposed transactions.

The historical unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of the Company and pre-Merger MyMD Florida included herein have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The application of the acquisition method of accounting is dependent upon
certain valuations and other studies that have yet to be completed or have not progressed to a stage where there is sufficient information for a definitive measurement.
Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary, subject to further revision as additional information becomes available and additional analyses are performed and have
been made solely for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. Upon consummation of the Merger, final valuations and studies
will be performed. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final acquisition accounting may occur and these differences could have a material impact on the
accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and the combined company’s future financial position and results of operations. Fair values
determined as of the assumed acquisition dates are based on the most recently available information. To the extent there are significant changes to the Company’ or pre-Merger
MyMD Florida’s business, or as new information becomes available, the assumptions and estimates herein could change significantly.

Because pre-Merger MyMD Florida will be treated as the accounting acquirer, pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s assets and liabilities will be recorded at their pre-combination
carrying amounts and the historical operations that are reflected in the financial statements will be those of pre-Merger MyMD Florida. The Company’s assets and liabilities will
be measured and recognized at their fair values as of the date of the Merger, and consolidated with the assets, liabilities and results of operations of pre-Merger MyMD Florida
after the consummation of the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss includes certain acquisition accounting adjustments
described therein.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss does not include (a) the impacts of any revenue, cost or other operating synergies that may
result from the Merger or any related restructuring costs; (b) certain amounts resulting from the Merger that were determined to be of a non-recurring nature.




The Supera Purchase and the Merger have been consummated as of the date of the preparation of these pro forma financial statements.

MyMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc and Subsidiaries
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheets

March 31, 2021
(unaudited)
Accounting
Acquirer Cystron
Legal Pre-Merger Biotech
Acquirer MyMD Spin-off AJE AJE Pro Forma
Company Florida Adjustments # Adjustments # Combined
Current assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 569,366 $ 437,178 $ - $ - $ 1,006,544
Marketable Securities 30,480,537 - (1,500,000) a (3,379,614) 1 25,600,923
Other Receivables 3,026,137 - - (3,026,137) 4 -
Prepaid Expenses 223,029 1,218 - - 223,029
Total current assets 34,297,851 438,396 (1,500,000) (6,405,751) 26,830,496
Non-Current Assets
Investment in Oravax 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
Goodwill - - - 18,467,102 8 18,467,102
Total Non-Current Assets 1,500,000 - - 18,467,102 19,967,102
Total Assets 35,797.851  § 43839  $ 1,500,000 $ 12,061,351 $ 46,797,598
Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 2,374,059 $ 2,204,805 $ (1,500,000) a $ 688,913 6 $ 3,767,777
Bridge Loan Payable - Related Party - 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) 2,4 -
Accrued Interest - 257,411 - (257.411) 1 -
Due to Related Party
Starwood Trust and Jonnie Williams, Sr and
Supera - 185,577 - (185,577) 1 -
Line of Credit, Related Party, net unamortized Debt
Discount - 2,936,626 - (2,936,626) 1 -
Payroll Protection Program Loan - 70,600 - - 70,600
Total current liabilities 2,374,059 8,655,019 (1,500,000) (5,690,701) 3,838,377
Total Liabilities 2,374,059 $ 8,655,019 $ (1,500,000) $ (5,690,701) $ 3,838,377
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’/Members’ Deficit
Preferred Stock, no par value, 50,000,000 total
preferred shares authorized
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, 1,990,000
shares designated, no par value and a stated
value of $4.00 per share, 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of March 31, 2021 - - - - -
Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, 211,353
shares designated, no par value and a stated
value of $0.01 per share, 72,992 shares issued
and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 144,524 - - - 144,524
Series E Junior Participating Preferred Stock,
100,000 shares designated, no par value and a
stated value of $0.001 per share, 0 shares issued
and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 - - - - -
Common stock, no par value, 100,000,000 shares
authorized 8,326,730 issued and outstanding as of
March 31, 2021
171,925,670 - 10,290 b (40,451,041) 3,5,6,7,8 131,484,919
Common Stock $0.0001 par value, 90,000,000
shares authorized 40,043,504 outstanding as of
March 31, 2021 4,004 = (4,004) 3 =
Additional Paid-in-Capital - 43,411,488 - (43,411,488) 3 -
Accumulated Deficit (138,646,402) (51,632,115) (10,290) b 101,618,585 1,2,5,6,7,8 (88,670,222)
Total Stockholders’/Members’ Deficit 33,423,792 (8,216,623) - 17,752,052 42,959,221
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 35,797,851 $ 438,396 $ (1,500,000) $ 12,061,351 $ 46,797,598
MyMD Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Subsidiaries
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
(unaudited)
Accounting
Acquirer Cystron
Legal Pre-Merger Biotech
Acquirer MyMD Spin-off AJE AJE Pro Forma
Company Florida Adjustments # Adjustments # Combined
Product Revenue - 3 -3 - $ - $ -

Product Cost of Sales




Gross Income

Operating Expenses:
Administrative Expenses 1,508,336 1,247,248 - - 2,755,584
Sales and Marketing Expenses - - - - -
Research and Development Expenses (19,365) 1,052,001 10,290 bb - 1,042,926
Total operating expenses 1,488,971 2,299,249 10,290 - 3,798,510
Loss from operations (1,488,971) (2,299,249) (10,290) - (3,798,510)
Other (Income) Expense:
Loss on Disposal of Property and
Equipment - - - - -
Foreign Currency Transaction Loss - - - - -
Gain on Investments (12,649) - - - (12,649)
Loss on fair market value of Equity
Investments 14,402 14,402
Interest and Dividend (Income)/Expense (43,453) 660,564 - 26,137 aa 643,248
Total Other (Income)/Loss (41,700) 660,564 - 26,137 645,01
Loss from Continuing Operations Before
Income Tax (1,447,271) (2,959,813) (10,290) (26,137) (4,443,511)
Income Tax Benefit - - - - -
Net Loss from Continuing Operations (1,447,271) (2,959,813) (10,290) (26,137) (4,443.511)
Basic and Diluted loss per common share
from continuing operations $ (0.17) $ (0.12)
Weighted average basic common shares
outstanding 8,544,298 28,955,790 37,500,088

Notes to Unaudited Pro forma condensed combined Financial Statements
1. Description of the Transaction and Basis of the Pro Forma Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared in U.S. Dollars and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (US GAAP) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of SEC Regulation S-X, and present the pro forma financial position and results of operations of the
combined companies based upon the historical data of the Company and pre-Merger MyMD Florida, after giving effect to the Supera Purchase, the Contribution Transaction
and the Merger.

In accordance with the guidance under FASB ASC 805: Business Combinations, this transaction is accounted for as a reverse acquisition involving only the exchange of equity;
whereby, the fair value of the equity of the accounting acquiree (the Company) is used to measure consideration transferred since the value of the Company’s equity interests are
more reliably measurable than the value of the accounting acquirer’s (pre-Merger MyMD Florida) equity interest. Pre-Merger MyMD Florida is the accounting acquirer based
upon the terms of the Merger.

Merger Agreement

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into pre-Merger MyMD Florida, with pre-Merger MyMD Florida continuing after the Merger as the surviving
corporation on April 16, 2021. Based on the Exchange Ratio of 0.7718, the Company issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s shareholders 0.7718 shares of the Company’s
common stock per share of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s common stock, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. On a pro forma basis, based upon the number of shares
of the Company’s common stock issued in the Merger (including shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon certain outstanding Company options and warrants),
pre-Merger Company shareholders own approximately 22.95% of the combined company and pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders own approximately 77.05% of the
combined company.

The Company issued 28,553,307 shares of common stock and 4,188,315 stock options to the pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders on a post reverse split basis.
Treatment of the MYMD and Supera Merger

The merger of Supera into pre-Merger MyMD Florida was treated as a merger under common control. The financial statements were combined, and intercompany transactions
were eliminated. Intercompany eliminations consisted of $444,000 related to the use and reimbursement of expenses for a private aircraft as recorded in the Statements of
Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s shareholders owned 60% and Supera shareholders owned 40% of the combined entity. Based upon an exchange ratio of 1.3575 shares of pre-
Merger MyMD Florida’s common stock per share of Supera common stock, pre-Merger MyMD Florida issued 33,937,909 common shares to the shareholders of Supera upon
the closing of the merger. Pre-Merger MyMD Florida had approximately 73,991,413 of common shares issued and outstanding and 10,853,360 stock options outstanding upon
completion of the merger.

The pro forma condensed combined financial statements present the pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s combined entity as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021.
Treatment of the Contribution and Assignment Agreement in the Merger

On March 18, 2021, the Company entered into the Contribution Agreement by and among the Company, Cystron, and Oravax, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
contribute (i) an amount in cash equal to $1,500,000 to Oravax, (ii) cause Cystron to contribute substantially all of the assets associated with its business of developing and
manufacturing a COVID-19 Vaccine Candidate to Oravax, and deliver to Premas on behalf of Cystron $1,200,000 in satisfaction of all current accrued and unpaid milestone
payments due pursuant to the License and Development Agreement between Cystron and Premas (as amended and restated on March 19, 2020, the “License Agreement”). The
aggregate purchase price for the contribution consisted of 390,000 shares of capital stock of Oravax, or 13% of the projected outstanding shares of Oravax and the assumption
of all obligations or liabilities in respect of the assets of Cystron, including the License Agreement. In addition, Oravax agreed to pay future royalties to the Company equal to
2.5% of all net sales of products (or combination products) manufactured, tested, distributed and/or marketed by Oravax or its subsidiaries. In addition to the cash amount equal



to $1,200,000, the Company will hold for payment and delivery, an additional amount equal to $300,000 and 67,286 shares of the Company’s common stock and 72,922 shares
of the Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, due to Premas, to be paid and delivered at a future date upon Premas obtaining the requisite permissions from Indian
Authorities and making a demand on the Company for payment and delivery of the same. For the avoidance of doubt, the 134,572 shares of the Company’s common stock and
72,992 shares of the Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock referred to in the preceding sentence were previously issued and are outstanding in the stock books of the
Company registered in the name of Premas. (Note 3)

The Company will not have significant influence on the operating and financing decisions of Oravax. The Company treated the transaction under the cost method of accounting
per the guidance contained in FASB ASC 325 Investments - Other which is included in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2021. (Adjustments a,b)

Treatment of the Starwood Line of Credit in the Merger

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, in connection with the Merger, all amounts due and owing with respect to the line of credit established between pre-Merger MyMD Florida
and The Starwood Trust were paid in full upon the closing of the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet is adjusted to reclassify the line of credit
plus its accrued interest to marketable securities to reflect the disbursement of funds (Adjustment 1). Any amounts to be used to pay off The Starwood Trust to repay in full the
line of credit established between pre-Merger MyMD Florida and The Starwood Trust immediately following the closing is being treated as a reduction to the Company’s
$25,000,000 minimum cash contribution merger condition. (Adjustment 1)

Treatment of the Bridge Loan Note in the Merger

The Bridge Loan Note pursuant to which the Company was able to loan to pre-Merger MyMD Florida up to $3.0 million became an intercompany transaction upon the closing
of the Merger and as such is eliminated in the pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 (Adjustment 2, 4). The outstanding loan amount, plus
accumulated interest, are being treated as a reduction to the Company’s $25,000,000 minimum cash contribution merger condition. As of March 31, 2021, the Company had
advanced pre-Merger MyMD Florida a total of $3,000,000 under the Bridge Loan Note.

Treatment of Stock Options, Restricted Stock Units and Warrants in the Merger

All pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options granted under the pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock option plan that are outstanding prior to the effective date of the Merger were
cancelled and re-issued under the Company’s stock option plan based upon the original terms, as adjusted for the share exchange ratio, vested immediately and will expire two
years from the effective date of the transaction. The fair market value of the options was calculated utilizing the Black-Scholes methodology using the Company’s closing share
price of $4.94 per share on April 16, 2020. The pro forma condensed combined balance sheet has been adjusted to reflect the compensation expense associated with the
modification of the outstanding options, net of the previously amortized costs.

The cash exercise price received by the combined company upon exercise of the pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options prior to expiration was accumulated and distributed to
pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders of record as of the effective date of the Merger. Due to the significant uncertainties related to the exercise of the pre-Merger MyMD
Florida stock options, the fair market value of such potential exercise is not measurable as of the pro forma date and is being treated as an undefined contingent liability.

Per the Merger Agreement, there is no requirement for pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options to be exercised as of the effective date of the Merger and are therefore being
treated as unissued shares for the pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

All of the Company’s restricted stock units granted under the Company’s incentive stock option plan that are outstanding prior to the effective date of the Merger vested upon
the completion of the transaction. The vested RSUs are to be settled in shares of common stock of the Company to be issued upon closing of the Merger and with giving effect
to any shares that would be withheld for tax liability. The pro forma condensed combined balance sheet has been adjusted for the effect of the unamortized compensation
expense (Adjustment 6).

The Company outstanding warrants are un-affected by the Merger and their pre-Merger terms and conditions will remain in effect until the expiration.

Treatment of the Excess Cash Contribution

Pursuant to Amendment No. 1 to the Merger Agreement, a contribution of Parent Net Cash in excess of the Minimum Parent Net Cash, as adjusted for the Bridge Loan and the
Starwood Line of Credit, reduced the number of available Merger Shares. The following table provides details of the adjustment:

Excess Parent Cash Calculation

Parent Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities as of December 31, 2020 $ 35,336,407
Less

Net change year-to-date (4,279,566)

Liabilities, less non-cash items (495,306)

Estimated operating and other expenses (1,000,000)

Available funds under the Bridge Loan -

Contribution and Assignment Agreement (1,500,000)

Starwood Line-of-Credit Retirement (3,192,119)
Parent Net Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities as of April 16, 2021 $ 24,869,416
Minimum Parent Net Cash, per Merger Agreement $ 25,000,000
Less

Bridge Loan, actual (3,000,000)

Available funds under the Bridge Loan -

Starwood Line-of-Credit Retirement (3,192,119)
Adjusted Minimum Parent Net Cash, per Merger Agreement $ 18,807,881
Excess Parent Net Cash Contribution $ 6,061,535
Excess Cash Factor Calculation

Excess Parent Net Cash $ 6,061,535
Divided by Valuation Peg 206,000,000

Excess Cash Factor 2.95%

Merger Share Calculation, per Merger Agreement
Adjusted outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as of April 16, 2021 9,752,195
Divided by 20% plus the Excess Cash Factor 22.95%




Merger Shares of common stock of the combined company 42,493,817
Multiplied by 80% less the Excess Cash Factor 77.05%
Estimated shares of the Company’s common stock issued to MyMD upon closing of the Merger 32,741,622

Treatment of the Market Capitalization Milestones

The ability of the combined company to meet the market capitalization milestones is subject to the combined company’s future performance and other market conditions that are
out of the company’s control. As such, the fair market value of the Milestone Shares is not measurable as of the pro forma date and is being treated as an undefined contingent
liability.

Treatment of the Transaction Costs

Transaction costs primarily consist of printing, stock exchange, accounting and legal fees which are estimated to range from $750,000 to $1,500,000. There can be no assurance
that these estimates will not change. Due to the expected volatility of the anticipated transaction costs, they are being treated as a contingent liability and have been excluded
from the pro forma condensed combined financial statements. These transactions and related costs are one-time events and are not expected to have a continuing impact on the
combined entity and as such would not impact the pro forma earnings per share.

2. Preliminary Purchase Price

The Company issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders and their designees a number of shares of its common stock (including in respect of outstanding pre-Merger
MyMD Florida options), which represented approximately 80% of the combined company. The estimated preliminary purchase price, which represented the consideration
transferred to the pre-Merger MyMD Florida stockholders in the reverse merger, was calculated based on the number of shares of the combined company that the Company’s
shareholders owned as of the closing of the Merger. The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements reflect an estimated purchase price of
approximately $48.18 million, which consists of the following:

Estimated number of shares of the combined company owned by the Company’s shareholders(?) 9,752,195
Multiplied by the price per share of the Company’s common stock® $ 4.94
Estimated purchase price $ 48,175,844
@) Represents the number of shares of the combined company that the Company’s shareholders owned as of the closing of the Merger pursuant to the Merger Agreement,

which, for purposes of these pro forma financial statements, is calculated as the sum of a) 8,326,730 the Company’s shares outstanding as of March 3, 2021, b) 36,496
shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, c¢) 402,483 shares of the Company’s
common stock issued upon settlement of the Company’s restricted stock units that vested upon the completion of the Merger, and d) 986,486 shares of the Company’s
common stock underlying outstanding the Company’s pre-funded warrants.

?2) $4.94 was the closing trading price of the Company’s common stock on April 16, 2021.

The number of shares of common stock the Company issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida shareholders (including in respect of outstanding pre-Merger MyMD
Florida options), for purposes of these pro forma financial statements, is calculated pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement as follows:

Shares of Company common stock outstanding as of April 16, 2021 8,326,730
Shares of Company common stock subject to Series D Convertible Preferred stock 36,496
Shares of Company common stock subject to outstanding restricted stock units 402,483
Shares of Company common stock subject to outstanding pre-funded warrants(? 986,486
Adjusted outstanding shares of Company common stock 9,752,195
Divided by the assumed percentage of Company ownership of the combined company 22.95%
Estimated adjusted total shares of common stock of the combined company 42,493,817
Multiplied by the assumed percentage of pre-Merger MyMD Florida ownership of the combined company 77.05%
Estimated shares of Company common stock issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida upon closing of the Merger(z) 32,741,622
€)) 986,486 shares of Company common stock underlying outstanding the Company’s pre-funded warrants are included in the calculation of the estimated total number of

shares to be issued upon the completion of the Merger. An additional 5,463,032 shares issuable upon exercise of the outstanding the Company’s warrants with a strike
price in excess of $3.44 were excluded per the Merger Agreement.

2 The common stock issued to pre-Merger MyMD Florida upon closing includes 4,188,315 shares allocated to fully vested stock options of pre-Merger MyMD Florida
assumed by the Company upon closing, which will expire two years from the effective date of the Merger. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, shares have
been allocated to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s outstanding stock options, however, there is no requirement for these options to be exercised as of the effective date of the
Merger.

The allocation of the preliminary purchase price to the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of March 31, 2021, (Adjustment 8) is as follows:

Based on Historical Balance

Sheet of the Company as of Pro Forma Purchase Price Allocation
March 31, 2021 Adjustments(l)(z) — Pro Forma

Total Consideration $ 48,175,844 $ - $ 48,175,844
Cash and Cash Equivalents 569,366 - 569,366
Marketable Securities 30,480,537 (1,500,000) 28,980,537
Other Receivables 3,026,137 (3,026,137) -
Prepaid Expenses 221,811 - 221,811
Investment in Oravax 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
Trade and Other Payables (2,374,059) 811,087 (1,562,972)
Net Tangible Assets Acquired 33,423,792 (3,715,050) 29,708,742

Excess of Purchase Price Over Net Assets Acquired to be Allocated to
Goodwill $ 14,752,052 $ (3,715,050)  $ 18,467,102




€)) Transaction costs primarily consist of printing, stock exchange, accounting and legal fees which are estimated to range from $750,000 to $1,500,000. There can be no
assurance that these estimates will not change. Due to the expected volatility of the anticipated transaction costs, they are being treated as a contingent liability and have
been excluded from the pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

2) The adjustments reflect the effect of the Contribution and Assignment Agreement, the elimination of the MyMD Bridge Loan and an adjustment for withholding taxes on
the issuance of shares to settle the RSUs.

The purchase price allocation will remain preliminary until the Company completes a final valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date that the Merger
was consummated. The excess of consideration transferred over the estimated fair value of the net identifiable assets will be allocated to goodwill. The final determination of the
allocation consideration transferred is expected to be completed as soon as practicable after the consummation of the Merger but will in no event exceed one year from the
acquisition date. The final amounts allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed could differ significantly from the amounts presented in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements. For acquired working capital accounts such as prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and certain accrued
expenses, the Company determined that no preliminary fair value adjustments were required due to the short timeframe until settlement for these assets and liabilities.

3. Accounting Policies and Merger Pro Forma Adjustments

Based on the Company’s review of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s financial statements, the
nature and amount of any adjustments to the historical financial statements of pre-Merger MyMD Florida to conform its accounting policies to those of the Company are not
expected to be significant. Upon consummation of the Merger, further review of pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s accounting policies and financial statements may result in
required revisions to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s policies and classifications to conform to the Company’s accounting policies.

The adjustments included in the pro forma condensed combined balance sheet are as follows:

(a) To record the disbursement of the $1,500,000 investment in Oravax under the Contribution and Assignment Agreement to be paid by the Company.

Description Debit Credit
Trade and Other Payables $ 1,500,000
Marketable Securities $ 1,500,000

(b) To record the effect on the Consolidated Balance Sheets from the reduction of research and development expense incurred during the three months ended March 31,
2021 that are non-recurring as the result of the Contribution Transaction.

Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 10,290
Common Stock $ 10,290

(1) To record the payoff of the Starwood Line of Credit plus accumulated interest upon close of the Merger.

Description Debit Credit
Starwood Line of Credit $ 2,936,626

Due to Related Party 185,577

Starwood Line of Credit — Accrued Interest 257,411

Marketable Securities $ 3,379,614

(2) To record interest expense on the Company/pre-Merger MyMD Florida Bridge Loan.

Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 26,137
Other Receivables $ 26,137

(3) To reclassify the pre-Merger MyMD Florida Common Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital

Description Debit Credit
Pre-Merger MyMD Florida Common Stock $ 4,004

Pre-Merger MyMD Florida Additional Paid-In Capital 43,411,488

Common Stock $ 43,415,492

(4) To eliminate the Company/pre-Merger MyMD Florida Bridge Loan.

Description Debit Credit
Bridge Loan — Related Party $ 3,026,137
Other Receivables $ 3,026,137

(5) To record the expenses related to the modification of the outstanding pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options’ expiration dates to comply with the Merger

Agreement.
Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 37,373,172
Common Stock $ 37,373,172

(6) To record the expenses related to the accelerated vesting of the outstanding unvested Restricted Stock Units pursuant to the terms of the restricted stock unit
agreements and record the federal and state withholding liability.

Description Debit Credit
Accumulated Deficit $ 979,757

Trade and Other Payables $ 688,913
290,844

Common Stock

(7) To reclassify the Company’s deficit account.



Description Debit Credit

Common Stock $ 139,662,586
Accumulated Deficit $ 139,662,449

(8) To record the acquisition value of the Merger in excess of tangible assets acquired.

Description Debit Credit
Goodwill $ 18,467,102
Common Stock $ 18,467,102

The adjustment included in the pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive loss is as follows:
(aa) To record the interest on the Company/pre-Merger MyMD Florida Bridge Loan for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Description Debit Credit
Interest and Dividend Expense $ 26,137

(bb) To record the elimination of a credit balance in research and development expense incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2021 that are non-recurring as
the result of the Contribution Transaction. (Note 3)

Description Debit Credit
Research and Development Expense $ 10,290

The pro forma condensed combined basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations have been adjusted to reflect the pro forma condensed combined net loss
for the three months ended March 31, 2021. In addition, the numbers of shares used in calculating the pro forma condensed combined basic and diluted net loss per share have
been adjusted to reflect the estimated total number of shares of common stock of the combined company outstanding as of the closing of the Merger. The estimated total
numbers of shares of common stock of the combined company outstanding as of the closing of the Merger was calculated as the estimated adjusted total shares of common
stock issued and outstanding of the combined company of 37,282,520, plus 4,188,315 shares reserved for pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options assumed by the Company at
closing, 986,486 shares reserved for pre-funded warrants of the Company, and 36,496 shares reserved for the Series D Convertible Preferred stock as described in Note 2,
“Preliminary Purchase Price.” The following table sets forth the calculation of the pro forma weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic and diluted:

Pro Forma
Weighted Average Shares
Pro Forma Weighted

All Shares Average Shares for the
Issued/Issuable Year Ended
upon Merger March 31, 20213
Pre-Merger MyMD Florida:
Common shares issued and outstanding 73,991,413 -
Stock options outstanding 10,853,360 -
Total pre-Merger MyMD Florida share basis 84,844,773 -
Post conversion basis at the Exchange Ratio of 0.7718 65,479,931
Effect of 1-for-2 reverse stock split (32,738,309)
Post reverse split basis at the Exchange Ratio of 0.7718 32,741,622 -
Recapitalization/Conversion of pre-Merger MyMD Florida common shares into Company common
shares based on the Exchange Ratio: 28,553,307 28,553,307
Recapitalization/Conversion of pre-Merger MyMD Florida stock options into Company common shares
based on the Exchange Ratio(!) 4,188,315 -
32,741,622 28,553,307
The Company pre-Merger:
Common shares: issued and outstanding(z) 8,326,730 8,544,298
Post-Merger:
Series D Convertible Preferred stock converted to common stock 36,496 -
Restricted Stock Units converted to common stock; vesting accelerated to the effective date 402,483 402,483
Pre-funded warrants convertible to common stock 986,486 -
9,752,195 8,946,781
Estimated adjusted total shares of common stock for the combined entity 42,493,817 37,500,088
€)) Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, shares have been allocated to pre-Merger MyMD Florida’s outstanding stock options, however, there is no requirement

for these options to be exercised as of the effective date of the Merger and are therefore being treated as unissued shares for the purposes of calculating the weighted-
shares outstanding.
2 The Company’s pre-Merger common shares issued and outstanding of 8,326,730 was the actual number of common shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021.
3) All outstanding stock options, Series D convertible preferred stock and pre-funded warrants exercisable for the combined company’s common stock are anti-dilutive and
therefore excluded from the weighted-average shares calculation for the three months ended March 31, 2021 as referenced in the pro forma condensed combined
Statement of Comprehensive Loss.




